The Leafcutter Ant, next to humans, forms the largest and most
complex animal societies on earth. Their bodies are amazingly
powerful and are able to carry pieces of leaf that weigh at least
10 times their own body weight. Just like the Leafcutter Ants,
the Human Services Portfolio is strong, organised and unified,
working together to achieve a common goal.
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About this report
This Medicare Australia annual report was
prepared according to the Requirements for
Annual Reports, issued by the Department
of the Prime Minister and Cabinet on
8 July 2011. The report focuses on Medicare
Australia’s performance and accountability
during 2010–11.
Chapter 1: Overview—contains a review by
the Secretary of the Department of Human
Services, which summarises the significant
issues and performance in 2010–11 and
describes the outlook for 2011–12. This
chapter also includes overviews of the Human
Services Portfolio and Medicare Australia.
It also explains the structure of Medicare
Australia, its reporting framework and
governance arrangements.
Chapter 2: Service Delivery Reform—sets
out how the portfolio agencies have worked
together on delivering the Government’s
Service Delivery Reform agenda.
Chapter 3: Delivery of Medical Benefits
and Services—Program 1.1—sets out how
Medicare Australia delivered its services,
including on behalf of the Department of
Veterans’ Affairs, and the results it achieved.
Some of these services included the Australian
Childhood Immunisation Register, the
Australian Organ Donor Register, programs
for GPs in rural areas and medical indemnity.
It also highlights the four major ways in which
Medicare Australia encouraged customers to
go online using Medicare Online, Medicare
Easyclaim, the ECLIPSE program and claiming
Medicare benefits online.
Chapter 4: Delivery of Pharmaceutical
Benefits and Services—Program 1.2—
covers how the scheme worked, including
eligibility and the safety net, and how many
benefits were paid and services processed.
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Chapter 5: Delivery of Other Benefits
and Services—Program 1.3—highlights
the other services that Medicare Australia
delivered—such as aged care initiatives, the
Healthcare Identifiers Service, environmental
programs and the Small Business
Superannuation Clearing House.
Chapter 6: Customer service and
partnerships—sets out Medicare Australia’s
relationships across government, and with
other stakeholders, including its customer
service charter and how it reported against
it. It also explains the steps it took to make its
services accessible and equitable.
Chapter 7: Management and
accountability—explains Medicare
Australia’s measures to remain transparent
and accountable in its expenditure and
operating results. It also covers its compliance
and communication activities, its ICT
performance and how it managed employees.
Chapter 8: Financial overview—provides
a summary of financial performance and
contains Medicare Australia’s financial
statements audited by the Australian National
Audit Office.
Chapter 9: Appendices—responds to a
number of mandatory reporting requirements
including the compliance index, and expands
on other areas of interest.
Chapter 10: References—contains a
glossary, shortened forms list and an
alphabetical index.
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Chapter 1:
Overview

1

2

Secretary’s review

On 1 July 2011 the Human Services Portfolio
became a single department of state. The
integration of the Department of Human
Services (DHS) is part of the Government’s
Service Delivery Reform (SDR) agenda to
make it easier for Australians to get the
services they need in a way that suits their
circumstances. The names that Australians
know—Centrelink, Medicare, the Child
Support Agency and CRS Australia—will
continue under DHS.
Working closely with, and providing services
to, healthcare professionals is also a core part
of our business. Medicare Australia had a
strong track record in building relationships
with healthcare professionals and in
continuously improving these services over
many years. The integration of Medicare
Australia with DHS does not change our
strong commitment to providing high quality
services to healthcare professionals and
continuing to work with them to facilitate
further improvements to our services.
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What has changed is our potential for doing
so much more for customers and making
it easier to get the services and support
they need. Programs like Local Connections
to Work (LCTW) are connecting the longterm unemployed with local services in
nine locations around Australia. LCTW
helps highly disadvantaged job seekers by
bringing together Australian Government,
state government and non-government
service providers under one roof. The results
are promising, with 592 job placements for
program participants in 2010–11.
Customers are also benefiting from
convenient, easy-to-access, coordinated
services delivered from an additional
47 one-stop shops this financial year.
Customers who visit a one-stop shop can
choose from a broad range of services—from
applying for Medicare benefits and claims to
accessing specialised Centrelink services. DHS
is committed to the goal that all shopfronts
will offer co-located services by 2014.
The results of the Place Based Services
Program trial showed how we can work
effectively with local providers to better
assist disadvantaged and marginalised
customers with complex needs. The trial
concept of local responses to local problems
laid the groundwork for a new SDR case
coordination initiative with funding of more
than $70 million over the next four years for
44 new sites.

Always focusing on
customers
As part of a long-term strategy to improve
access to services for customers, a single
website and phone number were launched
in December 2010. The website is making
it quicker, easier and more convenient for
customers to find out what help is available
to them. Information is presented in line
with customer circumstances rather than
by program.
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The single phone number means customers
can make general enquires about the services
we offer via a single contact point. Customers
who want to discuss their own circumstances
can still call existing call centres for more
personalised advice.
Over time, separate websites and phone
numbers linking customers to the range of
services we provide will be integrated into
this single website and phone number.
Another way we are focusing on customer
service is through the Connected
Authentication project. This initiative enables
customers to use one user ID and password
through australia.gov.au to access online
services across Centrelink, Medicare and the
Child Support programs. Since this service
started, more than 42 000 online customers
have transitioned from using separate logon
credentials for each organisation to this single
user ID and password.
Making customers our focus is part of
the Government’s broad agenda to give
Australians a greater say in shaping the
services they access. We are strengthening
our capacity to work with customers and
the community to co-design and deliver
better services. This work will assist us to
better understand the needs of customers,
employees and stakeholders, and to design
improved services as part of SDR. A single codesign methodology was also developed to
build employee capability around co-design.
Co-design activity during 2010–11 included
customer and employee forums to explore
views and gather ideas on improving service
delivery experiences. Research was also used
to generate ‘customer journeys’ that give a
sense of a customer’s experience to help map
their pathways.

Preparing for change
Over the past 12 months many areas in DHS,
Centrelink and Medicare Australia worked
together to achieve a smooth transition to the
new department. To reflect this close working
relationship the 2010–11 annual reports for
these organisations include common content
and design.
Given the implementation of SDR across the
portfolio, this last and separate Medicare
Australia annual report can be read as a
companion to the DHS and Centrelink annual
reports. As a result of the legislative changes
which integrated Centrelink, Medicare
Australia and DHS, in 2011–12 one annual
report will incorporate the entire performance
reporting of DHS.
We brought together employees from across
the three organisations to strengthen and
build on our knowledge and expertise to
amalgamate human resources management,
communication, finance, procurement and
contract management, corporate records
management, property, risk management,
business continuity and planning, legal
services, and audit and assurance functions.
Since this integration we have looked at ways
to improve how we operate. These include
a single business planning framework, new
financial delegations and financial rules,
one Portfolio People Strategy supported by
a nationally consistent leadership strategy
and workforce planning framework, and
a DHS ICT Strategic Plan.
DHS, Centrelink and Medicare Australia
focused on substantial changes to information
and communications technology (ICT). These
changes will provide the foundation for
improving access and services to customers.
Integration has given us the opportunity to
maximise the strengths and capacity of our
joined-up ICT systems.
Significant improvements were made to our
human resources function over the last year.
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In addition to the implementation of the single
Portfolio People Strategy, the People Change
Centre was established to provide guidance
and assistance to business areas undergoing
structural integration while implementing SDR.
We also conducted the first single Portfolio
People Survey and agreed on a national
people services delivery model for DHS.
A new organisational structure was
introduced on 1 July 2011. The structure is
based on four broad categories of work—
strategy, service design, service delivery and
enabling. These categories reflect the changes
needed to implement SDR.
With around 37 500 employees preparing
to work in one department under a new
structure, the Portfolio People Survey had
a 72 per cent response rate. The survey
measured employee engagement—
motivation and willingness to expend
discretionary effort for the agency. Results
were positive about most workplace aspects
that align with engagement. Employees are
highly motivated to go the extra mile and do
their best work.
Employee satisfaction was high, with
70 per cent of employees satisfied with the
portfolio as an employer. This compares
favourably with the Australian Public Service
Commission’s State of the Service survey
report in 2010 which found that 66 per cent
of all Australian public servants would
recommend their agency as a good place
to work.

Measuring customer
and healthcare provider
satisfaction
Over the past couple of years, Medicare’s
customer satisfaction levels have been at
record heights—98 per cent with the general
public in 2009 and 97 per cent last year.
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Customers, practitioners, practice managers,
pharmacists and aged care providers rated
Medicare Australia’s services highly, ranging
from 91–97 per cent. It is a great result
and reflects the hard work and committed
attitude Medicare employees take in
providing efficient services and payments
to customers.

Building relationships
Relationship building continued to be an
important tool in achieving impressive results.
It was only through effective collaboration
with key players such as health practitioners,
medical practice managers, aged care
providers, pharmacists and the public that
Medicare Australia could provide efficient
service delivery.
Some relationships were international ones,
particularly with Pacific and Asian neighbours
who continued to show great interest in how
Medicare Australia did business.
An important relationship between the
Department of Health and Ageing and the
Pharmacy Guild of Australia is reflected in the
Fifth Community Pharmacy Agreement which
came into effect on 1 July 2010. It recognises
community pharmacy’s role in health care,
through the delivery of PBS medicines.
Medicare Australia supported some of the
outcomes of this agreement.
Close collaboration with government and
non-government stakeholders has resulted in
the successful delivery of the Small Business
Superannuation Clearing House. The Clearing
House simplifies the process of paying
superannuation into a single, electronic
payment for all employees, and sends the
nominated contributions to the correct
superannuation funds—avoiding the need for
small businesses to deal with multiple funds.

5

Engaging with
stakeholders
During 2010–11, to support SDR and the
move to an integrated department of state,
work began on developing a whole-ofdepartment engagement framework to build
new relationships and maintain existing ones
with key groups across all portfolio agencies.
Effective collaboration and consultation
with stakeholders was integral to ensuring
that Medicare Australia’s programs provided
efficient and convenient service delivery. Such
stakeholders included practitioners (general
practitioners, pathologists, imaging and other
specialists, optometrists, dental practitioners,
Aboriginal health service providers and other
allied health providers), practice managers,
aged care providers and pharmacists.
The Medicare Australia Stakeholder
Engagement Strategy ensured Medicare
Australia had a strategic and coordinated
approach to external stakeholder engagement.
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Financial management
Financial management was sound this
year—Medicare Australia incurred a modest
$0.9 million operating surplus.
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Human Services
Portfolio overview

•

Child Support (Assessment) Act 1989,
insofar as it relates to the exercise of the
powers and functions conferred on the
Registrar under the Act

•

Child Support Legislation Amendment
(Reform of the Child Support Scheme—
Initial Measures) Act 2006, insofar as
it relates to the exercise of the powers
and functions conferred on the Registrar
under the Act

•

Child Support Legislation Amendment
(Reform of the Child Support Scheme—
New Formula and Other Measures)
Act 2006, insofar as it relates to the
exercise of the powers and functions
conferred on the Registrar under the Act

•

Child Support (Registration and
Collection) Act 1988, insofar as it relates
to the appointment of the Registrar and
the exercise of the powers and functions
conferred on the Registrar under the Act

•

Commonwealth Services Delivery
Agency Act 1997 (changed to the
Human Services (Centrelink) Act 1997
on 1 July 2011)

•

Medicare Australia Act 1973 (changed
to the Human Services (Medicare) Act
1973 on 1 July 2011).

On 26 October 2004 DHS was created as
part of the Finance Portfolio to improve the
development and delivery of government
social and health-related services to the
Australian people.
As a result of the Administrative Arrangements
Orders issued on 30 January 2007, DHS and
the agencies were transferred to a newly
created portfolio.
DHS provides policy advice on service delivery
matters to government to ensure effective,
innovative and efficient implementation of
government service delivery. It also delivers
a range of government and other payments
and services.

New DHS governance
arrangements
The Human Services Legislation Amendment
Act 2011, which integrated Centrelink,
Medicare Australia and DHS, began on
1 July 2011. Under the governance changes
made by this legislation, from 1 July 2011 DHS
delivers all programs previously delivered by
Centrelink and Medicare Australia.

Minister
The Hon. Chris Bowen, MP, was the Minister
for Human Services from 9 June 2009 until
14 September 2010. The Hon. Tanya Plibersek,
MP, was appointed the Minister for Human
Services on 14 September 2010. The Minister
is responsible for administering the following
legislation:
•

Australian Hearing Services Act 1991,
except to the extent that it is
administered by the Minister
for Health and Ageing
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Portfolio structure
At 30 June 2011 the portfolio consisted
of DHS, Centrelink, Medicare Australia and
Australian Hearing.
DHS comprised the department, the Child
Support Program (CSP) and CRS Australia.
•

The department’s role was to direct,
coordinate and broker improvements to
service delivery, provide policy advice on
service delivery matters to government,
and ensure efficient implementation of
government service delivery.

•

The CSP provided support to separated
parents to provide the financial and
emotional support necessary for their
children’s wellbeing.
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•

CRS Australia delivered expert
assessment, injury management,
vocational rehabilitation and
employment services to assist people
with disability, injury or health conditions
to get and keep a job.

Centrelink delivered a range of government
payments and services for retirees, the
unemployed, families, carers, parents, people
with disability, Indigenous Australians and
people from diverse cultural and linguistic
backgrounds, and provided services in crises
and emergencies.

Medicare Australia looked after the
health of Australians through efficient
services and payments such as Medicare,
the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme, the
Australian Childhood Immunisation Register
and the Australian Organ Donor Register.
Australian Hearing is a statutory authority
that provides a full range of hearing services
for children and young people aged up to
21 years, eligible adults, age pensioners
and most war veterans. Australian Hearing
provides its own annual report as required by
the Australian Hearing Services Act 1991.
It also provides an annually revised, three-year
corporate plan in accordance with reporting
requirements under the Commonwealth
Authorities and Companies Act 1997.

Figure 1: Human Services Portfolio at 30 June 2011

Minister for Human Services
The Hon. Tanya Plibersek, MP
Department of Human Services
(including the Child Support Program and CRS Australia)
Secretary: Kathryn Campbell, CSC
Outcome 1
Informed government decisions on, and access to, social, health and child support services for
Australians through policy development and advice, and the coordination and delivery of services.

Centrelink

Medicare Australia

Chief Executive Officer
Carolyn Hogg, PSM

Chief Executive Officer
Lynelle Briggs

Outcome 1
Self sufficiency for individuals and families
through access to personalised assistance
and co-ordinated delivery of payments
and services on behalf of government.

Outcome 1
Access to Government health and other
payment and information services to the
Australian public and providers through
convenient and efficient service delivery.

Australian Hearing
Managing Director
Steven Grundy
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Organisational structure
From March to June 2011 the portfolio transitioned to a new organisational structure in
preparation for integration on 1 July 2011. Figure 2 shows this structure at 30 June 2011.

Figure 2: Human Services Portfolio organisational structure at 30 June 2011

Secretary
Kathryn Campbell, CSC

Deputy Secretary
Executive Support and Legal
Jeff Popple

Deputy Secretary
Child Support
Philippa Godwin

General Manager
Narina Dahms A/g
Whole of Government Coordination

General Manager
Operations

National Managers
Service Delivery Coordination
and Support
Planning and Governance
Social Inclusion
Ministerial Coordination and
Parliamentary

National Managers
Specialised Assessment
Operations Support
Customer Review and Quality
Improvement
New Customers and
Mainstream Services
Non-Compliance
International and Regional
Service Centres
Income Reconciliation
Program

Chief Counsel
Legal Services

Di White
Mary O’Hanlon
(Vacant)
Peter Thomson

Paul Menzies-McVey A/g

General Counsel
Strategic Legal
Corporate Law
Program Advice
Program Litigation and
Review
National Manager
Ombudsman, Privacy and FOI
General Manager
Legal Services Integration

Geoff Kimber A/g
Ken Pogson
Maris Stipnieks
Kathryn Johnson
Gabrielle Davidson
Robyn Bickett

General Manager
Business Strategy
National Managers
Customer Communication
Strategy and Improvement
Business Improvement
Business Systems Interface
General Manager
Child Support Programs

Geoff Mutton

Jim McMahon
Mark Garrity
Lorna Andrews
Bruce Young
Bill Volkers
Bill Lodge
Scott McNaughton
David Mole

Graeme Charlwood
Brad Nash
Simon Edwards
Jennifer Cooke

National Managers
Program Policy and Procedures Dennis Mahony
Service Delivery Reform
Coordination (Child Support
Program)
Katrina Stathis
Quality Analysis and
Stakeholder Engagement
Tricia Flanagan
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Deputy Secretary
Service Delivery Reform Implementation
Kerri Hartland

General Manager
Melissa McClusky
Service Delivery Reform Coordination
National Managers
Project Reporting
Financial Coordination
Service Delivery Reform
Transition Management

Michelle Crosby
Rohan Wong
Brian Olson

General Manager
David Trabinger
Service Delivery Reform Strategy and Planning
National Managers
Business Strategy
Business Planning
Performance Framework

John Kilner
Peter Soros
Soraya Weber
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Deputy Secretary
Taskforce on Strengthening Government Service
Delivery for Job Seekers
Graham Carters
General Manager
Job Seeker Taskforce 2

Joanne Caldwell

General Manager
Audit and Assurance

National Manager

Paul Balnaves

National Managers
Internal Audit
(Centrelink)
Internal Audit
(Medicare Australia)
Assurance

General Manager
Job Seeker Taskforce 1

Alex Dolan

Jonathan Hutson

Leanne
Yannopoulos
(Vacant)
Liane Hinds A/g
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Chief Executive Officer
Medicare Australia and Strategy and Design
Lynelle Briggs

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
ICT Infrastructure
John Wadeson

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Health and Older Australians
Malisa Golightly

General Manager
Yusuf Mansuri
ICT Corporate Support and Strategic Projects

General Manager
Business Services

National Managers
ICT External Business
Services
ICT Corporate Services
Telecommunications
Contracts
Telecommunications Business
Transition

National Managers
Government Business
Gateway and Business
Services Design
Renewable Energy
Early Release of
Superannuation
Medicare Information
Management

General Manager
ICT Core Infrastructure

Peter Cotterill
Jo-Anne Mason
Janette
McGlynn A/g
Trevor Jones

National Managers
Technical Architecture
Architecture Centre
of Excellence
HR and Finance Systems
Strategic Planning and
Risk Management
Strategy, Standards and
Architecture
National Manager
ICT Capability and Support
General Manager
Strategic Projects

Craig Boyd
Mark Richardson
Michelle Wilson

Luke Woolmer

Peter Gunning
Christine Pitt
Geoff Williams A/g
Elaine Ninham
Tony Brown A/g

Peter Cotterill
Patrick Hadley

General Manager 
Health Programs

Rory King A/g
Jenny Thomson A/g

National Managers
Medicare and Veterans’ Affairs
Processing Programs
Doug Fawns
Health Support Programs
Fiona Knight
Pharmaceutical Benefits
David Hall A/g
Health Programs Improvement
and Support
Ai Tran
Health Professionals
Jenny Benjamin
Chief Medical Adviser
Dr Jo-Anne Benson

General Manager
Health eBusiness
National Managers
Healthcare Identifiers
Online Development
Connected Authentication
eClaiming and eHealth

Sue Kruse

Matt Corkhill
Tony Piazza A/g
Deb Lutter
Sheldon White

General Manager
Vicki Beath
Disability, Carers and Older Australians
National Managers
Aged Care Program and
International
Mental Health, Disability
and Carers
Older Australians
Business Framework

General Manager
Service Strategy and Policy

Catherine Rule

National Managers
Government Partnerships,
Governance and New Work
Service Delivery Policy
Strategic Analysis and
Forecasting

Donna Griffin
Jo Gaha
Tony Gargan

Michael Sutton A/g

Graham Gathercole

National Managers
Infrastructure Services
(Vacant)
Applications Infrastructure Dianne Anderson A/g
Security
Dan Barron
Enterprise Service
Management
Janice Silby A/g
Integration
Steve McCauley A/g
Business As Usual Infrastructure
Integration
Sarbjit Sidhu
Desktop Roll-out
Mitch Levy

General Manager
ICT Strategy Division

Sheila Bird

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Customer Service Design
Barry Sandison

Stephen Kelly
Melissa Lond
Alice Jones
Karen Ballintyne A/g

General Manager
Eija Seittenranta
Health and Older Australians Systems
National Managers
PBS, Medicare and Aged Care
Payment and Government
to Business
Disability, Carers and Pensions
eHealth

Grazyna Zejdler
Edmund Tee
Graham Archer
Bruce Robertson A/g

General Manager
Future Services Design

Colin Bridge

National Managers
Community Engagement
Work Management Design
Channel Strategy
Strategic Compliance
and Integrity
Service Development
Simplify and Automate

Nicole Pietrucha
Jenni Waring A/g
Christine McPaul
Karl
Marjoribanks A/g
Peter Cornish
Sebastian Hood A/g

General Manager
Research
National Manager
Geospatial Information

Alex Dolan

Peter Robertson A/g

General Manager
Peter Qui A/g
Employment, Families and Child Support Systems
National Managers
Families
Child Support Delivery
Child Support IT Service
Business Integrity
Employment

Devika Weereratne
Anna Townsend
Gary Clarke A/g
Mike Brett
Nick Hicks A/g

General Manager
Alaine King
Business Solutions and Online
National Managers
Project Management Office
Customer and Provider Details
Enterprise Data Warehouse
Quality Assurance
Service Network Systems
Online Systems Support Service
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Ana Avila A/g
Bruce Robertson A/g
Julie Fursman
Desley Willson A/g
Rob Doughty
Steve Robson A/g
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Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Families, Employment and People
Gary Dunn

General Manager
Participation

Carolyn McNally

National Managers
Employment and Participation
Programs
Katharine Campbell
Participation Program
Coordination
Kate Hay
Place Based Services and
Education Programs
Pam Saunders
General Manager
Families
National Managers
Families and Working People
Service Offer
Families and Child
Care Programs
Customer Communication
and eReference
Performance and Information
Management
General Manager
People Capability
National Managers
Workforce Planning
and Research
Leadership and Change
People Development
Technical Skill Development
General Manager
People Services
National Managers
Pay and Advice
Portfolio Enterprise Agreement
Workplace Relations
People Support—Operations
People Support
Corporate Processes and
System Integration Project
(CPSIP)
Human Resources (CPSIP)

Paul Cowan

Patrick Cremen
Robin Salvage
Cathy Sear
Laura Gannon
Michelle Cornish

Jo Talbot
Jacqui Curtis
Lyn Sharpe
Andrea Paschalis
Sue Chapman

Angela Morella
Narelle Cameron
Kath Harris A/g
Mark le Dieu
Mary-Ellen
Sweeney A/g

Peter Richards
Jacqui Hughes
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Chief Executive Officer
Centrelink and Service Delivery
Carolyn Hogg, PSM

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Customer Service Delivery
Grant Tidswell
General Manager
Access Services

Graham Maloney

Service Leaders/Area Managers
Area South and West QLD
Paul McNae
Area South and East QLD
Marianne Evans A/g
Area Pacific Central
Brian Small
Area Hunter
Sharon Webb A/g
Area Sydney East
Steven Farrell A/g
Area Sydney West
Scott Chant
Area South West NSW
Tracey Sheather A/g
Area Tasmania and
International Operations
Peter Ball
Area South East Victoria
Brian Silkstone
Area North Central Victoria Colin Parker
Area West Victoria
Stan Neely
Area South Australia
Jody Bell A/g
Area West Australia
Michael Bennett A/g
National Managers
Co-location and Front of
House Operations
Deb Rollings
Queensland Premier’s
Disaster Relief Appeal
Margaret Weertman A/g
National Managers
Service Zones
Implementation Project
Service Zones
Implementation Project
General Manager
Network Capability
National Managers
Channel Integration and
Change Management
Smart Centres Performance
Process Improvement
Portfolio Emergency
Management
HUB Performance

Michelle Lees
William Garton

Service Leaders/Area Managers
Area North Australia
Greg Clatworthy A/g
Area Central and Northern
Queensland
Peter Searston
National Managers
Deduction and Confirmation
Services
Susan Cartwright
Indigenous Strategies
Shane Hoffman

National Managers
Education and Employment
Older Australians, Disability
and Carers
Families and Child Care
Call Operations
Smart Centres Planning

General Manager
Brenda Parkes
Medicare and Specialist Services

National Managers
Budget Strategy and
Framework
Financial Integration
Funding Model

National Managers/
Deputy General Managers
Multicultural
Karen Long A/g
Social Work
Desley Hargreaves
Medicare Providers
Sandy Mamo
Public Service
Ian McInnes
Operations Support
William Garton

Helen Peel
Drago Stanojcic
Emily Canning

Chief Financial Officer Allan Gaukroger
Financial Services
National Managers
Financial Systems / Treasury
Financial Reporting
Financial Governance
and Policy
SAP Integration Project

Lyn Valentine
Noel Dobbie
Noel Dobbie
Shareez Farouk

Mandy Ritchie

General Manager
Dianne Fletcher
Rehabilitation and Assessment Services
National Managers
Strategy and Coordination
Assessment Services
CRS Australia

Michael Robinson
Carl Princehorn
Alison McCann

Chief Financial Officer Karel Havlat A/g
Internal Budgets

General Manager
Rhonda Morris A/g
Recovery, Health and Business Compliance

National Managers
Operational Internal Budgets Enaesz
Sokolowski A/g
Strategic Internal Budgets
Jan Koehler A/g

National Managers
Health Provider Compliance
Business and Public
Compliance
Debt Management

General Manager
Jennifer Gale
Portfolio ICT Funding Review
General Manager
Communication

Jenny Teece
Annie Ferguson A/g
Steven Davison
Deborah
Harrison A/g
Malcolm Mill A/g

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Medicare, Rehabilitation and Compliance
Moya Drayton A/g

Chief Financial Officer Darren Box
Budgets and Financial Strategy

Sheryl Lewin

General Manager
Roxanne Ramsey
Indigenous, Regional and Remote Servicing

General Manager
Smart Centres

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Enabling Services
Barbara Bennett

National Managers
Online Communication
Media and Network
Communication
External Communication
Corporate Communication
General Manager
Corporate Operations
National Managers
Planning, Risk and
Continuity
Customer Service Property
Corporate Property and
Environment
Corporate Records
Management
Procurement and Contract
Management

Paul Goodwin
Cathie Butz A/g
Bridget Mather A/g
Leanne Smith
John Dorian

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

Hank Jongen

Pam Spurr
Scott Anderson A/g
Rick Moloney
Jackie Gleeson
Cindy Briscoe

Jason
Armstrong A/g
Mark Wellington
Neil Skill
Mark Young
Phil Lindenmayer

General Manager
Customer Compliance
National Managers
Payment Accuracy
Social Welfare and Compliance
Serious Non-compliance
Fraud Projects

David Hancock
Lenore Simpson
Debbie Weise A/g
Mark Withnell

Jan Bailey A/g
Scott Britton
Mark Brown
Angela Geerdink
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Executive
responsibilities at
30 June 2011
Secretary, Department of Human
Services—was responsible for providing
strategic oversight, leadership and
management of DHS. Through innovation
and high-level collaboration with policy
departments, the Secretary contributed to
a whole-of-government approach to service
delivery while supporting the Minister
for Human Services to deliver portfolio
responsibilities. As well as supporting
government to make informed decisions to
provide access to social, health and child
support for all Australians, the Secretary was
responsible for the CSP, CRS Australia and the
implementation of SDR across the portfolio.
CEO, Medicare Australia—was responsible
for strategy and service design functions in
the lead up to integration. The CEO was also
responsible for achieving Medicare Australia’s
purpose: ‘to provide access to government
health and other payment and information
services to the Australian public and providers
through convenient and efficient service
delivery’. The CEO of Medicare Australia
was accountable to the Minister for Human
Services and managed delegations under the
legislation that governed Medicare Australia,
day-to-day administration and control of
the organisation’s operations, and led the
management team to implement strategies
and priorities to deliver government policy
and program outcomes. Medicare Australia’s
employees supported the CEO to achieve
these objectives.
CEO, Centrelink—was responsible for service
delivery functions in the lead up to integration.
The CEO also led Centrelink in delivering on its
purpose: ‘serving Australia by assisting people
to become self-sufficient and supporting

those in need’. The CEO of Centrelink was
accountable to the Minister for Human
Services for setting Centrelink’s strategic
direction, for its day-to-day management, and
for ensuring that Centrelink delivered services
on behalf of its client departments in a proper,
efficient and effective manner. Centrelink’s
employees supported the CEO in achieving
these objectives.
Deputy CEO, ICT Infrastructure—
supported the Secretary and CEOs of
Centrelink and Medicare Australia through
the leadership of ICT strategy and systems
for meeting immediate and future needs.
Deputy CEO, Health and Older
Australians—was responsible for program
management and compliance activities for
large programs administered on behalf of the
Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA),
and program management of new business
activities administered by Medicare Australia.
Deputy CEO, Customer Service Design—
supported the Secretary and the CEO of
Medicare Australia through leading the
portfolio’s strategic directions. The Deputy
CEO was also accountable for implementing
a program to build future service delivery
capability, enhancing program delivery,
and leading ICT current and future
applications capability.
Deputy CEO, Families, Employment
and People—was responsible for strategic
leadership and management of families and
employment and education-related programs,
plus people services across the portfolio.
Deputy CEO, Customer Service
Delivery—supported the CEO of Centrelink
through leading delivery of customer services
on behalf of the Government, and supported
the Secretary and the CEOs by enabling the
continuity of services and responsiveness
to government expectations in times of
emergency or disaster, and through delivery
of Indigenous strategies.
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Deputy CEO, Enabling Services—supported
the Secretary and the CEOs through leading
the management of the portfolio’s financial
resources and the management of property
resources and corporate support functions, to
enable the portfolio to meet current challenges
and prepare for integration by 1 July 2011.
Deputy CEO, Medicare, Rehabilitation and
Compliance—was responsible for managing
Centrelink and Medicare Australia compliance
operations to ensure a strong focus on welfare
and health-related compliance. The Deputy
CEO was also responsible for CRS Australia
and multicultural and social work services.
Deputy Secretary, Executive Support
and Legal—was responsible for supporting
the Secretary on policy matters and acted
as a point of coordination for whole-ofgovernment policy advice, including any
legal considerations, across the portfolio.
The Deputy Secretary was also responsible
for managing the relationship with the
Minister’s office.
Deputy Secretary, Child Support—was
accountable for leadership and management
of the CSP and the delivery of the Child
Support Scheme.
Deputy Secretary, Service Delivery
Reform Implementation—provided strategic
direction, coordination and planning for the
phased rollout of SDR to achieve the Minister’s
priorities and overall policy objectives of the
Government, including the establishment
of a comprehensive program management
capability to support the implementation of
SDR drawing on international best practice.
Taskforce on Strengthening Government
Service Delivery for Job Seekers—reported
to the Secretaries of the Department of
Education, Employment and Workplace
Relations (DEEWR) and DHS. The taskforce
developed approaches which DEEWR, DHS
and Centrelink could use to strengthen
government service delivery for job seekers as
Australia emerged from the global recession.
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Portfolio governance
Governance is important to the way we
shape, enable, oversee and evaluate our
performance and our business. It is central
to the way we deliver our outcomes in a
controlled, transparent and accountable
manner. Portfolio governance arrangements
were revised to better reflect the portfolio’s
progress towards integration on 1 July 2011.
The move towards the new, integrated
department took further shape in 2010–11 as
a more integrated structure was put in place.
To support and align with the portfolio’s new
organisational structure, new Chief Executive
Instructions were updated during 2010–11.
At the same time significant progress was
made in 2010–11 to develop and communicate
integrated governance practices and processes.
For example, enabling services began
integration over a year ago. Employees across
the three agencies joined together from
procurement and contract management,
corporate records management, property, risk
management, business continuity and planning.

Human Services Portfolio
governance committees
In the lead up to an integrated department on
1 July 2011 portfolio governance committees
provided assurance to the Secretary and the
CEOs of Centrelink and Medicare Australia
on strategic issues, priorities and risks.
The portfolio governance committee
framework was updated in 2010–11 to
reflect progress towards integration.
Figure 3 shows the portfolio governance
committee structure at 30 June 2011.
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Figure 3: Human Services Portfolio governance committee structure at 30 June 2011

Secretary and Chief Executive Officers’ Committee

Portfolio
Customer
Committee

Portfolio
Risk, Business
Continuity
and Security
Committee1

Portfolio
Finance
Committee

Portfolio
Operating
Model Steering
Committee2

ICT Governance
Committee

Portfolio People
and Leadership
Committee

¹ Reported to the Secretary and CEOs’ Committee and to agency-specific management committees and audit
committees until 1 July 2011.
2

Met for final time on 7 June 2011.

Secretary and CEOs’ Committee—this
peak governance and advisory committee
provided corporate leadership and strategic
direction at the portfolio level. It was
chaired by the Secretary in 2010–11 and its
membership included the CEOs of Centrelink
and Medicare Australia.
Portfolio Customer Committee—provided
assurance that all aspects of customer service
in the portfolio supported the implementation
and progression of the portfolio’s strategic
directions. It was chaired by the CEO of
Centrelink in 2010–11.
Portfolio Risk, Business Continuity and
Security Committee—had oversight of
the integrated risk, business continuity and
security functions of the portfolio. It was
chaired by the General Manager, Corporate
Operations Centrelink in 2010–11.
Portfolio Finance Committee—provided
assurance that management of financial
resources was aligned with and supported
the portfolio’s strategic directions and
government priorities. It was chaired by the
CEO of Centrelink in 2010–11.

Portfolio Operating Model Steering
Committee—had oversight of the
development and implementation of the
operating model for the portfolio. It was
chaired by the CEO of Centrelink and ceased
operating at the end of June 2011.
ICT Governance Committee—was
responsible for ensuring that the portfolio
had a clear direction and strategy for its use
of ICT. It was responsible for the review and
assessment of ICT investment proposals.
The ICT Infrastructure Integration Program
Steering Committee ceased in March 2011
when its function—overseeing the progress
of the DHS ICT infrastructure integration—
was rolled into the ICT Governance
Committee. It was chaired by the CEO of
Medicare Australia in 2010–11.
Portfolio People and Leadership
Committee—provided assurance on all
cross-portfolio people matters including SDR,
integration within the portfolio and shared
services. It also provided advice to portfolio
agencies on agency-specific people matters.
It was chaired by the CEO of Medicare
Australia in 2010–11.
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External governance
Several external governance forums
created the opportunity to reinforce the
interdependence between policy formulation,
program design and implementation
and to more effectively deliver outcomes
for government.
Strategic Partnerships Interdepartmental
Committee (IDC)—provided strategic
oversight of the Centrelink service delivery
system. This included the strategic
management of system performance as well
as capability development in line with the
Government’s policy and reform agenda.
It also focused on facilitating successful
SDR and ensuring that SDR initiatives did
not compromise implementation of current
service delivery approaches.
In 2010–11 the IDC consisted of the
Secretaries of DHS (chair), DEEWR and the
Department of Families, Housing, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA),
and the CEO of Centrelink.
Health and Human Services Chief
Executive Officer Forum—facilitated
successful SDR and implementation of the
health reform agenda. In 2010–11 it consisted
of the Secretaries of DHS and DoHA, and the
CEO of Medicare Australia.
Service Delivery Reform
Interdepartmental Committee—ensured
alignment between SDR and the outcomes
of the Government’s broader reform agenda.
Chaired by DHS, membership was drawn
from central agencies, partner departments,
service delivery organisations and the Office
of the Australian Information Commissioner.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

Medicare Australia
overview
The organisation
Medicare Australia served the Australian
community by providing a range of payments,
services and advice for health-related and
other programs, on behalf of the Australian
Government. It played a vital role in the
Australian health sector, including in the
development of eHealth initiatives.
See Appendix A on page 222.
Medicare Australia’s objective was to provide
access to government health and other
payment and information services to the
Australian public and providers through
convenient and efficient service delivery.
Medicare Australia provided the best possible
service delivery to increase access and
convenience for the public and providers.
It did this mainly through electronic channels
but also through its extensive network of
offices many of which offered co-located
services with Centrelink.
Medicare Australia had a connection
with almost all Australian residents, as
well as practitioners, pharmacists, aged
care providers and other members of the
health sector.
The key health programs that Medicare
Australia delivered included:
•

the Medicare Benefits Schedule

•

veterans’ treatment accounts processing

•

the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
(PBS) and Repatriation Pharmaceutical
Benefits Scheme (RPBS), including
payments under the Community
Pharmacy Agreement

•

residential aged care subsidies
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•

the Australian Childhood Immunisation
Register

•

the Australian Organ Donor Register.

Table 1: Medicare Australia at a glance

2010–11

Medicare Australia also administered several
programs for general practitioners including
the General Practice Immunisation Incentive
Scheme, the Practice Incentives Program,
the Rural Retention Program, the General
Practice Registrars’ Rural Incentive Payments
Scheme and the Mental Health Nurse
Incentive Program.
Medicare Australia worked to protect the
integrity of the programs it administered.
This included providing information,
counselling and education on the correct
use of the Medicare Benefits Schedule, the
Schedule of Pharmaceutical Benefits and
other programs.
Medicare Australia’s capability to provide
payment and information services was
leveraged to deliver a number of programs in
areas outside health services. These included:
•

a range of climate change and
environmental programs, including
Green Rewards, Financial Assistance
Scheme, Training Assistance Scheme and
the Home Insulation Program

•

the Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House

•

Early Release of Superannuation Benefits
on Specified Compassionate Grounds

•

a number of government services
delivered through Medicare offices,
including Family Assistance and Paid
Parental Leave, citizenship testing, the
LPG (liquefied petroleum gas) Vehicle
Scheme and the Australian Health Survey.

Medicare Australia
public satisfaction

97%

Medicare Australia
provider satisfaction

91%

Total benefits paid

in excess of
$43.0 billion

Medicare services
claimed electronically

248.3 million

Website visits

9.3 million

Calls received

15.2 million

Employees
Employee
engagement1

5 834
69 index points

1

Refers to the level of employee engagement across
the portfolio, including DHS, Medicare Australia and
Centrelink. (See also Portfolio People Survey on
page 138.)

Legislation
Medicare Australia was established under
the Medicare Australia Act 1973 and was an
Australian Government agency, delivering
a range of payments and services to the
Australian community. It was a prescribed
agency under the Financial Management
and Accountability Act 1997 (FMA Act) and
a statutory agency under the Public Service
Act 1999. See Appendix B on page 227
for Commonwealth legislation relevant to
Medicare Australia.
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Executive authority

Authorisations

The CEO of Medicare Australia reported to
the Minister for Human Services. Section 8AB
of the Medicare Australia Act set out the
responsibilities of the CEO under the direction
of the Minister, for:

Authorisations were made under the:

•

deciding the objectives, strategies,
policies and priorities of Medicare
Australia

•

managing Medicare Australia

•

ensuring that Medicare Australia
performed its functions in a proper,
efficient and effective manner.

Financial management
and accountability
The FMA Act set out the CEO’s functions and
responsibilities relating to Medicare Australia’s
financial management.
Medicare Australia issued Chief Executive
Instructions supported by detailed practice
statements, procedures and delegations
to help employees comply with legislative
obligations.

•

Freedom of Information Act 1982

•

Judiciary Act 1903

•

Public Order (Protection of Persons and
Property) Act 1971.

Planning and
reporting
Outcome and programs
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia had one
outcome and four programs—see Figure 4
on page 19. This was based on the outcome
and program structure set out in the 2010–11
Portfolio Budget Statements.

Strategic directions

Delegations
Delegations were also made under the
Medicare Australia Act and other relevant
legislation, including the:
•

Health Insurance Act 1973

•

National Health Act 1953

•

Health and Other Services
(Compensation) Act 1995

•

Private Health Insurance Act 2007

•

Medical Indemnity Act 2002

•

Aged Care Act 1997

•

Dental Benefits Act 2008

•

Midwife Professional Indemnity
(Commonwealth Contribution) Scheme
Act 2010

•

Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.
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DHS is integrating many of its processes and
systems to be more flexible and effective
in delivering high quality services for all
Australians. DHS works collaboratively to
ensure the best outcomes for government
and the Australian community. DHS,
Centrelink and Medicare Australia each
developed Strategic Directions 2010–11 to
reflect the beginning of portfolio alignment,
SDR and integration.

Our strategic intent
DHS is committed to working collaboratively
to achieve world’s best practice in the design
and delivery of health, welfare and other
services and payments to the Australian
community.
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For the reporting year, Medicare Australia’s
strategic directions are set out below.

Figure 4: Medicare Australia outcome and
program structure 2010–11

OUTCOME 1

Strategic priorities

Access to government health and other
payment and information services to the
Australian public and providers through
convenient and efficient service delivery

Medicare Australia’s strategic priorities
provided direction to expand capabilities
ensuring it delivered on the Government’s
current and future expectations.

Program 1.1

Medicare Australia’s priorities were to:
•

•

continue to progress and implement the
SDR agenda

•

continue to provide high quality services
to the Australian community

•

optimise the use of eBusiness for the
delivery of services

•

continue to improve the administration
and integrity of the programs it delivered

•

Delivery of Medical Benefits and Services

support the Minister to deliver portfolio
responsibilities and contribute to broader
government priorities

improve the administration of
Medicare Australia.

Program 1.2
Delivery of Pharmaceutical Benefits and
Services
Program 1.3
Delivery of Other Benefits and Services
Program 1.4
Medicare Rebates—Electronic Claiming1
1

The program, to provide incentives to software
vendors for sites they assisted in transitioning
to Medicare electronic claiming, ceased in
December 2009. Some small outstanding payments
were still to be made in 2010–11.

Measuring
performance against
key performance
indicators
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia measured
its performance using the performance report.
Key performance indicators in the report
measured a range of financial and non-financial
functions against targets and benchmarks
and were refined to improve alignment with
corporate and management reporting.
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Table 2: Key performance indicator results 2009–10 and 2010–11

Key performance indicator

Actual
2009–10

Target
2010–11

Actual
2010–11

100%

95%

95%

Ministerial replies to correspondence are submitted within
agreed timeframes

96%

95%

99%

The proportion of Medicare Bulk Bill claims processed
electronically1

91%

≥95%

92.9%

The proportion of Medicare Patient Claims processed
electronically2

25%

≥30%

30.8%

Average appropriated expense per billable service3

$1.26

$1.20

$1.22

Community satisfaction

98%

≥90%

97%

Practice manager satisfaction

94%

≥85%

93%

Practitioner satisfaction

90%

≥70%

91%

The portfolio will work together to deliver a Bill for
introduction to Parliament (in the Autumn sitting 2011) for
the portfolio to be established as one Department of State4

–

100%

100%

By the end of 2010 the portfolio will have another
20 co‑located offices around Australia4

–

100%

100%

By the end of 2010 the portfolio will have a single phone
number and a single website4

–

100%

100%

96%

≥98%

99.09%

$0.73

$0.70

$0.70

93%

≥90%

95%

Program 1.1: Delivery of Medical Benefits and Services
Minister is satisfied with the timeliness and relevance of advice

Program 1.2: Delivery of Pharmaceutical Benefits and Services
% online prescription processing
3

Average appropriated expense per billable service
Pharmacist satisfaction
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Key performance indicator

Actual
2009–10

Target
2010–11

Actual
2010–11

Residential Entry Record (RER) Admissions Form

44%

≥63%

75.7%

Residential Classification (Aged Care Funding Instrument)

81%

≥82%

90.5%

Residential Care Claim

31%

≥63%

64.0%

Community Care Claim

7%

≥15%

25.4%

38%

≥78%

70.2%

Program 1.3: Delivery of Other Benefits and Services
Aged Care:

Aged Care Client Record (ACCR) Aged Care Assessment
Teams online5
1

The 2010–11 KPI should have been ≥95%, not ≥90% as reported in the 2010–11 Portfolio Budget Statements.

2

The 2010–11 KPI should have been ≥30%, not ≥25% as reported in the 2010–11 Portfolio Budget Statements.

3
The ‘Average appropriated expense per billable service’ reflects the average cost to government of providing
each billable service.
4
Responsibility for achieving these KPIs is shared jointly across portfolio agencies. The capability to transition to one
phone number and website was established by the end of 2010, although the process is still under way.
5
The take up of electronic lodgment of the Aged Care Client Record (eACCR) is dependant on third party software
vendors deploying integrated solutions to the Aged Care Assessment Teams (ACATs).

Program 1.4: Medicare Rebates—Electronic Claiming ceased on 31 December 2009.
Source: Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements (PAES) 2010–11. Some key performance indicator targets contain
more detail than in the PAES.
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Medicare Australia
governance

Figure 5: Strategic committee framework at
30 June 2011
CEO
Medicare Australia

Medicare Australia’s governance structure
in 2010–11 supported the achievement of its
outcome of access to government health and
other payment and information services to
the Australian public and providers through
convenient and efficient service delivery.
Section 8AB of the Medicare Australia Act
set out the responsibilities of the CEO under
the direction of the Minister. The FMA Act
set out the CEO’s responsibilities in relation
to Medicare Australia financial management.
Throughout 2010–11 Medicare Australia
worked with DHS and other portfolio
agencies to facilitate integration into a single
department, while continuing to efficiently
deliver services and payments to the
Australian people.

Medicare Australia
strategic committee
framework
The integration of enabling services
provided the opportunity to review the
Medicare Australia strategic committee
framework in the broader context of
portfolio responsibilities.
As a result, while the Medicare Australia
governance structure in 2010–11 supported
the achievement of its outcome of improving
Australia’s health through payments and
information, some committees were changed
to reflect portfolio governance, rather than
for Medicare Australia alone. Figure 5
shows the Medicare Australia strategic
committee framework.
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Strategy and Design Committee

Business
Management
Committee
1

Health
Servicing
Group

Medicare
Australia Audit
Committee1

Main reporting line to the CEO.

Medicare Australia Audit Committee
Established in line with the FMA Act, the
Audit Committee provided assurance to the
CEO on the appropriateness of the agency’s
accountability and control framework,
especially the proper use of Australian
Government resources and the management
of risks. It was chaired by an external member,
and was directly accountable to the CEO.

Strategy and Design Committee
The Strategy and Design Committee
replaced the former Corporate Management
Committee in April 2011. It was responsible
for providing advice to the CEO on the
strategy and design functions to ensure the
portfolio met the Government’s objectives
and was positioned to improve service
delivery to Australians. The former Corporate
Management Committee was responsible
for working with the CEO to ensure that
Medicare Australia achieved the outcomes
set by government and those contained in
its strategic directions and plans.
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Business Management Committee
The Business Management Committee
provided governance and appropriate
decision making for issues that affected
business and operational performance in
Medicare Australia.

Health Servicing Group
The Health Servicing Group replaced the
former Compliance Committee in May 2011.
It provided a forum for discussion between
Medicare Australia (and the wider Human
Services Portfolio following integration) and
DoHA on program integrity, compliance
issues, and governance and direction on
those issues within the portfolio.
Medicare Australia also had a National
Health and Safety Committee (see
Occupational health and safety—promoting
a safe and supportive workplace on page
145) and a Staff Consultative Committee
(see Medicare Australia people on page
143) that assisted the Executive to ensure
occupational health and safety and
employee matters were addressed.

Chapter 1: Overview

Chapter 2:
Service Delivery Reform

2

26

Performance
highlights
•

Centrelink and Medicare Australia were
integrated into the single department
of state—the Department of Human
Services (DHS)—on 1 July 2011
through the Human Services Legislation
Amendment Act 2011.

•

47 additional co-located offices provided
extended services including Centrelink,
Medicare and Child Support.

•

At 30 June 2011 customers undertook
around 31 900 transactions for Medicare
services online.

•

Over 42 000 customers transferred to
accessing their Human Services online
accounts through the australia.gov.au
portal in 2010–11. DHS launched this
service in January 2011 which allows
customers to use just one password and
logon ID to view their Centrelink, Medicare
and Child Support online accounts.

•

was made in the past 12 months to support the
planning and implementation of the reform.
During 2010–11 the Minister for Human
Services announced the four-year roadmap
for SDR. The reform will deliver more onestop shops, more self service and more
support for people based on their individual
needs and circumstances, especially people
who need more intensive support and those
with complex needs.
SDR will contribute to the Australian
Government’s broader strategic objectives
for the Australian community by supporting
positive health outcomes; increasing social,
educational and economic participation;
and improving services to disadvantaged
people. Greater connections between the
Government and the community and private
sectors, and a flexible and responsive service
delivery infrastructure will underpin improved
access and equity.
The package of measures announced in the
Budget on 10 May 2011 outlines the program
of activity for implementation of SDR, including:
•

improving services to customers—by
working closely with government and
the community and private sectors
to provide more intensive support for
people who need it, and involving
users and the community in designing
improved service delivery

•

improving customer access to services
regardless of location or circumstances—
by providing more one-stop shops,
improved online services and extending
rural mobile services and outreach
support for the homeless

•

improving Human Services Portfolio
business—by simplifying and
automating online services to make it
easier for customers to self manage, and
developing enhanced business processes
and operations to deliver a system
that can support new service delivery
approaches for customers

A four-year program of work to improve
service delivery through DHS was
announced in the 2011–12 Budget.

Progress on Service
Delivery Reform
Service Delivery Reform (SDR) will transform
the way DHS delivers government services
to make people’s dealings with government
easier and quicker.
SDR will lead to better outcomes for
generations of Australians by putting people
first in the design and delivery of services
and will ensure services are delivered more
effectively and efficiently. Significant progress
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11
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•

integrating the portfolio—to more
effectively and efficiently deliver services
to Australians.

Service Delivery Reform
objectives
To achieve SDR three objectives have been
identified for the program.
•

To make people’s dealings with
government easier through better
delivery and coordination of services.

•

To achieve more effective service delivery
outcomes for government.

•

To improve the efficiency of
service delivery.

Service Delivery Reform
phases
Phase One 2010–11: planning
and design
The first year of SDR focused on planning and
design. Detailed business cases and proposals
were developed for government consideration
throughout 2010–11. The portfolio also
reached several milestones in delivering some
fundamental SDR initiatives (see Service
Delivery Reform innovations on this page).

Phase Two 2011–15: SDR
implementation

Service Delivery Reform
innovations
Stakeholder engagement
Across the portfolio existing relationships with
policy agencies, the not-for-profit sector, the
business sector, professional associations, service
providers and other government departments
were used to convey messages about SDR.
During 2010–11 a Stakeholder Engagement
Framework was developed to support a
unified and consistent approach to portfolio
stakeholder engagement in light of SDR.
Other initiatives included developing
individual stakeholder engagement plans and
building stakeholder engagement capability
through training.

Improving services
During 2010–11 the portfolio began to
progressively re-engineer services to better
meet people’s needs. This included setting
up a number of initiatives and trials, the
results of which will help to shape future
service delivery for job seekers and encourage
social and economic participation. Building
a stronger capability to support collaborative
service design involving the community,
stakeholders and employees was central to
improving services.

The majority of reform activity will occur
during Phase Two. Integrated DHS services
will be transformed by offering more
convenient options to customers who prefer
to manage their own affairs. At the same
time people who need more intensive support
and people with complex needs will get extra
assistance and referrals. Customers will access
services and information in ways that suit
them, depending on their circumstances.
This may be online through improved selfservice options, over the phone or face-toface in a co-located office.
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One logon, one password—‘works for you’

Doing business with the Department
of Human Services (DHS) has become
much easier for customers in the online
environment.
It takes just one online logon, no matter
whether you’re submitting a Medicare
claim or telling Child Support about
changes in the care you have for your
children, or reporting your employment
income to Centrelink.
And that means people only have to
remember one logon and one password
—not up to three.
People who already have online accounts
with DHS (including Medicare, Child
Support and Centrelink) are now
transitioning to the one logon at
australia.gov.au

While he is doing this he can then select
the other accounts he wants to link—for
example, his Medicare online account or his
Centrelink online account. Or, Paul can log
on to his Medicare and Centrelink accounts
and follow the prompts to link to his new
user ID on australia.gov.au. This will keep
all his information up-to-date.
It’s that easy.
Malisa, a senior officer with DHS, said ‘Our
customers have told us that they want
better coordinated services, with easier
and quicker access to information and with
linked services.’

Let’s say Paul wants to tell Child Support about
new care arrangements for his children.

She was keen to reassure people that the
Government is committed to maintaining
customer privacy protections—customer
health information will be safeguarded and
will not be shared and no new sharing of
customer information will be undertaken
unless the customer consents. DHS is
working closely with the Office of the
Australian Information Commissioner
to ensure that privacy is effectively
managed and existing privacy safeguards
are maintained.

He first of all logs on to the Child Support
website. On the website, he finds out he
can make doing business with DHS easier
and more convenient by linking all his DHS
accounts using australia.gov.au

‘Integrating the different parts of the
portfolio will not increase data linkages—
we are ensuring that the distinct
customer databases held by each agency
remain separate.

Paul clicks on the link and connects to
australia.gov.au. He follows the step by
step instructions, receives a user ID and
then creates his own password.

‘We understand that privacy is of paramount
importance—what we are doing is simply
making customers’ transactions with
government simpler and easier.’

Customers who don’t have an existing
online account, and who usually deal over
the phone or face-to-face with department
employees, will be able to register to access
DHS online services using australia.gov.au
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Job Seeker Workshops—engaging
job‑ready job seekers

Co-design—putting customers at the
centre of service design

In March 2011 Job Seeker Workshops were
established in eight offices. The workshops
help eligible job seekers find work more
quickly and reduce the proportion of people
who continue into long-term unemployment.
Workshops target job-ready job seekers in
their first 13 weeks of unemployment, before
they start receiving regular assistance through
Job Services Australia. During the 13 weeks
job seekers receive a mix of workshops and
one-on-one personal contact interviews.

As part of the Government’s broad agenda
to give Australians a greater say in shaping
the services they access, DHS is strengthening
its capacity to work with customers and
the community to co-design and deliver
better services. This will assist DHS to better
understand the needs of its customers,
employees and stakeholders and to design
improved services as part of SDR.
A portfolio co-design methodology was
developed to build employee capability
around co-design.

To 30 June 2011, 1766 job-ready job seekers
attended 443 workshops across the eight sites.
Connect Me—connecting customers with
the right support
In March 2011 the portfolio began a proof
of concept study focusing on customers
experiencing family separation and
bereavement.
Called Connect Me, the service supports
customers in their interactions with
government by connecting them to the
right services more quickly. The service
provides customers with information about
support and programs across DHS, other
parts of government and the community
sector relevant to their individual needs
and circumstances. This customer-centric
approach is expected to assist customers to
better manage the challenges they face at
significant times in their lives.

Co-design activity during 2010–11 included
customer and employee forums to explore
views and gather ideas on improving service
delivery experiences. Research was also used
to generate ‘customer journeys’ that give a
sense of a customer’s experience and map
their pathways.

Improving access
During 2010–11 the portfolio improved
access to services through website and
phone services, more co-located offices and
expanded online services. These initiatives
simplify customer and community interactions
with the portfolio by making it easier and
quicker to access services.
Co-location of services—creating more
one-stop shops
DHS is creating more one-stop shops where
Medicare, Centrelink and Child Support services
are available under one roof. Co-location of
services improves the way people deal with
the Australian Government by providing
convenient, easy-to-access, coordinated
services from a single point of contact.
Customers who visit a co-located office can
choose from a broad range of services, from
claiming Medicare benefits, to accessing
specialised Centrelink services.
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30

During the year Medicare Australia and
Centrelink co-located offices in another 47
locations across Australia. DHS is committed
to extending services in all offices by 2014.
During the year the portfolio continued to
plan, monitor, assess and evaluate colocation, including refining office layouts and
signage in existing co-located sites. This work
ensures that customers will find it easier to
access the services they need.
A single web and phone service—
integrating self-service options
As part of a long-term strategy to improve
customer access to DHS services, a single
website and phone number were launched
in December 2010. The website is making
it quicker, easier and more convenient for
people to find out what help is available
to them. Information is presented in line
with customer circumstances rather than
by separate agencies.
The single phone number means customers can
make general enquiries about DHS via a single
contact point. Customers who want to discuss
their own circumstances can still call existing call
centres for more personalised advice.
Over time, separate websites and phone
numbers linking customers to the range of
agencies will be integrated into this single
website and phone number.
Claiming Medicare benefits online—
making Medicare claiming easier
In February 2011 the Minister for Human
Services launched a new channel for
customers to lodge certain Medicare claims
online. Up to 30 June 2011 around 31 900
were claimed for Medicare services online.
This new service allows customers to make
some Medicare claims at a time and place
that suits them, reducing the need to visit
a Medicare office.
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Improving portfolio business
During 2010–11 the portfolio focused on
building the foundations for long-term
organisational improvements that will support
a whole-of-government service delivery
system for customers. These will also simplify
interactions for the community and make it
easier and quicker to access services.
Connected Authentication—improving
customer connectivity
In 2010–11 Connected Authentication
increased convenience for customers. Since
January 2011 prompts to register for an
australia.gov.au account were initiated with
customers who have up to three different
existing portfolio agency online accounts.
Registration enables these customers to
access online services across Centrelink,
Medicare and Child Support using one user
ID and password. Since this service started,
over 42 000 online customers have
transitioned from using separate logon
credentials for each agency to this single
user ID and password. See One logon, one
password—’works for you’ on page 28.
A new business framework—designing a
new department
During 2010–11 the portfolio’s structure was
transformed into an integrated department
to begin delivering joined-up customer
services from 1 July 2011. The change
involved implementing a new transitional
organisational structure on 31 March 2011
(see Organisational structure on page 8) and
preparing management structures to support
the integration of face-to-face Centrelink,
Medicare and Child Support customer service
delivery from 1 July 2011.
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Integrating the Portfolio
Significant work to integrate the portfolio into
a single department was undertaken during
2010–11. This integration will enable more
effective and efficient delivery of services to
Australian people.

Integrated enabling services—
creating a single enabling function
Throughout 2010–11 the portfolio continued to
integrate corporate and enabling functions to
achieve portfolio-wide support for integrated
service delivery. This included integrating the
people, legal, communication, finance, records
management and parliamentary and ministerial
functions, and creating a single intranet and
a single phone and email directory.
An integrated Portfolio Risk Management
Framework, Portfolio Business Continuity
Framework and Portfolio Business Planning
Framework were established. Interim Financial
Delegations, Chief Executive Instructions and
interim policies to support procurement and
travel functions were also issued.
A Corporate Processes and System Integration
Program was also initiated to consolidate
DHS, Centrelink and Medicare Australia
human resource and finance systems onto
a single platform.

ICT integration
The ICT Infrastructure Integration Program
brings together core ICT infrastructure across
DHS, and provides a modern technology base
to support the business.

Underpinning ICT integration is a
commitment to putting customers first,
making it easier for employees to do their
jobs effectively and harnessing the latest
technology. The major focus in
2010–11 was delivering the foundations
needed to support the transformation
of ICT from three agencies into one
department, including:
•

technical support for co-located services

•

progression of the Portfolio Data Centre
program of work to consolidate data
centres and ensure high availability
and resilience

•

a DHS ‘gateway’

•

inter-connectivity between ICT
environments across agencies

•

a single email system

•

a single intranet

•

a process to manage the tender for DHS
telecommunications services.

People integration and people
change
During 2010–11 a Portfolio People Strategy
and a Leadership Strategy were developed to
guide the approach to leading and managing
people change under SDR.
A People Change Centre was established to
manage the impacts on people associated
with the reform and support the integration
of employees transitioning to the new
organisation. The People Change Centre
supported leaders and built engagement
around a new DHS identity. This coordinated
change management approach included
training, communication and developing
a range of support tools and packages.
The People Change Centre also identified and
coordinated the response to people change
impacts across the SDR program.
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During 2010–11 DHS brought all portfolio
Senior Executive Service employees
together under the same employment
terms and conditions.

Engagement with the Community
and Public Sector Union
Throughout 2010–11 the portfolio consulted
with the Community and Public Sector
Union (CPSU) on issues affecting portfolio
employees including SDR implementation and
development of a new Portfolio Enterprise
Agreement. The Human Services Portfolio/
CPSU Service Delivery Reform Executive
Forum and the Deputy Chief Executive
Officer/CPSU Working Party on SDR
continued to meet and regular discussions
were held with employees.
The portfolio also ensured the CPSU was
engaged early about a range of projects
such as LCTW, co-location, the single phone
number and the new operating model.

Legislation
To support the integration of portfolio
agencies, the Human Services Legislation
Amendment Bill 2011 was introduced
into the House of Representatives on
25 November 2010. The Bill amended
the Medicare Australia Act 1973 and the
Commonwealth Service Delivery Agency
Act 1997 to integrate Medicare Australia,
Centrelink and DHS. The Human Services
Legislation Amendment Act 2011 received
Royal Assent on 25 May 2011 and came
into effect on 1 July 2011.
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Program management
The portfolio established a comprehensive
program management capability to support
the implementation of SDR. Governance
arrangements, a design authority, an SDR
Implementation Group and a best practice
Program Management Framework are all
key features of the program management
approach to implementing the reform.

Committees
The SDR Steering Committee is responsible
for driving the SDR program. During 2010–11
an independent member was appointed
to the committee to provide guidance and
advice on the implementation of SDR.
For information on the SDR Interdepartmental Committee see page 16.

Gateway review process
SDR is subject to the Department of Finance
and Deregulation Gateway Review Process.
In December 2010 a Gate 1 (Business Need)
review was undertaken and received a ‘green’
rating for overall delivery confidence for the
reform. The green rating shows the program
is on target for effective and timely delivery
of outcomes.

Assurance
KPMG was engaged in March 2010 to
provide independent program assurance for
the SDR program.
Throughout 2010–11 KPMG continued
to examine the program and made
recommendations on the structure, design
and implementation of SDR-related program
activities and projects based on risk profile
and program priorities.
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Privacy
Privacy considerations and the protection
of personal information are crucial to
maintaining community confidence in SDR.
Privacy protections were embedded in all
the reform elements. On 18 January 2011
DHS re-signed a Memorandum of
Understanding with the Office of the
Australian Information Commissioner.

Service Delivery Reform
communication
To support SDR projects and initiatives a
significant program of communication activity
and advice was established early in 2010–11.
The three dimensions of SDR communication
work are:
•

strategic planning—whole-of-SDR
communication planning and
reporting that enables all aspects of
SDR communication to be developed,
tracked and evaluated

•

program support—communication
support and advice for SDR business
teams and reporting to SDR committees
and working groups

•

project support—dedicated communication
teams for each of the SDR projects.
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Performance
highlights

•

Medicare Australia promoted the
awareness of breast cancer throughout
its offices and on its website, through
a partnership with the National Breast
Cancer Foundation.

•

Medicare Australia processed
319.1 million Medicare services in
2010–11, involving more than
$16.3 billion in Medicare benefits.

•

Medicare Australia sent invitations to
855 969 eligible people to participate
in the National Bowel Cancer
Screening Program.

•

Medicare Australia successfully
implemented various budget
and other government initiatives
throughout 2010–11 including:

•

Over 30 per cent of all patient claim
services were submitted electronically,
either lodged from medical practices
using Medicare Online or Medicare
Easyclaim, or by the patient using a new
internet service for claiming Medicare
benefits online.

•

The collection of patients’ bank account
details for easy electronic payment
increased to more than four million.

•

Medicare Australia implemented system
changes to encourage electronic
claiming. For example, a service officer
was alerted when a claim they were
processing over the counter came from
a provider with the capability to lodge
it electronically. This prompted service
officers to ask the customer if they were
aware that their doctor’s practice was
able to lodge the claim on their behalf.

––

implementing the Improving
Maternity Services Package for
Medicare, which provided greater
choice of midwifery services for
women during pregnancy, birthing
and postnatal maternity care.

•

More services were lodged electronically
—rising from 79.0 per cent in 2009–10
to 82.2 per cent in 2010–11.

•

Medicare Australia launched a new
claiming channel enabling customers
to claim some Medicare benefits on
the internet. The service was ideal for
many customers who were unable
to have their claims lodged at the
doctors’ offices or visit a Medicare
office. To 30 June 2011, 31 874 services
were paid.
––

•

Five of the most common general
practitioner (GP) consultations could
be claimed with benefits being
paid into nominated bank accounts
within 1–3 days.

Medicare Australia supported DonateLife
Week (formerly known as Australian
Organ Donor Awareness Week) in
February 2011, helping to raise the
number of people on the Australian
Organ Donor Register to 5 760 987 at
30 June 2011.
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Medicare
Medicare, which began in 1984, ensures that
all Australians have access to free or low-cost
medical, optometric and hospital care while
being free to choose private health services and,
in special circumstances, allied health services.
The Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA)
develops policy for the Medicare program,
including the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS).
Medicare administers Medicare enrolments
and benefit payments through its network of
Medicare offices and online claiming services.

Table 3: Medicare enrolments, claims and benefits

2009–10

2010–11

change

People enrolled at 30 June1

22.1 million

22.5 million

+1.8%

Active cards at 30 June

12.4 million

12.7 million

+2.4%

229.3 million

240.2 million

+4.8%

Patient claimed services

79.1 million

79.0 million

–0.1%

Total services processed

308.4 million

319.1 million

+3.5%

$50.19

$51.32

+2.3%

12.4 days

11.9 days

–4.0%

2.3 days

2.2 days

–4.3%

$15.4 billion

$16.3 billion

+5.8%

Enrolments

Services
Medicare bulk billed services

Benefits
Average benefit per service
Average period service to lodgment2
Average period lodgment to processing3
Total benefits paid

1
People enrolled included some people who were not Australian residents, such as visitors from countries that have
reciprocal health care agreements with Australia and people covered under ministerial orders.
2

Time between date of a medical service and lodgment of a Medicare claim.

3

Time between date of lodgment and processing of a Medicare claim.
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The number of people enrolled in Medicare
and the number of active Medicare cards
continued to increase in line with previous
years’ trends. The Medicare benefits paid
totalled $16.3 billion, and the number of bulk
billed services increased to 240.2 million.

Medicare eligibility
To be eligible for Medicare benefits a person
must reside in Australia and be either:
•

an Australian citizen

•

a permanent resident or New Zealand
citizen residing in Australia

•

an applicant for permanent residency,
meeting certain other criteria (noting
that restrictions and other requirements
apply to people who have applied for
a parent visa)

•

covered by a ministerial order

•

a resident or citizen from a country with
which Australia has a reciprocal health
care agreement.

Australian citizens who have lived overseas
for more than five years, and permanent
residents who have lived overseas for more
than 12 months, must provide documents to
show they have returned to Australia to reside
before a Medicare card can be issued to them.

Medicare cards
Medicare issues three types of Medicare
cards: green, blue and yellow.
Green Medicare cards are issued to Australian
citizens and permanent residents. Green
Medicare cardholders have access to all
eligible Medicare services.
Blue Interim Medicare cards are issued
to people who are granted eligibility for
Medicare while their application for Australian
permanent residency is being considered. Blue
Interim Medicare cardholders have access to
all eligible Medicare services.
Yellow Medicare Reciprocal Health Care cards
are issued to visitors to Australia who are
residents of countries with which Australia
has reciprocal health care agreements. These
cardholders’ access to Medicare services is
time-limited and does not cover treatment as
a private patient in a public or private hospital.
In administering the Medicare Levy
Exemption, Medicare Australia assessed
applications for a certificate that confirmed
the applicant was ineligible for Medicare
during all or part of any financial year.
If a person is not eligible for Medicare, they
may apply for an exemption from paying the
Medicare levy for the whole financial year or
part of the year. If approved, they are issued
with a Medicare Levy Exemption Certificate.
The person can then include the certificate
with their tax return for that financial year
to be exempt from paying the Medicare levy
for the period covered by the certificate.
The Australian Taxation Office administers
payment of the Medicare levy.
There was a reduction in the total number of
Medicare cards issued in 2010–11. This was
due to the final stages of a bulk reissue of
cards initiated in 2008–09 being completed
in 2009–10 resulting in a higher than normal
number of cards issued in that period. In
2010–11 the reissue rate returned to the
historical average.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

39

Table 4: Medicare cards and Medicare levy exemptions

2009–10

2010–11

change

4 561 103

4 267 206

–6.4%

Total applications

60 859

78 019

+28.2%

Accepted applications

59 366

75 407

+27.0%

Rejected applications

1 493

2 612

+74.9%

Cards
Total cards issued1
Medicare levy exemption

1

Includes Medicare cards issued under reciprocal health care agreements.

Eligible visitors to
Australia

The reciprocal health care agreements allow
visitors from New Zealand and the Republic of
Ireland to access:
•

free treatment as a public in-patient or
outpatient in a public hospital

The Australian Government has signed
reciprocal health care agreements with some
countries, which means residents of those
countries can receive medically necessary
treatment while visiting Australia.

•

subsidised medicines under the PBS.

The reciprocal health care agreements allow
visitors from Finland, Italy, Malta, Sweden, the
Netherlands, Norway, Belgium and the United
Kingdom to enrol in the Medicare program
which entitles them to:
•

free treatment as a public in-patient or
outpatient in a public hospital

•

subsidised medicines under the
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS)

•

Medicare benefits for out-of-hospital
medical treatment provided by
doctors through private surgeries
and community health centres.

Visitors from New Zealand and the Republic
of Ireland are not enrolled in the Medicare
program. They prove their eligibility by providing
their passport when accessing the services.

Medicare Safety Net
The Medicare Safety Net helps eligible
individuals and families meet high medical
costs for out-of-hospital medical services.
The threshold for the Medicare Safety Net
is indexed annually from 1 January and
operates on a calendar year from 1 January
to 31 December.
There are three Medicare Safety Net
thresholds:
•

Original (for all Medicare cardholders)

•

Extended Medicare Safety Net (EMSN)
concession and Family Tax Benefit
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Part A—FTB Part A—for concession
cardholders and families eligible for
FTB Part A
•

EMSN general (for all Medicare
cardholders).

The Original Safety Net threshold applies to
everyone enrolled with Medicare. A threshold
of $399.60 applied for 2011. If the difference
between the specified MBS fee and the
Medicare benefit received by an individual
exceeds the threshold over the calendar year,
up to 100 per cent of the MBS fee is paid for
subsequent individual services.
The EMSN concession and FTB Part A
threshold applies to concession cardholders
and families eligible for FTB Part A. The
threshold for 2011 was $578.60 in
out-of-pocket costs—that is, the difference
between the total amount paid by the
individual and the Medicare benefit the
individual receives.
The EMSN general threshold applies to
everyone enrolled with Medicare
(apart from those who came under the EMSN
concession and FTB Part A threshold)—
the threshold for 2011 was $1157.50.
Once either the EMSN concession and
FTB Part A or the EMSN general threshold
has been reached, the Medicare benefit will
be paid plus 80 per cent of the out-of-pocket
costs for medical services provided out-ofhospital, apart from when a capped item
is claimed.
Capped items place an upper limit on the
amount of benefit that can be paid under
the EMSN for a small number of Medicare
services. For these services, the benefit will
be the lower of either the capped amount
or 80 per cent of the out-of-pocket costs.
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Special assistance
schemes
Through Medicare the Australian Government
helps individuals meet health and community
care costs arising from adverse events
overseas, such as natural disasters and
terrorist attacks.
Medicare Australia continued to administer
the following special assistance schemes in
2010–11:
•

Balimed (2002)

•

Tsunami Healthcare Assistance (2004)

•

London Assist (2005)

•

Bali (2005)

•

Dahab Egypt Bombing Health Care Costs
Assistance (2006).

Medicare claiming
There were 319.1 million services processed
for payment by EFT (electronic funds transfer),
cheque and cash for paid accounts. Unpaid
patient accounts were paid by cheques issued
to the practitioner via the claimant (see
Table 5 and Figure 6 on page 41).
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Table 5: Medicare services by payment type

2009–10

%

2010–11

%

229.3 million

74.3

240.2 million

75.3

Services paid by cash (Medicare offices)

30.2 million

9.8

26.6 million

8.3

Services paid by simplified billing—
in-hospital claIms lodged electronically

18.5 million

6.0

21.6 million

6.8

Services paid via EFT

12.1 million

3.9

13.5 million

4.2

Services paid by cheque to practitioner
via claimant

11.3 million

3.7

8.8 million

2.8

Medicare Easyclaim account paid—
patient claim paid by system (via
EFTPOS network)

3.7 million

1.2

5.5 million

1.7

Services paid by cheque to claimant

3.4 million

1.1

2.8 million

0.9

308.4 million

100

319.1 million

100

Bulk bill services paid to providers

Total services

Figure 6: Per cent of Medicare services by payment type

Bulk bill services increased to 240.2 million
in 2010–11 (75.3 per cent of all Medicare
services). At the same time there was an
increase in services paid via EFT and Medicare
Medicare Easyclaim
Easyclaim. This was offset by a decrease in
Cheque to claimaint
services paid by cash.
EFT
Cheque to practitioner
Simplified billing
Bulk bill

Cheque to practitioner

Cash

Cash

Medicare Easyclaim

Bulk Bill

Simplified billing

Cheque to claimaint

EFT

Percent of all accepted claims 2010–11

Note: EFT payments include claims lodged online by
the claimant through claiming Medicare benefits online.

75%

8%

7%

3%

4%
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Medicare electronic
claiming
Electronic claiming options make it convenient
for providers and customers to lodge claims for
Medicare benefits. This is done through four
electronic claiming channels:
•

Medicare Online

•

Medicare Easyclaim

•

ECLIPSE—Electronic Claim Lodgment
and Information Processing Service
Environment

•

claiming Medicare benefits online.

Medicare Online
Introduced in 2002, Medicare Online lets
practices lodge Medicare claims via the
internet. It can be used to process bulk bill
claims, patient claims, claims for Department
of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) services and the
Australian Childhood Immunisation Register.
Offered over secure connection using Public
Key Infrastructure, Medicare Online enjoys
strong support from providers and in 2010–11
more than 12 000 practices lodged claims
using Medicare Online.
Payments for patient claims are made directly
into a customer’s nominated bank account if
account details are recorded with Medicare.

Medicare Easyclaim
Introduced in 2007, Medicare Easyclaim lets
practices lodge claims using a secure EFTPOS
network provided by financial institutions
specifically accredited by Medicare.
Medicare Easyclaim can process out-of-hospital
bulk bill and patient claims. Unlike Medicare
Online, Medicare Easyclaim does not facilitate
DVA claiming, reporting for the Australian
Childhood Immunisation Register, or support
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some of the more complex Medicare
item numbers.
Medicare Easyclaim can be integrated with
practice management software to provide
increased functionality.

ECLIPSE
ECLIPSE is an electronic system that can
be used for claiming services provided in
hospitals. It is an extension of Medicare
Online and provides a secure connection
using Public Key Infrastructure between
practices, public and private hospitals, billing
agents, the Department of Human Services
(DHS), private health insurers, Centrelink
and DVA.
ECLIPSE claims fall into two broad categories:
•

in-patient medical claims

•

in-hospital claims.

Medicare Australia and a patient’s private
health insurer paid eligible in-patient medical
claims for medical items arising from an
in-hospital episode of care.
An in-hospital claim includes aspects of a
patient’s hospital stay such as accommodation,
theatre, transfers and prosthetics, where
benefits may only be payable by a private
health insurer or DVA and do not include
benefits under the MBS.
ECLIPSE was developed in collaboration
with the broader health sector, and improves
coordination of public–private healthcare
services. All private health insurers are
connected to ECLIPSE.

Claiming Medicare
benefits online
In February 2011 Medicare Australia
introduced claiming Medicare benefits
online to enable customers to claim over the
internet through Medicare’s Consumer Online
Services. This service is especially useful for
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those people who are unable to claim at the
doctor’s or visit a Medicare office.
This new claiming option reflects the
portfolio’s commitment under Service Delivery
Reform to offer choices based on community
needs. This new channel allows people to
claim five of the most common GP items.

Take-up and usage of
Medicare electronic
claiming
Medicare Australia worked with medical
providers, software vendors and the public
to increase the availability and adoption of
Medicare electronic claiming.
A series of targeted promotional activities
to practitioners and the public raised
awareness and understanding of Medicare
electronic claiming.
This year, the focus was on how easy it is for
patient claims to be lodged electronically at
the doctors, or for Medicare benefits to be
claimed over the internet.

Medicare Australia used a range of
strategies to increase the collection of
patients’ bank account details so that
electronic payments could be made easily.
Bank account details were recorded for
more than four million customers.
There was an increase in the take-up
of Medicare electronic claiming for all
lodgment types.
As shown in Figure 7, in 2010–11,
92.9 per cent of all Medicare bulk bill claims
were conducted electronically in 2010–11,
which was 2.1 per cent short of the
95 per cent target. While electronic claiming
bulk billing increased by 1.4 per cent from
the previous year, some health professionals
that manually claim bulk bill services reported
that they were unwilling to conduct business
electronically, or had no computer or internet
facilities. Outreach employees continued to
promote the benefits of electronic bulk billing
when visiting medical practices.

Figure 7: Medicare services by claim type—electronic and manual
100%
90%

Percentage of services

80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Service type
Electronic bulk bill

Electronic patient claim

Electronic simplified billing (including ECLIPSE)

Manual scanned bulk bill

Manual patient claim

Manual simplified billing
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and ECLIPSE grew even more—from 1225 to
6328 over the same period.

As shown in Figure 8 the number of practices
using Medicare Online increased from 11 244
in June 2010 to 12 122 in June 2011.
Medicare Easyclaim grew from 6830 to 7913,

Figure 8: Number of practices transmitting electronically 2007–08 to 2010–11

Number of practices transmitting

12 000
10 000
8 000

6 000
4 000

2 000
0

2007–08

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

Years (sites transmitting during June)
Medicare Online

Medicare Easyclaim

ECLIPSE

Note: Some practices may use more than one electronic lodgment method.

Table 6: Volumes of services transmitted electronically excluding Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP)

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

change

181.8 million

198 million

207.5 million

+4.8%

8.2 million

11.7 million

12.1 million

+3.4%

Bulk bill

4.7 million

11.2 million

15.2 million

+35.7%

Patient claim

1.3 million

3.7 million

5.5 million

+48.6%

1.2 million

3.0 million

7.9 million

+163.3%

–

–

31 900

–

197.2 million

227.6 million

248.3 million

+9.1%

67.1%

73.8%

77.8 %

+4.0%

Medicare Online
Bulk bill
Patient claim
Medicare Easyclaim

ECLIPSE
Claiming Medicare
benefits online1 (approx)
Total services
Percentage of overall claims
lodged electronically
1

Claiming Medicare benefits online was implemented on 27 February 2011.
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years. It also shows the decline of all manual
services in the same period.

Figure 9 shows growth in patient claims for
Medicare Online, Medicare Easyclaim and
total electronic services over the past two

Percentage of patient claims based on services

Figure 9: Patient claim by lodgment type
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Jun–09

Aug–09

Oct–09

Total manual
Medicare Online

Dec–09

Feb–10

Apr–10

Jun–10

Aug–10

Medicare Easyclaim
Claiming Medicare benefits online

There were 319.1 million Medicare services
processed for payment in 2010–11. Bulk
bill services increased to 240.2 million
in 2010–11 (75.3 per cent of all Medicare
services, up from 74.3 per cent last year).
At the same time there was an increase in
electronic payment of patient claims. This
was offset by a decrease in both cash and
cheque payments. The most significant
trend in 2010–11 was the over 400 per cent
growth in the number of sites transmitting
services using ECLIPSE (from 1225 sites
in 2009–10 to 6328 in 2010–11). The number
of services transmitted using ECLIPSE rose
from 3.0 million in 2009–10 to 7.9 million
in 2010–11.

Further information

Oct–10

Dec–10

Feb–11

Apr–11

Jun–11

Total electronic

Veterans’ Affairs
processing
Medicare processes claims on behalf of DVA.
It assesses claims and makes payments to
medical, hospital and allied health providers
who treat eligible veterans, their spouses and
dependants (as assessed by DVA).
Medicare Australia and DVA continued to
support the move to electronic claiming.
For health professionals, electronic claiming
means faster payment times, paperless
submission and reconciliation of claims,
reduced administrative burden and electronic
confirmation of patient details.

Further details on the Medicare electronic
claiming channels and related processes are
available on the DHS website.
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Table 7: Veterans’ Affairs activities

2009–10

2010–11

change

61 329

301 467

+391.6%

Services processed

21.7 million

22.2 million

+2.3%

Total benefits paid

$2.1 billion

$2.4 billion

+14.3%

Cards produced1

1
Personal Treatment Entitlement cards, Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits cards, Specific Treatment Entitlement
cards and Totally Permanently Incapacitated Gold cards.

DVA online claiming increased in 2010–11,
resulting in lower administrative costs to
DVA and reduced payment times for health
professionals. In 2010–11, 67 per cent of all
services processed on behalf of DVA were
received electronically. This increased from
63 per cent in 2009–10.

Visiting Medical
Practitioners Program
Treatment of patients in public hospitals is
governed by national healthcare agreements
between the Australian Government, states
and territories. Under these agreements, there
is no charge to public patients or against
Medicare. If a patient elects to be treated as a
private patient in a public hospital, treatment
may attract Medicare benefits if the rendering
practitioner has the right to private practice
and is not acting as a salaried employee of
the public hospital.
The arrangements under which medical
practitioners are employed to work in public
hospitals vary between the states/territories
and individual hospitals.
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Western Australia has an arrangement
whereby the various public hospital
boards make payments to visiting medical
practitioners for services provided at various
public hospitals throughout the state.
Medicare Australia and the State of Western
Australia entered into an agreement on
17 June 1999, where Medicare administers,
on behalf of the Western Australian
Government, a fee-for-service payment
and information system for visiting
medical practitioners who treat public
hospital patients under individual contracts
with participating Western Australian
public hospitals.
This service provides public non-teaching
hospitals in Western Australia a real-time
intranet processing system, which connects
via the internet to the Medicare system to
access and pay invoices of visiting medical
practitioners for services to public patients.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia assessed
invoices valued at more than $64.5 million
for 295 588 services.
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90 Day Pay Doctor
Cheque Scheme

Medicare Teen
Dental Plan

The 90 Day Pay Doctor Cheque Scheme
covers patient claims where the provider has
not bulk billed the service, the patient has not
paid the account in full and a pay doctor via
claimant cheque has been issued.

The Medicare Teen Dental Plan helps with the
cost of an annual dental preventative check.
The plan makes it more affordable for families
to keep their teenagers’ teeth in good health
with over one million eligible teenagers each
year. To be eligible under the plan, one of the
following criteria must apply:

Under the scheme, in 2010–11 Medicare
Australia automatically cancelled Medicare
cheques made payable to eligible health
professionals through their patient when the
cheque had not been banked after 90 days
from issue. The amount was then paid directly
into the health professional’s nominated bank
account via EFT.
Eligible health professionals included:
•

GPs who did not use Medicare electronic
claiming and who were registered to
participate in the scheme

•

GPs, specialists and consultant
physicians (including pathologists) who
were automatically considered eligible
because they lodged their patients’
unpaid claims electronically.

The scheme did not extend to optometrists,
allied health professionals and dentists.
Eligible health professionals could subscribe to
receive their EFT payment statements under
the scheme through the Health Professional
Online Services (HPOS) mail box. This meant
they no longer had to wait for EFT statements
in the mail.

•

a teenager must be 12–17 years of age,
eligible for Medicare, and receiving
FTB Part A, ABSTUDY, Carer Payment,
Disability Support Pension, Parenting
Payment, Special Benefit, Youth
Allowance, or

•

their family/carer/guardian must receive
FTB Part A, Parenting Payment or
the Double Orphan Pension for the
teenager, or

•

their partner must receive FTB Part A or
Parenting Payment, or

•

a teenager must be 16–17 years of
age and receiving financial assistance
under the Veterans’ Children Education
Scheme or the Military Rehabilitation
and Compensation Act Education and
Training Scheme from DVA.

The teenager may still be eligible if the above
conditions are met for a minimum of one day
in the calendar year.
In January and February each year eligible
families and teenagers are sent a voucher
for a preventative dental check using client
information provided by Centrelink and DVA.
Teenagers who became eligible later in the
year are sent a voucher once information is
received about their entitlement.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia processed
approximately 388 000 services and paid
approximately $60 million in benefits.
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Australian Childhood
Immunisation
Register

Data from the Register is used to provide
an immunisation history statement for
parents and guardians, which details the
immunisations recorded for their children.
Statements are available online, at Medicare
offices or by calling 1800 653 809. They
can be used as proof of immunisation for
enrolment in school or childcare.

The Australian Childhood Immunisation
Register helps parents and immunisation
providers keep track of a child’s immunisation
status, regardless of where the child
was immunised.

At 30 June 2011, 2.1 million children under
seven years of age were included on
the Register.
In 2010–11, 181 197 immunisation history
statements were viewed online and 95 136
were given to parents at Medicare offices.

Details of vaccinations given to children under
seven years of age who live in Australia are
recorded on the Register. They are available
on request to authorised immunisation
providers and the child’s parents or guardian.
This data helps determine eligibility for the
Maternity Immunisation Allowance and Child
Care Benefit available through the Family
Assistance Office.

Approximately $9.2 million was paid to
immunisation providers and 4.6 million valid
immunisations were recorded.
Immunisation coverage rates for children aged
12–15 months dropped slightly in June 2011,
which may be attributed to normal seasonal
fluctuations.

The Medicare website gives providers
a secure channel to access and update
children’s immunisation details. Health
professionals use the Register to monitor
immunisation coverage and service delivery
and to identify regions at risk during
disease outbreaks. Immunisation coverage
information is available at the state, territory
or national level.

Table 8: Australian Childhood Immunisation Register

2009–10

2010–11

change

Valid immunisation episodes recorded at 30 June

4.7 million

4.6 million

–2.1%

Children under 7 years of age registered at 30 June

2.1 million

2.1 million

0%

$8.9 million

$9.2 million

+3.4%

1

Total amount paid to immunisation providers

Children registered with appropriate immunisation coverage at 30 June
Children aged 12–15 months

91.5%

90.3%

–1.2%

Children aged 24–27 months

92.4%

92.8%

+0.4%

Children aged 60–63 months

89.6%

89.6%

0%

1
Payments made on completion of the aged-based immunisation schedule of a child, not reporting of a valid
immunisation episode.
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Australian Defence
Force Family
Healthcare Program
The Australian Defence Force Family
Healthcare Program began on 1 May 2009,
as a government-established trial to provide
free basic medical and dental care to families
of Australian Defence Force personnel living
in remote and regional locations. Its aim was
to support a broader defence recruitment and
retention strategy.
Medicare Australia administered the program
on behalf of the Department of Defence
making payments to registered practices
that bulk billed eligible services for Australian
Defence Force family members within an
accepted location.

The program was open to families located in:
•

Queensland—Cairns, Mt Isa, Weipa,
Thursday Island, Townsville, Mission
Beach and Tully

•

Victoria—Sale and Puckapunyal

•

New South Wales—Singleton

•

Northern Territory—Darwin, Nhulunbuy,
Alice Springs and Katherine

•

Western Australia—Broome, Derby,
Kununurra, Karratha, Carnarvon,
Exmouth, Port Hedland, Tom Price
and Newman.

From 1 April 2011 the Department of Defence
commenced operating the Australian Defence
Force Family Healthcare Program under a
revised model which makes payments directly
to Defence Force dependants rather than via
registered providers.

Table 9: Australian Defence Force Family Healthcare Program

2009–10

2010–11

change

252

292

+15.9%

Number of registered dependants

3 810

4 081

+7.1%

Number of services provided

4 310

5 849

+35.7%

$81 900

$140 000

70.9%

Number of registered provider locations

Total amount paid (approx)

Note: Figures for 2010–11 are from 1 July 2010 to 31 March 2011.
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Australian Organ
Donor Register
Medicare administers the Australian Organ
Donor Register (the Donor Register) on
behalf of the Australian Government.
The Donor Register is the official national
register for people to record their decision
about becoming an organ and/or tissue
donor for transplantation after death. If a
registered person dies, the Donor Register
provides access to authorised medical
personnel to verify the person’s donation
decision 24 hours a day, seven days a week,
anywhere in Australia.
November 2010 marked the 10th anniversary
of the Donor Register. To celebrate, Medicare
Australia developed an electronic time capsule
to be opened in 10 years and also ran an
artwork competition, with the winning entry
featured as part of the February monthly
theme in Medicare offices.

Medicare Australia supported the Transplant
Games in October 2010, DonateLife Week
(formerly known as Australian Organ Donor
Awareness Week) in February 2011 and
13-year-old Coen Ashton’s seven‑week
journey down the Murray River to raise
awareness of organ and/or tissue donation.
Medicare Australia also continued its
partnership with the CA Technologies
Brumbies for the 2011 season.
More than 5.7 million people had registered
their organ and/or tissue donation decision
on the Donor Register. This figure included
the intent registrations of 16–17 year olds.
The Donor Register website provides an
online mechanism for people to register
their donation decision and includes general
information about organ and tissue donation
for transplantation, as well as the number
of registered organ and tissue donors
in Australia.

Table 10: Australian Organ Donor Register

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of consent registrations (including intent
registrations of 16–17 year olds)

1 395 792

1 502 639

+7.7%

Number of registrations of potential donors1

4 276 990

4 258 348

–0.4%

23 020

21 370

–7.2%

Number of calls to enquiry line

1
Potential donors are those people who had previously registered their intent but have not updated this to consent
to donate.
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There was a steady increase in the number
of individuals registering their donation
decision over the last year. The increase in
registrations was attributed to a number of
factors including the ongoing community
awareness and education program for organ
and tissue donation which uses a nationally
coordinated and consistent approach and to
which Medicare Australia was a signatory.

Compensation
Recovery Program
Medicare administers the Compensation
Recovery Program on behalf of DoHA under
the Health and Other Services (Compensation)
Act 1995.
The program prevents ‘double dipping’ in
Medicare benefits, nursing home benefits
and residential care subsidies paid by the
Australian Government. When compensation

is fixed by judgment or settlement of more
than $5000 (including costs), the value of
any Medicare benefits, nursing home or
residential aged care subsidies must be
repaid, if those services were received for the
person’s compensable injury or illness.
Claimants are required to advise Medicare
of services received as a result of the
compensable injury or illness by completing
and returning a Medicare history statement.
This statement identifies all Medicare services
received from the date of the injury to the
date of judgment or settlement. When
services are identified by the claimant,
Medicare notifies the claimant of the
repayment amount.
The Medicare and residential care benefits
that were recovered in 2010–11 increased by
$1.8 million even though the number of cases
finalised was lower.
In 2010–11 the reduction in the number
of cases finalised was due to a number of
factors, including fewer cases being settled
and notified to Medicare Australia.

Table 11: Compensation recovery cases and benefits

Cases finalised
Total amount of benefits recovered

2009–10

2010–11

change

47 876

46 028

–3.9%

$37.9 million

$39.7 million

+4.7%
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Continence Aids
Payment Scheme
Medicare administers the Continence Aids
Payment Scheme on behalf of DoHA under
section 12 of the National Health Act 1953.
The program began in July 2010 and provides
a direct payment to eligible consumers who
had severe and permanent incontinence to
help them buy continence aid products. The
Continence Aids Payment Scheme superseded
the Continence Aids Assistance Scheme.
The change to the way in which the
Government provided continence aids
assistance was to:
•

provide greater choice of product
and supplier

•

enable consumers to choose the most
appropriate product for their needs and
the best value for money

•

create greater competition in
the market.

Table 12: Continence Aids Payment Scheme

2010–11
Number of applications
processed
Total amount paid

94 741
$39.5 million
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External Breast
Prostheses
Reimbursement
Program
Medicare administers the External Breast
Prostheses Reimbursement Program on behalf
of DoHA.
The program offers a nationally consistent
approach to providing financial support
towards the cost of external breast
prostheses. All Australian women who had
a mastectomy as a result of breast cancer
and held a current Medicare entitlement are
eligible to be reimbursed up to $400 for new
or replacement external breast prostheses.
During October 2010 Medicare Australia
promoted the awareness of breast cancer,
together with the National Breast Cancer
Foundation, by publicising the program
throughout Medicare offices and on
its website.
Information about the program is available
on the DHS website, in Medicare offices and
from breast cancer nurses associated with
the McGrath Foundation. Links are available
on the DHS website to and from the Breast
Cancer Network Australia and National Breast
and Ovarian Cancer Centre websites.
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Table 13: External Breast Prostheses Reimbursement Program

Number of claims processed
Total amount paid

2009–10

2010–11

change

13 315

13 442

+1.0%

$4.8 million

$5.1 million

+6.3%
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A valued program for breast cancer
survivors

The External Breast Prostheses
Reimbursement Program reimburses women
who had a mastectomy as a result of
breast cancer up to $400 for both new and
replacement external breast prostheses.

Throughout the evaluation many participants
offered unprompted comments highlighting
their satisfaction with the program.

They can make a claim for new or
replacement prostheses every two years.

‘This is a valued program for breast cancer
survivors—the external prosthesis is a must (if
one doesn’t have implants) and really helps to
make one feel so much better about oneself.’

Run by Medicare on behalf of the
Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA), it
was set up in 2008, and in May 2011 DoHA
released its evaluation of the program.

‘Thank heavens it’s available! I would
have found it very hard to afford without
the Government reimbursement being
readily available.’

The evaluation found the program had
been a great success, with women finding
it easily accessible, efficient and sensitive to
the needs of women.

‘I think the program is just the best thing for
women after going through a mastectomy
and knowing there is no hassle getting new
prostheses every two years is welcoming.
Congratulations on a great program.’

Many women praised it for its simplified
claims process and overall it was considered
a less stressful process for women than the
previous state and territory schemes which
required a burden of proof. One woman
commented that the ‘procedure was
extremely swift and competent’.

DHS and DoHA will continue to work
together to address some of the
evaluation’s recommendations, including:
•

improving community awareness

•

applying some discretion to help
women who, because of their illness,
need a new prosthesis within the
two-year claim again period.
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General Practice
Immunisation
Incentive
The General Practice Immunisation Incentive
provides financial incentives to GPs who
monitor, promote and provide immunisations
to children under seven years of age.
The program aims to encourage at least
90 per cent of medical practices to achieve
immunisation coverage of 90 per cent of
children under seven years of age.
Registered general practices receive a
quarterly outcomes payment if they achieve
the target of full immunisations for children
who attended their practice.

Table 14: General Practice Immunisation Incentive payments

Practices registered (calculated at the time of
the May quarterly payment calculation)
Outcomes payments1
Average outcomes payment2

2009–10

2010–11

change

5 555

5 651

+1.7%

$20.2 million

$20.4 million

+1.0%

$1 086

$1 124

+3.5%

1

Outcomes payments were made to practices that had reached the required target level.
The average outcomes payment is the average amount paid to an eligible practice per quarter. It is determined
by dividing the number of practices who received a payment by the total quarterly payment amount. The average
amount varies due to the fluctuations in the number of practices eligible to receive a payment.
2

At 30 June 2011 the program involved
5651 registered practices. The average
immunisation coverage rate for practices was
92.1 per cent for 2010–11, with 80.1 per cent
of participating practices achieving rates of
90 per cent or higher.
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General Practice
Registrars’ Rural
Incentive Payments
Scheme
The General Practice Registrars’ Rural
Incentive Payments Scheme promoted
careers in rural medicine, increasing the
number of doctors in rural and regional
areas of Australia.
The scheme provided incentive payments to
general practice registrars, participating in the
Australian General Practice Training program
for training in rural areas. Eligibility was
assessed on registrars training in Rural, Remote
and Metropolitan Areas locations and payment
levels were based on the General Practice
Accessibility and Remoteness Index of Australia.
Final payments under the scheme were made
in February 2011. The scheme was replaced
by the Registrars’ component of the new
General Practice Rural Incentives Program.
In 2010–11 the total amount paid reduced
which reflected the closure of the scheme in
February 2011.

General Practice
Rural Incentives
Program
The General Practice Rural Incentives Program
began in July 2010 and combines two
previously separate rural incentive programs,
the General Practice Registrars’ Rural Incentive
Payments Scheme and the Rural Retention
Program. The program comprises:
•

a GP component

•

a Registrar component, and

•

a Rural Relocation Incentive Grant.

The program encourages medical
practitioners to practise in rural and remote
communities and promotes careers in
rural medicine.
Payments are scaled according to the
Australian Standard Geographical
Classification—Remoteness Area.
No payments were made in 2010–11 under the
Rural Relocation Incentive Grant as payments
were calculated retrospectively following
the 12-month period in which the medical
practitioner worked in the new location.

Table 15: General Practice Registrars’ Rural Incentive Payments Scheme

Number of medical practitioners paid
Number of payments made
Total amount paid
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2009–10

2010–11

change

664

696

+4.8%

1 248

873

–30.0%

$17.3 million

$8.1 million

–53.2%
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Table 16: General Practice Rural Incentives Program—GP component

2010–11
Number of medical practitioners paid

2 901

Number of payments made

3 000

Total amount paid

$53.8 million

Table 17: General Practice Rural Incentives Program—Registrar component

2010–11
Number of medical practitioners paid

505

Number of payments made

581

Total amount paid

$8.8 million

Hearing Services
Program
The Australian Government provides hearing
services and products to eligible people.
Medicare Australia processed and paid claims
to accredited hearing service contractors for
the Hearing Services Program on behalf of the
Office of Hearing Services, within DoHA.
The Office of Hearing Services manages the
program’s policy and eligibility criteria.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia processed
more than 1.1 million services and made
payments totalling $310.3 million to
accredited hearing service contractors.
This was an extra 70 211 services in 2010–11,
resulting in an additional $16.3 million in
payments to hearing contractors.
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Table 18: Hearing Services Program services and payments

2009–10

2010–11

change

Services processed1

1 099 690

1 169 901

+6.4%

Total amount paid2

$294.0 million

$310.3 million

+5.5%

1

Services provided to individuals.

2

Payments made to hearing contractors.

HECS
Reimbursement
Scheme
The HECS Reimbursement Scheme
encourages medical graduates to pursue
a career in rural medicine and increase the
number of doctors in rural and regional areas.
Access to health services in these
communities improved as more doctors
worked in these areas.

From 1 July 2010 the scheme scaled payments
to provide the greatest rewards for medical
practitioners working in the most remote
areas. The Australian Standard Geographical
Classification—Remoteness Area system is
used to define eligible areas.
In 2010–11 the total amount paid decreased.
Although the number of medical graduates
participating in the scheme increased, the
scaling of payments due to the change to
the remoteness classification resulted in
a reduction in the amount paid.

Under the scheme, eligible graduates who
completed their medical degree in 2000
or later have a proportion of their HECS
debt reimbursed for each year of training
undertaken or service provided in rural and
remote Australia.

Table 19: HECS Reimbursement Scheme

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of medical graduates paid

462

523

+13.2%

Number of payments made

826

873

+5.7%

$5.4 million

$5.3 million

–1.9%

Total amount paid1
1

Decrease in total amount paid as a result of scaled payment.
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Medical indemnity
The Australian Government’s medical
indemnity framework consists of five schemes
to strengthen the longer-term viability of
the medical insurance industry and create
an environment in which the industry can
operate successfully. This is achieved by
providing financial support to reduce the
impact of large claims and by making medical
indemnity insurance more affordable for
medical practitioners.
Medicare administers the schemes under
the Medical Indemnity Act 2002 and
associated legislation.

United Medical Protection
Support Payment
The United Medical Protection Support
Payment was introduced in 2002 when
United Medical Protection (now known as
Avant Insurance Limited) entered provisional
financial liquidation. The payment provides
ongoing assurance for medical professionals
who were members of United Medical
Protection on 30 June 2000, in the form of
indemnity for past incidents.

members of United Medical Protection
funding around one-third of the arrangement
over six years through the support payments
(formerly Incurred-But-Not-Reported Levy).
This contribution ratio was subsequently
reduced to four years. In 2008–09 the
United Medical Protection Support Payment
operated for the last time. One outstanding
debt is being recovered in instalments.

Incurred-But-Not-Reported
Indemnity Claims Scheme
Under the Incurred-But-Not-Reported
Indemnity Claims Scheme, the Government
covers the costs of claims from medical
defence organisations that do not have
adequate reserves to cover their liabilities.
United Medical Protection (now known as
Avant Insurance Limited) is the only medical
defence organisation actively participating
in the scheme. The scheme covers IncurredBut-Not-Reported indemnity claims and the
United Medical Protection Support Payment.
Ongoing costs associated with the scheme
are partly funded through a contribution
payment (the United Medical Protection
Support Payment) imposed on those people
who were members of United Medical
Protection on 30 June 2000.

To provide this assurance, the Government
agreed to fund most of these claims, with
Table 20: Incurred-But-Not-Reported Indemnity Claims Scheme

Number of claims received
Total benefits paid

2009–10

2010–11

change

184

125

–32.1%

$9.5 million

$13.4 million

+41.1%
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The reduction in claims received in 2010–11
is due to the demand-driven nature of this
scheme. For example, a number of years
can elapse between the date of a medical
incident and the date that legal action against
the practitioner is initiated. It may also take a
number of years to finalise a claim once it is
initiated and the costs of individual claims are
also variable. A small number of large claims
may significantly affect the overall cost of
the scheme.

High Cost Claims
Indemnity Scheme
Under the High Cost Claims Indemnity
Scheme, the Government funds 50 per cent
of the cost of medical indemnity insurance
payouts that are greater than the applicable
threshold amount, up to the limit of a medical
practitioner’s insurance cover. This scheme
has three threshold levels that depend on the
date the claim was first notified to the insurer.
Notification dates
(inclusive)
1 January to
21 October 2003

Threshold
amount

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia paid benefits
of $24.5 million for the 122 claims received.
The increase in claims received in 2010–11
reflects the demand-driven nature of this
scheme. The number of medical negligence
claims exceeding the scheme’s threshold
amount is only a small proportion of the
total number of medical negligence claims
occurring each year and can be expected to
vary from year to year. The total benefits paid
each year are also influenced by the amount of
each individual claim, which is highly variable.
A small number of claims may significantly
affect the overall cost of the scheme.

Exceptional Claims
Indemnity Scheme
Under the Exceptional Claims Indemnity
Scheme, medical practitioners are protected
against personal liability for eligible claims
that exceed the level of their insurance
cover. The scheme has two threshold levels
that depend on the date the claim was first
notified to the insurer. No claims have been
submitted against this scheme.

$2 000 000
Notification date

22 October to
31 December 2003

$500 000

On or after
1 January 2004

$300 000

Threshold
amount

1 January to
30 June 2003

$15 000 000

On or after
1 July 2003

$20 000 000

Table 21: High Cost Claims Indemnity Scheme claims processed

Number of claims received
Total benefits paid
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2009–10

2010–11

change

98

122

+24.5%

$21.4 million

$24.5 million

+14.5%
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Run-off Cover Scheme
Under the Run-off Cover Scheme, the
Government covers the cost of claims for
eligible doctors who have left the private
medical workforce. The Government uses
funds paid into the Run-off Cover Scheme by
medical indemnity insurers to cover incidents
that occur in connection with a doctor’s
practice as a medical practitioner. Indemnity
cover for eligible doctors will mirror the last
claims arrangement they had with their
medical indemnity insurer.

The reduction in Run-off Cover Scheme
claims is consistent with expected variances.
There will be a general increase in the number
of medical practitioners becoming eligible for
the scheme since it began in 2004. Medical
practitioners (or their estate) may become
eligible for the scheme when they cease
private medical practice, for example, through
retirement (after a three-year qualifying
period), maternity leave, transferring to
the public hospital system or death. Claims
numbers will vary based on the number of
medical incidents reported each year.

Table 22: Run-off Cover Scheme

Number of claims received
Total benefit paid

Run-off Cover Scheme
support payment
Under the Run-off Cover Scheme, the
Government guarantees funding for claims
against eligible medical practitioners who have
left the private medical workforce and been
provided with free run-off cover. The Run-off
Cover Scheme Support Payment is imposed
as a tax on each medical indemnity insurer for
each contribution year. This is used to fund
eligible claims made under the scheme. Under

2009–10

2010–11

change

28

25

–10.7%

$2.1 million

$4.6 million

+119.0%

the scheme, medical indemnity insurers will be
reimbursed implementation and compliance
costs under section 34ZN(1)(c) of the Medical
Indemnity Act 2002.
Administration fees are generally increased
annually—therefore it is expected these fees
will continue to rise in future years. There is
no expectation of any further applications for
implementation fees as all medical indemnity
insurers have been paid for developing and
implementing their IT systems.

Table 23: Run-off Cover Scheme Support Payment

Total implementation fees paid
Total administration fees paid

2009–10

2010–11

change

NIL

NIL

–

$0.8 million

$1.1 million

+37.5%
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Premium Support Scheme
Under the Premium Support Scheme,
eligible medical practitioners receive financial
assistance through a subsidised reduction in
their insurance premium costs. Insurers are
then reimbursed the subsidised amount.
The scheme ensures that if a doctor’s gross
medical indemnity costs exceed 7.5 per cent
of their gross private medical income, they
will pay 20 cents in the dollar for the cost of
the premium beyond that threshold limit.

Competitive Advantage
Payment scheme
Under the Competitive Advantage Payment
Scheme, medical indemnity insurers that
benefit from the Incurred-But-Not-Reported
Indemnity Claims Scheme are required to
make a payment to the Government that
reflects their level of competitive advantage.
In 2010–11 no competitive advantage
payments were made under the scheme.

Actual income is used as part of the formula
for determining medical practitioners’
eligibility for a subsidy under the scheme.
The 2010–11 figures are within the
expected variances.
Table 24: Premium Support Scheme participation and revenue

Total eligible practitioners
Total amount paid
Total administration fees
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2009–10

2010–11

change

2 439

2 191

–10.2%

$17.2 million

$13.1 million

–23.8%

$2.4 million

$2.5 million

+4.2%
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Mental Health Nurse
Incentive Program
The Mental Health Nurse Incentive Program
provides funding to community-based general
practices, private psychiatric practices and
other eligible organisations to engage mental
health nurses in providing coordinated clinical
care for people with severe and persistent
mental health disorders.

The increase in payments under the Mental
Health Nurse Incentive Program for 2010–11
was due to an increase in new organisations
registering for the initiative and the fact that
participating organisations had claimed more
weekly sessions.

Based on a set of defined criteria, GPs and
psychiatrists determine whether patients have
a severe mental health disorder and would
benefit from receiving mental health services
under this initiative.
Table 25: Mental Health Nurse Incentive Program

Number of practices that had participated at
30 June
Number of eligible organisations receiving
establishment payments
Incentive amounts paid
Establishment amounts paid
Total amount paid

2009–10

2010–11

change

629

777

+23.5%

66

69

+4.5%

$21.1 million

$27.4 million

+29.9%

$0.5 million

$0.5 million

+0.0%

$21.6 million

$27.9 million

+29.2%
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National Bowel
Cancer Screening
Register
The National Bowel Cancer Screening
Program aims to reduce the rate of incidence
of bowel cancer and mortality associated
with it.
The program offers testing to people turning
50 years of age between January 2008
and December 2010, and those turning 55
or 65 years of age between July 2008 and
December 2010.
Medicare administers the National Bowel
Cancer Screening Register on behalf of DoHA.
Medicare is responsible for:
•

identifying and inviting eligible
participants to screen using Medicare
and DVA enrolment files

•

issuing reminders to participants

•

recording participants’ screening and
detection histories

•

operating the information line for the
general public and health professionals

•

overseeing the mailing house services for
the program

•

making payments to medical
professionals for providing information
to the Register about consultations
and medical procedures for program
participants who have received positive
test results.

During 2010–11 Medicare Australia sent
invitations to 855 969 eligible people to
participate in the program.
DoHA suspended the program from May to
November 2009 due to a fault identified with
the self-test kits. The number of invitations
made in 2009–10 was lower than originally
anticipated due to the suspension.
The distribution of invitations was scheduled
to cease in December 2010 as part of the
wind-down of the second phase of the
program. However, the issuing of invitations
continued into 2011 as part of the catchup from the suspended program in 2009.
This resulted in an increase in invitations
distributed, faecal occult blood test (FOBT)
results processed and information line calls
received in 2010–11.

Table 26: National Bowel Cancer Screening Register

2009–10

2010–11

change

Invitations distributed

515 593

855 969

+66.0%

FOBT results processed

291 159

400 636

+37.6%

Replacement FOBT kits issued to remedial cohort

385 816

6 223

–98.4%

63 114

132 488

+109.9%

Information line calls received
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Practice Incentives
Program
The Practice Incentives Program (PIP)
encourages continuing improvements in
general practice through financial incentives
to support quality care and improve access
and health outcomes for patients. To be
eligible, practices must be accredited or
registered for accreditation against the Royal
Australian College of General Practitioners’
Standards for General Practices and maintain
full accreditation thereafter. Payments are in
addition to other income earned by GPs and

the practice, such as patient payments and
Medicare benefits.
Medicare administers the program on
behalf of DoHA, which has overall policy
responsibility for the program, including
determining eligibility criteria.
Practices can qualify for any or all of the
13 program incentives in Table 27.
At 30 June 2011, 4798 practices were
registered as participating in the program.
Incentive payments of approximately
$326.7 million were provided during 2010–11.

Table 27: Types of Practice Incentives Program payments

Payment type

Description

After hours

Incentive payments to encourage general practices to ensure their
patients have access to quality after-hours care.

Aged care access

Service Incentive Payments (SIPs) to GPs to encourage increased
and continuing services in Commonwealth-funded residential aged
care facilities.

Asthma

Sign-on payments to practices to encourage GPs to better manage
the clinical care of people with moderate to severe asthma.
SIPs to GPs for each asthma cycle of care completed for a patient with
moderate to severe asthma.

Cervical screening

Sign-on and outcomes payments to practices to encourage GPs to
screen under-screened women (i.e. women who have not had a cervical
smear in the last four years) and to increase overall screening rates.
SIPs to GPs for each cervical smear taken on an under-screened
woman between 20 and 69 years of age.

Diabetes

Sign-on and outcomes payments to practices to encourage GPs to
provide earlier diagnosis and effective management of people with
established diabetes mellitus.
SIPs to GPs for completing an annual diabetes cycle of care.
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Payment type

Description

Domestic violence

Incentive payments to encourage general practices in rural and
remote areas to act as a referral point for women experiencing
domestic violence.

eHealth

Incentive payments to encourage the adoption of new eHealth
technology as it becomes available to assist practices in improving
administration processes and the quality of care provided to patients.

Indigenous health

Payments to practices to provide better health care for Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander patients, including best practice management of
chronic disease.

Practice nurse

Incentive payments to practices in rural and remote areas or eligible
urban areas of workforce shortage and to Aboriginal Medical
Services, to support them to employ a practice nurse, Aboriginal
health worker and/or allied health worker (urban areas only).

Procedural GP
payment

Incentive payments to practices to encourage rural GPs to provide
procedural services.

Quality prescribing

Payments to practices to encourage them to keep up-to-date with
information on the quality use of medicines by participation in a range
of activities recognised or provided by the National Prescribing Service.

Rural loading

A rural loading is applied to the PIP payments of practices where the
main location is outside a capital city or other major metropolitan area.

Teaching

Incentive payments to practices to encourage them to provide
teaching sessions to undergraduate medical students, to ensure the
practitioners of tomorrow are appropriately trained and have actual
experience of general practice.
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Table 28: Practice Incentives Program services

2009–10

2010–11

change

4 881

4 798

–1.7%

Tier 1—ensures all regular practice
patients have access to care from a doctor,
24 hours a day, seven days a week.

4 643

4 469

–3.7%

Tier 2—practices with a Standardised
Whole Patient Equivalent (SWPE) value
of 2000 or less must provide at least
10 hours of after-hours care for regular
practice patients.

2 936

2 784

–5.2%

1 301

1 214

–6.7%

231

291

+26.0%

240

290

+20.8%

3 306

3 159

–4.4%

237

300

+26.6%

2 129

2 157

+1.3%

3 830

4 189

+9.4%

853

1 275

+49.5%

23 904

–

110

1 616

+1369.1%

2 451

2 569

+4.8%

Procedural GP4

656

321

–51.1%

Quality prescribing

959

761

–20.6%

Number of practices participating at the time
of the May quarterly payment calculation
After hours

Practices with a SWPE value of more
than 2000 must provide at least 15
hours of after-hours care for regular
practice patients.
Tier 3—provides all after-hours care for
regular practice patients, 24 hours a
day, seven days a week.
Asthma
Sign-on1
Cervical screening
Sign-on1
Outcomes2
Diabetes
Sign-on1
Outcomes

2

eHealth
Indigenous Health
Sign-on1
Patient registrations3
Outcomes2
Practice nurse
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2009–10

2010–11

change

989

951

–3.8%

130 124

168 063

+29.2%

217

260

+19.8%

6

50 681

+3.5%

$253.6 million

$326.7 million

+28.8%

Teaching
Number of teaching sessions
Domestic violence
5

48 951

Service Incentive Payments
Asthma
Cervical
Diabetes
Aged Care Access Incentive
Total amount paid at 30 June7
1

Sign-on figures show the number of new practices that signed on for the incentive in the 2010–11 financial year.

2

Outcome payments are made to practices that had reached the specified target level required to receive the
incentive under the program.
3
Patient registrations for the Indigenous Health Incentive were not reported for 2009–10, due to the incentive
commencing in May 2010. Figures provided are based on the number of patients registered between 1 January and
31 December 2010.
4
This is the number of practices participating at February 2011. This is now a bi-annual payment (February and
August) after changes were introduced in 2009–10.
5
Service Incentive Payments (SIPs) included unique providers who had received a payment for the Aged Care Access
Incentive, the Asthma Incentive, the Cervical Screening Incentive and the Diabetes Incentive.
6

This is the total number of payments for SIPs which included asthma, diabetes, cervical and also includes the SIP
Aged Care Incentive Payment.
7

The total amount paid for 2009–10 increased by $24.3 million to include SIPs.

Note: Key business results included additional information relating to the following:
•

After hours—amendments to the 10 and 15-hour categories

•

Cervical screening—addition of sign-on and outcomes payments

•

Diabetes—addition of sign-on and outcomes payments

•

Services Incentive Payments—additional reporting categories.

Overall the number of practices participating
in the program decreased in comparison to
last year’s figures. This is due to practices
being removed for failing to return their
annual Confirmation Statement.

due to fewer practices meeting the eligibility
requirements and required target levels.
Procedural GP payments were based on
procedural service activity (procedural MBS
items) target levels.

The Procedural GP Payment and the Quality
Prescribing Incentives payments were paid to
practices that met the required target levels.
The decrease in the number of practices that
received a payment for these incentives was

The Quality Prescribing Incentive payment
rewarded participating practices that
performed a range of activities recognised
by the National Prescribing Service.
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Rural Procedural
Grants Program

For emergency medicine GPs in ASGC—RA
2–5 the program provides a grant for the cost
of up to three days of training, to a total of
$6000 per GP per financial year.
Eligibility for the Rural Procedural Grants
Program is determined by the Australian College
of Rural and Remote Medicine and the Royal
Australian College of General Practitioners.

The Rural Procedural Grants Program
gives financial assistance to GPs who
provide procedural or emergency medicine
services in rural and remote areas to attend
training courses on both maintaining and
improving skills.

The Rural Procedural Grants Program is driven
by demand.

For procedural GPs in Australian Standard
Geographical Classification—Remoteness
Area (ASGC—RA) 2–5 the program provides a
grant for the cost of up to 10 days of training,
to a total of $20 000 per GP per financial year.

In 2010–11 the total amount paid decreased
due in part to providers not taking full
advantage of the maximum 10 days of
training available to GPs under this program.

Table 29: Rural Procedural Grants Program

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of GPs paid

1 552

1 633

+5.2%

Number of payments made

3 635

3 937

+8.3%

$16.1 million

$15.7 million

–2.5%

Total amount paid

Rural Locum
Education Assistance
Program
The Rural Locum Education Assistance
Program provides payments to urban GPs
who undertake emergency medicine training
and who commit to undertaking a four-week

rural locum placement within two years of the
first payment. In 2010–11 a maximum of 105
providers could have participated compared
with a maximum of 30 providers that could
have participated in 2009–10.

Table 30: Rural Locum Education Assistance Program

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of providers allowed to participate

30

105

+250%

Number of GPs paid

15

70

+366.7%

Number of payments made

24

95

+295.8%

$76 000

$371 000

+388.2%

Total amount paid
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Rural Retention
Program

•

The Rural Retention Program (RRP) provided
incentive payments to increase recruitment
and retention of GPs in rural and remote
Australia. The RRP recognised and rewarded
the contribution of GPs who practised in
rural and remote areas. These communities
benefited through improved access to general
practice services and continuity of health care.
The program consisted of two components:
•

a Central Payments System administered
by Medicare Australia which assessed
eligibility using doctors’ Medicare and
DVA service data. Payments were based
on Medicare Australia records of eligible
services provided in eligible rural locations

a Flexible Payments System administered
by Medicare Australia and Rural
Workforce Agencies based in the
states and the Northern Territory. This
component catered for doctors who
were not billing Medicare and those
working in Aboriginal Medical Services,
Royal Flying Doctor Services or as statesalaried doctors. Payment amounts were
provided by Rural Workforce Agencies
and paid by Medicare Australia.

Final payments under the program were
made in November 2010, with the RRP being
replaced by the GP component of the new
General Practice Rural Incentives Program.
In 2010–11 the total amount paid decreased
which reflected the closure of the program in
October 2010.

Table 31: Rural Retention Program

Number of payments made
Total amount paid1

2009–10

2010–11

change

2 362

1 116

–52.8%

$24.6 million

$0.8 million

–96.7%

1
The Rural Retention Program ceased in October 2010. Payments of approximately $10.7 million were made in
2010–11, however $9.9 million was paid for eligibility periods in 2009–10, and are included in the 2009–10 result.
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30% Rebate on
Private Health
Insurance

•

a direct cash payment at a Medicare
office—the Incentive Payments Scheme

•

a tax offset in annual income tax returns.

The 30% Rebate on Private Health Insurance
provides reimbursement or a discount of
30 per cent of the cost of private health
insurance cover. It is available to all Australians
who were eligible for Medicare and have a
complying health insurance policy.

The authority for the rebates and Medicare’s
responsibilities for them are set out in the
Private Health Insurance Act 2007.

Medicare administers the first two methods
of claiming the rebates, and the Australian
Taxation Office administers the third.

During 2010–11 the number of registered
health fund memberships increased by
3.5 per cent. Cash claims paid directly by
Medicare Australia to individuals decreased
by 4.5 per cent to $2.1 million and the
total health fund payments increased
to $4.7 billion, which is an increase of
9.3 per cent.

The rebate is 35 per cent for people between
65 to 69 years of age and 40 per cent for
people 70 years of age and over.
The rebates can be claimed in one of
three ways:
•

The total amount paid for the private health
insurance rebate increased in 2010–11.
This variance was due to a larger volume
of memberships being registered and an
increase in premium costs.

an up-front reduction in the cost
of the premium—the Premium
Reduction Scheme

Table 32: 30% Rebate on Private Health Insurance

2009–10

2010–11

change

5.7 million

5.9 million

+3.5%

Total paid in cash claims

$2.2 million

$2.1 million

–4.5%

Total paid to health funds

$4.3 billion

$4.7 billion

+9.3%

Number of memberships registered
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Medicare office
network
Medicare services are delivered from a network
of offices located throughout Australia. They
provide the public with convenient access to
a full range of services, including:
•

processing of enrolments and
registrations

•

payments of claims through EFT, cheque
and cash

•

lodgment of participating health
fund claims under Medicare two-way
arrangements

•

processing of claims for the 30% Rebate
on Private Health Insurance

•

benefits under the PBS

•

statements for the Australian Childhood
Immunisation Register

•

lodgment of Australian Organ Donor
Register registration forms.

In addition to normal business hours, 117 of
the 242 Medicare offices are open 9 am to
12.30 pm Saturdays, 18 are open until
6 pm and 31 are open until 7 pm one evening
each week.
Work progressed to refurbish Medicare
offices so they can offer an open plan design,
customer meeting rooms, self-service zones
and appropriate amenities for employees.
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Medicare offices generally use a ticketing
system and queue management software to
record and report on all transactions, including
volumes, types and time to complete.
This system allows managers to best use
employees, identify trends in requirements
and tailor employee training effectively to
better meet the needs of the public.

Medicare services
added to Centrelink
offices
Medicare services have been made available
in Centrelink locations, as part of the reform
of service delivery, to provide greater access
to services for rural and regional Australians.
Customers in these locations can use the
self-service phone to access the Medicare
tele-claiming service to claim their Medicare
benefits. The sites also offer Medicare
online services via the Centrelink self-service
computers so customers can view and print
their Medicare claims history, Medicare Safety
Net balance, tax benefit statement, and organ
and/or tissue donor registration details.
When Medicare services are added to an
existing Centrelink office, customer Medicare
benefits are paid by EFT directly into the
customer’s nominated bank account (this is
a non‑cash service).
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Medical and
pharmaceutical
advisers
Medicare Australia employed more than
50 doctors and pharmacists to provide
professional advice both within Medicare
Australia and to external stakeholders.
These advisers met regularly with health
professional organisations, and regulatory
and registration authorities across Australia
to discuss issues, and provided extensive
knowledge and expertise in support of
a range of activities, including:
•

improving the quality and national
consistency of the information Medicare
Australia provided to its stakeholders

•

responding to requests for advice

•

conducting interviews under the
Practitioner Review Program

•

helping to interpret and assess
complex claims

•

helping to develop education products

•

delivering education to various
forums, including events run by health
professional organisations such as
Australian General Practice Accreditation
Limited (AGPAL), Royal Australian
College of General Practitioners (RACGP)
GP’09, Rural Medicine Australia and the
Australasian College of Dermatologists.

DHS will continue this advisory service.
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Performance
highlights
•

201.5 million services were processed
under the Pharmaceutical Benefits
Scheme (PBS) and the Repatriation
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (RPBS).
Total benefits paid equalled $9.5 billion.

•

In line with government policy, the PBS
Safety Net thresholds are adjusted from
1 January each year—in 2010–11 the
general threshold was $1317.20 and the
concession threshold was $336.00.

•

The number of approved suppliers grew
by 0.8 per cent from 5402 in 2009–10
to 5444 in 2010–11.

•

The Fifth Community Pharmacy
Agreement came into effect on
1 July 2010. Medicare Australia was
involved in implementing 11 initiatives
under the agreement.

•

Under the National Health Care
Agreement, the Australian Government,
states and territories reformed the
supply of pharmaceutical benefits to
eligible patients in public hospitals.
At 30 June 2011 there were 149 public
hospitals under these arrangements.

•

More than 97 per cent of pharmacies
were using Online Claiming for PBS.
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Improving access to medicines during
the floods

Medicare Australia played an important
part in the Australian Government response
to the Queensland and Victorian floods
that occurred in early 2011.
Medicare Australia worked closely with the
Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA),
the Australian Medical Association and
the Pharmacy Guild of Australia to assist
health professionals and patients affected
by the floods.
To ensure there were no disruptions to the
supply of PBS medicines to people affected
by the floods, employees made sure
pharmacists and prescribers were aware
of existing processes in place to help them
during the crisis.
The PBS enquiries line continued to operate
24 hours a day, 7 days a week providing
ongoing support to health professionals.

Temporary prescription arrangements
were introduced to allow a treatment for
patients who had contracted skin infections
following contact with contaminated
flood water to be prescribed for any skin
infection without having to wait on test
results. This allowed quicker access to
treatment for affected people.
As a Medicare officer, Natalia, said: ‘It
was great to be able to contribute during
the floods.
‘When the call went out asking for people
to work the 11 pm to 7 am shift I jumped
at the opportunity to do what I could to
help out.
‘It was a very rewarding experience.’
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Pharmaceutical
Benefits Scheme
The PBS subsidises the cost of listed
prescription medicines, making them more
affordable for all Australians and eligible
overseas visitors. Around 80 per cent of
prescriptions dispensed in Australia are
subsidised under the PBS.
Under the RPBS, eligible veterans, war widows
and widowers can access some additional
medicines and dressings at concession rates
and, if clinically justified, items not listed in
either the PBS or RPBS schedules.
The Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA)
develops program policy for the PBS and
managed the scheme, including the Schedule
of Pharmaceutical Benefits. The Department
of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) develops policy for
the RPBS.

Medicare administers the PBS and the
RPBS—processing pharmacists’ claims,
approving authority prescriptions, approving
pharmacists and certain doctors to supply PBS
medicines, and approving private hospitals
and participating public hospitals to supply
PBS medicines to eligible patients.
In 2010–11 there were approximately
201.5 million services processed under the
PBS and RPBS, representing approximately
$9.5 billion in benefits.
RPBS services processed in 2010–11
decreased by 3.6 per cent. Expenditure in
pharmaceuticals for this particular customer
group was expected to decline due to the
declining treatment population. However,
it was anticipated that this effect would be
softened by the use of higher cost medicines
as individual clinical needs increased due to
an ageing population.

Table 33: PBS expenditure

2009–10

2010–11

change

$7.8 billion

$8.9 billion

+14.1%

$485.3 million

$508.1 million

+4.7%

Total benefits paid

$8.3 billion

$9.5 billion

+14.5%

PBS services processed1

183.9 million

188.3 million

+2.4%

RPBS services processed2

13.8 million

13.3 million

–3.6%

197.7 million

201.5 million

+1.9%

1

PBS benefits paid

RPBS benefits paid2

Total services processed

1
Including $708.6 million paid under the Electronic Claiming for Highly Specialised Drugs in Public Hospitals Program
which commenced on 1 July 2010.
2

Payments processed on behalf of DVA.
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Total PBS and RPBS benefits paid and services
processed in 2010–11 have increased by
14.5 per cent and 1.9 per cent respectively.
These figures represent almost a doubling of
the total percentage increases in 2009–10.

Schedule of
Pharmaceutical Benefits
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia introduced
additional administrative practices for
new PBS medicines listed monthly by the
Australian Government.

Highly Specialised
Drugs Program
Medicare administers the Highly Specialised
Drugs Program and from 1 July 2010 provided
an online paperless electronic claiming and
payment process, through Online Claiming
for PBS, for all public hospitals supplying
Highly Specialised Drugs. Highly Specialised
Drugs are medicines for the treatment of
chronic conditions which, because of their
clinical use or other special features, are
restricted to supply through public or private
hospitals having access to appropriate
specialist facilities. Highly Specialised Drugs
are listed under section 100 of the Schedule
of Pharmaceutical Benefits.

PBS eligiblity
The two levels of eligibility for the PBS are the
general rate and the concession rate. At the
general rate, a person paid a co-payment of
up to $34.20 for their prescription medicine
and at the concession rate they paid $5.60.
These figures are adjusted annually on
1 January, in line with the consumer price
index, and do not cover costs for more
expensive brands of medicines.
To receive subsidised medicines through
the PBS, a person must show their current
Medicare card each time they have a
prescription filled.
To receive prescriptions at the concession rate
through the PBS or RPBS, a person must show
their concession card issued by Centrelink
or DVA when the medicine is dispensed.
This ensures that only eligible people receive
subsidised medicines and that they pay the
correct amount.
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PBS Safety Net
Medicare also administers the PBS Safety Net
which is adjusted annually. The Safety Net
subsidises people who spend a large amount
on prescription medicines in a calendar year.
The thresholds are adjusted from
1 January each year. The 2011 general
threshold was $1317.20 and the concession
threshold (for people holding a concession
card from Centrelink or DVA) was $336.00.

Patients pay extra for more expensive brands
of medicines.
To qualify for the Safety Net, people need to
keep a record of all PBS medicines supplied
to them or their families. They can either
get a prescription record form from their
pharmacist to present whenever they have
a PBS prescription filled or, if they have a
preferred pharmacist, they can ask their
pharmacist to keep an electronic record.

After reaching the relevant threshold, a
person can apply for a PBS Safety Net card.
Once a card is issued:

PBS processing

•

general patients then pay the
concession co-payment rate for their
PBS prescriptions

•

concession cardholders receive their PBS
prescriptions for free for the remainder
of the calendar year.

The table below shows deliverables
and key performance indicators relating
to the administration of the PBS and
associated programs.

Table 34: Program deliverables

Deliverables and key performance indicators

2009–10

2010–11

Claims processed accurately

98.4%

98.2%

Claims processed within timeframe2

94.8%

79.4%

PBS claims submitted online

98.8%

99.09%

Community pharmacy applications referred to the Australian
Community Pharmacy Authority (ACPA) within nine days of
registration by Medicare Australia (from October 2010)

–

97.7%

Applicants approved to supply PBS medicines were
advised within five days of the decision being made
(from October 2010)

–

100%

1

1

Target >=98%.

2

Target 100%. The decrease in 2010–11 was due to a number of factors, including the closure of processing centres
in Queensland due to the January floods, and the processing of more than 4000 bulk bill adjustments for Closing
the Gap Safety Net recording fee.
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Online Claiming
for PBS

Approving suppliers
of PBS medicines

Since the implementation of Online
Claiming for PBS in mid-2006, the uptake
of pharmacies using the system for online
claiming has remained consistently high.
At 30 June 2011 there were 5317 pharmacies
using Online Claiming for PBS. This represents
over 97 per cent of pharmacies. The system
had an average system response time of
approximately two seconds.

Under sections 90, 92 and 94 of the
National Health Act 1953, Medicare can
grant approvals to pharmacies, medical
practitioners and hospital authorities to
supply PBS medicines. An application
made under section 90 must be referred to
ACPA to determine whether it satisfies the
requirements of the Pharmacy Location Rules.

Authority required
prescriptions

At 30 June 2011 there were 5444 approved
suppliers, including community pharmacies,
approved doctors and participating public
and private hospitals. Community pharmacies
made up 95 per cent of this total.

Authority required medications are listed
in the Schedule of Pharmaceutical Benefits
for specific uses and require prior approval
from Medicare before they are prescribed
to patients. The criteria for approval is
determined by the Pharmaceutical Benefits
Advisory Committee. This committee
recommends to the Australian Government
through the Minister for Health and Ageing
which medicines should be made available
as pharmaceutical benefits. An authority
prescription also gives prescribers
a mechanism to prescribe an increased
quantity or number of repeats of PBS/RPBS
medicines to treat an individual patient.
Table 35: Authority items listed on the PBS

2009–10

2010–11

Restricted to use for a particular condition or purpose

1 903

2 334

Listed as authority required

1 092

1 477

291

652

Listed as streamlined authorities
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Table 36: Approvals

2009–10

2010–11

436

524

– applications recommended for approval

281

296

– applications not recommended for approval

119

175

36

53

Section 90 new or relocated community pharmacies

262

199

Section 90 change of pharmacy ownership

453

501

Section 92 medical practitioners

14

24

Section 94 hospitals

14

24

– private hospitals

7

8

– public hospitals participating in the pharmaceutical reforms

7

16

5 088

5 167

53

39

261

238

84

89

177

149

Section 90 applications
Applications (new or relocated community pharmacies) referred
to ACPA:

– applications withdrawn by the applicant
Approvals granted

Approved suppliers of PBS medicines at 30 June
Section 90 community pharmacies
Section 92 approved medical practitioners
Section 94 approved hospitals
– private hospitals
– public hospitals participating in the pharmaceutical reforms

The number of section 90 applications
increased from 436 in 2009–10 to 524
in 2010–11.
•

97.7 per cent of applications were
referred to ACPA seven to nine working
days after registration.

•

100 per cent of applications
recommended by ACPA were advised
within three to five working days of the
decision to approve.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

•

In 2010–11 there were four litigation
cases related to the pharmacy approval
process. Of those, one resulted in
a positive outcome for the Australian
Government and three matters
were ongoing.
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Indigenous people’s
access to the PBS
Medicare continues to administer the
PBS arrangements in remote Indigenous
communities, via the Aboriginal
Health Service and some state-funded
health services.
These arrangements under section 100 of the
National Health Act 1953 make prescription
medicines accessible at more than 165 remote
area health services across the Northern
Territory, Queensland, South Australia,
Western Australia and Tasmania.
The PBS co-payment measure, a key element
of the Australian Government’s Indigenous
Chronic Disease Package, helps Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander patients living with
chronic disease or at risk of it, with the cost
of PBS medicines. From 1 July 2010 eligible
patients received their medicine free of
charge, or paid the general concessional
payment rate of $5.60.

Community
Pharmacy
Agreement
The Fifth Community Pharmacy Agreement
is an agreement between the Australian
Government and the Pharmacy Guild
of Australia. The agreement began on
1 July 2010 and runs for five years. It
recognises the role played by community
pharmacy in health care through the delivery
of PBS medicines and related services.
The agreement focuses on improving the
use of medicines, supports rural pharmacies
and their workforce, and provides incentives
to pharmacies based on the delivery of high
quality patient services. Medicare Australia
supported the implementation of a number
of initiatives.
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Table 37: Initiatives covered by the Fifth Community Pharmacy Agreement

Initiative

Description

Aboriginal Health Services—
Pharmacy Support Payment

For pharmacy owners to provide services to Aboriginal
health services in rural and remote locations in Australia.
The fee increased from $2.69 to $2.74 on 1 July 2010 and
will increase annually for the term of the agreement.

Freezing the Annual Indexing of
the Pharmacy Dispensing Fee

Fee arrangements have been frozen for the first two years
of the agreement from 1 July 2010.

Restructure of Remuneration for
Section 94 Private Hospitals

Changes to the wholesale and retail mark-up of section 85
PBS medicines for section 94 private hospitals from
1 October 2010. This initiative changes the mark-up to a
flat rate arrangement of 11.1 per cent wholesale mark-up
and 1.4 per cent retail mark-up.

Premium Free Dispensing
Incentive Payment

A payment to approved suppliers for each substitutable
brand dispensed where a premium does not apply. A fee of
$1.56 has been paid from 1 August 2010.

Online Claiming for PBS—
40 Cent Incentive Payment

The online claiming incentive continued to be paid to
approved public hospitals from 1 July 2010 for:
•

all PBS and RPBS prescriptions supplied and claimed via
Online Claiming for PBS by approved public hospitals
participating in the pharmaceutical reforms and

•

Highly Specialised Drugs supplied and claimed via
Online Claiming for PBS by approved public hospitals
not participating in the pharmaceutical reforms.

Electronic Prescription Fee

A payment to approved suppliers of $0.15 for each eligible
electronic prescription that has been downloaded from a
Prescription Exchange Service and supplied after
1 July 2010.

Home Medicines Review

For accredited pharmacists to review patients’ medication
regimes on the request of the patient, medical practitioner
or carer.

Residential Medication
Management Reviews

For accredited pharmacists to review the medication
of eligible patients who are residents of Australian
Government-funded aged care homes.

Rural Pharmacy Maintenance
Allowance

To encourage pharmacy owners to remain in designated
rural and remote locations in Australia.
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Pharmaceutical
reforms in public
hospitals
Under the National Health Care Agreement,
the Australian Government, states and
territories have reformed the supply of
pharmaceutical benefits to eligible patients
in public hospitals. Eligible patients include:
•

admitted patients on discharge

•

outpatients

•

day patients accessing chemotherapy
drugs.

Participating hospitals are required to adopt
the Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory
Council guidelines on the continuum of
pharmaceutical care between the hospital
and the community.
The pharmaceutical reforms have been widely
adopted across Victoria, Queensland, the
Northern Territory, South Australia, Western
Australia and Tasmania. At 30 June 2011
Medicare Australia had approved a total
of 149 public hospitals under these
arrangements (47 in Queensland, 69 in
Victoria, 16 in Western Australia, eight in
South Australia, five in the Northern Territory
and four in Tasmania).
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Performance
highlights
•

On 1 July 2010 Medicare Australia
commenced operating the Healthcare
Identifiers Service (HI Service), setting
down the foundations for the national
eHealth agenda.

•

On 2 May 2011 Medicare Australia
published the ‘click through’ License
Agreement—Use of the Healthcare
Identifiers Licensed Material for Notice
of Connection on the Medicare Australia
website, allowing software vendors to
accept the terms and conditions for the
official Healthcare Identifiers licensed
material online.

•

2585 residential aged care services
and 437 community aged care services
transmitted claims online.

•

Medicare Australia successfully
implemented the new Aged Care
Education and Training Incentive
Program. The program provides
incentives to aged care workers who
undertake further studies to enhance
their career as a personal care worker,
an enrolled nurse or a registered nurse
within the aged care sector.

•

•

In its first year of operation, the
Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House resulted in 4781
employers making superannuation
contributions for 32 269 employees.
Feedback received from employers was
extremely positive with 99 per cent of
employers surveyed saying they would
recommend the Clearing House to other
small businesses. 96 600 employee
contributions were processed free of
charge for small businesses.
On 3 February 2011 Medicare
Australia became responsible for
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providing program delivery for the
Early Release of Superannuation
Benefits on Specified Compassionate
Grounds under delegation and
direction from the Australian
Prudential Regulation Authority.

Aged care
The Department of Health and Ageing
(DoHA) administers policy under the Aged
Care Act 1997, while Medicare manages the
payment of subsidies and supplements to
approved aged care providers. It does this on
behalf of DoHA and DVA to help aged care
providers deliver cost-effective, quality care
for frail, older people and support for their
carers. Medicare’s role is to provide timely
and accurate payments, with a focus on
service and administrative efficiency.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia processed
and paid:
•

residential aged care subsidies and
associated supplements for high level to
low level residential care

•

residential respite care subsidies and
associated supplements for short-term
high level and low level residential care
to give carers relief from their caring role

•

Community Aged Care Package (CACP)
subsidies to support people with low
level complex health needs and their
carers, to enable them to remain
at home

•

flexible aged care subsidies, including:
––

extended aged care at home (EACH)
subsidies to support people with
high level complex health needs
and their carers, to enable them
to remain at home
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––

EACH dementia subsidies for
dementia-specific support to people
with high level complex health
needs and their carers, to enable
them to remain at home

––

subsidies for short-term
rehabilitation care after—care in
hospital—pending access to longer
term care if required.

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia processed
33 033 residential claims, 13 650 CACP claims
and 9073 flexible care claims. These made up
about $9 billion in aged care benefits.

Table 38: Aged care

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of residential claims processed

33 876

33 033

–2.5%

Number of CACP claims processed

13 654

13 650

0%

6 907

8 029

+16.2%

993

1 044

+5.1%

7 900

9 073

+14.8%

55 430

55 756

+0.6%

$8.1 billion

1

$9.0 billion

+11.1%

Number of residential aged care services
(aged care homes)2

2 782

2 774

–0.3%

Number of CACP services
(facilities providing CACPs)

1 147

1 203

+4.9%

674

930

+38.0%

2 614

3 022

+15.6%

Flexible care claims:
– EACH (including dementia-specific EACH)
– Transition care
Total flexible care claims processed
Total claims processed
Total amount paid

Number of flexible care services
(facilities providing EACH and transition care)
Number of active services transmitting
(online claiming)
1

Including $1.2 billion paid on behalf of DVA.

2

Number of residential aged care services decreased in 2009–10 due to consolidation of multiple services on the one site.
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Aged Care online claiming
Medicare Australia continued to work with
the aged care sector to promote online
claiming. The Online Claiming Take-up
Strategy includes:
•

a choice of channels to electronically
lodge data

•

active engagement with aged care
providers, services and software vendors

•

engagement with aged care peak
bodies.

Medicare Australia worked closely with
software vendors to integrate online claiming
functionality into their software products.
At 30 June 2011, 19 software vendors had
developed an integrated solution for aged
care online claiming and had received Notice
of Integration.
At 30 June 2011, 3479 residential and
community aged care services had registered
for online claiming. This represents
87.5 per cent of the total number of
residential and community aged care services.
Of these, 3022 aged care residential and
community services were transmitting online
via the online claiming or web form channels.

At 30 June 2011, 79 (72.5 per cent) aged
care assessment teams were transmitting
assessment and approval records. A total
of 118 802 electronic records were received
in 2010–11.

Aged Care Education
and Training Incentive
Program
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia
implemented administrative arrangements to
process applications and make payments on
behalf of DoHA for the Aged Care Education
and Training Incentive Program.
The new program provides financial incentives
to eligible care workers to help them
undertake further studies to enhance their
career as a personal care worker, an enrolled
nurse or a registered nurse within the aged
care sector. In 2010–11 Medicare Australia
processed and paid $4.8 million in incentive
payments. A total of 5984 incentive claims
were processed (both on commencement
and completion of the studies).
Table 39: Aged Care Education and Training
Incentive

2010–11

Electronic Aged Care
Client Record project
Medicare Australia supported state
government aged care assessment teams to
electronically transmit their assessment and
approval records for older Australians before
receiving government-funded care. The aim
of the project is to provide immediate and
secure electronic transmission of the client’s
Aged Care Client Record for processing.
This information is made available to other
authorised recipients (aged care assessment
teams and service providers) for assessing and
providing care for older Australians.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

Vocational education and
training courses

2 581

Enrolled nurse training
courses

1 506

Registered nurse training
courses
Total incentive claims
processed1
Total amount paid
1

582
5 984
$4.8 million

Total number of claims on both commencement
and completion.
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Healthcare Identifiers
Service

•

The Australian, state and territory governments’
eHealth agenda is to ‘introduce an improved
health system for all Australians by transforming
the way information is used to plan, manage
and deliver healthcare services through the
development of a world class electronic health
capability’, as set out in the National Partnership
Agreement on E-Health.

From 1 July 2010 the HI Service has been
assigning healthcare identifiers to individuals,
healthcare organisations and individual
healthcare providers.

The key objective of the HI Service is to
provide a national capability that accurately
and uniquely identifies individuals and
healthcare providers, using 16-digit numbers
referred to as healthcare identifiers.
This enables reliable healthcare-related
communication between individuals,
providers and provider organisations.
There are three types of healthcare identifiers:
•

•

Individual Healthcare Identifier (IHI)—
allocated to all individuals enrolled in
the Medicare program or those who
were issued with a DVA treatment card,
and others who sought healthcare
in Australia.
Healthcare Provider Identifier–Individual
(HPI–I)—allocated to individual
healthcare providers involved in
providing patient care.

Healthcare Provider Identifier–
Organisation (HPI–O)—allocated to
organisations (such as a hospital
or medical clinic) where healthcare
is provided.

Under the Healthcare Identifiers Act 2010,
in 2010–11 the Chief Executive Officer of
Medicare Australia was defined as the HI
Service Operator. During 2010–11, the first year
of operations in this role, Medicare Australia:
•

handled customer enquiries, including
providing individuals with their
healthcare identifier upon request

•

provided assistance and ongoing
support to healthcare organisations
and individual healthcare providers
registering with the HI Service

•

worked closely with the medical
software vendor industry to facilitate
the development of software products
to interact with the HI Service.

Healthcare identifiers are an important building
block to enable the Personally Controlled
Electronic Health Record (PCEHR) system.
The PCEHR system, which is expected to be
available from mid-2012, will use healthcare
identifiers as a way to make sure the right
information is attached to the right record.

Table 40: Healthcare Identifiers

2010–11
Individual Healthcare Identifier

24 million

Healthcare Provider Identifier—Individual
Healthcare Provider Identifier—Organisation

0.52 million1
170

1
Total number of individual healthcare provider identifiers either collected from AHPRA or assigned to individual
healthcare providers who applied directly to the HI Service Operator during 2010–11.
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IHIs are automatically allocated by the HI
Service Operator to all individuals enrolled
in the Medicare program or registered with
DVA. IHIs continued to be allocated for new
Medicare enrolments, registrations with DVA,
and others seeking healthcare in Australia.

Delivery of climate change
and environmental
programs

Individual healthcare providers not registered
with AHPRA apply directly to the HI Service
Operator for their HPI–Is.

During 2010–11 Medicare Australia delivered
payment, reimbursement and administrative
functions on behalf of the Department
of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency
(DCCEE). This included measures under the
Green Loans Program—the Green Rewards
Scheme, Financial Assistance Scheme and
Training Assistance Scheme, as well as the
Home Insulation Program component of the
Energy Efficient Homes Package which was
previously administered by the Department of
Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.

Organisations apply directly to the HI Service
Operator for HPI–Os.

Medicare Australia delivered these programs
through a series of service agreements.

Allocation of HPI–Is is facilitated through
the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation
Agency (AHPRA) for their individual
healthcare providers. The agency provides
the HI Service with registrant details and
identifiers to record in the system.

Green Rewards Scheme

Additional services
delivered by
Medicare Australia
Medicare Australia had broad capability to
provide payment and information services
beyond health services. By leveraging
existing networks, telephony, payment
services, systems and processes, Medicare
Australia could receive applications and
deliver payments in a timely and efficient
manner while ensuring program guidelines
were met across a range of industries. This
capability was used to deliver environmental,
superannuation and families programs.

The Green Rewards Scheme component
of the Green Loans Program provided a
rebate of up to $50 to eligible householders
that had a Green Loans home sustainability
assessment completed on or before
11 May 2010. The rebate helped with the
purchase of energy and water efficiency
products from an approved list.

Training Assistance Scheme
The Training Assistance Scheme began in
March 2011, to assist accredited assessors of the
Green Loans Program to further develop their
professional skills and credentials by gaining a
Certificate IV in Home Sustainability Assessment
(Cert IV HSA). Participants were able to claim
50 per cent of course costs up to $2500.
In 2011 Medicare Australia entered into a
service arrangement with DCCEE to provide
payment services to eligible individuals.
Lodgment of applications opened on
1 March 2011 and will be available until
May 2012.
There were seven Registered Training
Organisations listed to provide the
Certificate IV Home Sustainability Course.
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They were expected to offer the course later
in 2011. Payments will be made following the
receipt and assessment of claims.

Financial Assistance Scheme
The Financial Assistance Scheme began in
March 2011 to assist people who undertook
the necessary steps to become Green Loans
assessors, but were not contracted to deliver
services under the Green Loans Program.
This scheme provided up to $3000 to cover
a number of specified costs incurred during
the accreditation process.
Lodgment of applications opened on
1 March 2011 and closed on 3 May 2011.
The key performance indicator was met by
processing 100 per cent of the agreed simple
claims by 30 June 2011.

Home Insulation Program
The Home Insulation Program began in
2009–10 as part of the Energy Efficient Homes
Package administered by the Department of
the Environment, Water, Heritage and the
Arts. In March 2010 its administration was
transferred to DCCEE.
Although claims for payments under the
Home Insulation Program closed in February
2010, Medicare Australia continued to provide
services under the service level agreement
with DCCEE. See Table 41 on page 94.

Superannuation programs
Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House
The Small Business Superannuation Clearing
House (the Clearing House) is an optional free
government service to help small businesses
with fewer than 20 employees meet their
superannuation guarantee obligations and cut
red tape. Under superannuation guarantee
requirements, small businesses must have
made superannuation payments at least four
times a year.
Employers could be faced with having to
make payments to multiple superannuation
funds, each with their own set of rules or
processes for accepting contributions and
accompanying information.
Feedback received from a customer satisfaction
survey of employers using the Clearing House
was extremely positive. Ninety-nine per
cent of survey respondents said they would
recommend the Clearing House to other small
businesses. Ninety-seven per cent agreed that
the payment process was clear and easy to
understand. Ninety-six per cent agreed that
the Clearing House reduced the time it took to
make superannuation payments.
The Clearing House simplifies the process into
a single, electronic payment for all employees,
and sends the nominated contributions to the
correct superannuation funds—avoiding the
need for small businesses to deal with multiple
funds. See Table 42 on page 94 for a summary
of employers and employees registered under
the program and the value of superannuation
contributions made in 2010–11.
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Table 41: Home Insulation Program

2009–10

2010–11

Total

7 386

7 386

7 386

Number of claims paid to installers
by Medicare Australia

1 133 876

14 505

1 148 381

Value of rebate payments made to installers
by Medicare Australia

$1.6 billion

$21.7 million

$1.6 billion

Number of registered installers under
the program

Note: There were no registrations processed in 2010–11.

Table 42: Small Business Superannuation Clearing House at 30 June 2011

2010–11
Number of registered employers under the program

4 781

Number of registered employees under the program

32 269

Value of superannuation contributions managed under the program
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Making it easier for small businesses

It was much easier for small business
owners to pay their employees’
superannuation because of the Small
Business Superannuation Clearing House,
which was run by Medicare Australia in
2010–11.
In the past, the proliferation of funds, all
needing separate forms and processes,
meant it was a time consuming and
complicated activity.
‘Paying employees’ superannuation used to
be terribly tedious, taking a good part of
your day,’ says small business owner Brett
McGrath.
But he now uses the Clearing House
to overcome the challenges of paying
superannuation into numerous super funds
for his employees.

time on completing administrative tasks to
meet super obligations.
Brett says what used to take him the
best part of the day, now only takes 10
minutes by simply entering the amount of
superannuation to be paid to each employee.
‘The Clearing House makes it easier to pay
your employees’ superannuation than it is
to pay their wages. And because you’re not
mailing forms and cheques, contributions
are invested sooner for your employees.’
Brett recommends other small businesses
visit the Department of Human Services
website and see what the service can do
for them.

Brett owns Soccatoos, a non-competitive
soccer activity and development program
for pre-schoolers based in Sydney.
The Clearing House allows Brett to spend
more time on his business and less
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Early Release of Superannuation
Benefits on Specified
Compassionate Grounds
In February 2011 Medicare Australia became
responsible for program delivery for the
Early Release of Superannuation Benefits on
Specified Compassionate Grounds—for both
self-managed funds and those regulated
by the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority (APRA).
Fifty-six employees previously performing
this function with APRA were transferred to
Medicare Australia to undertake the work.
Applications are assessed against the
legislative criteria and an approval allows an
applicant to approach their superannuation
fund for the release of a portion of their
preserved superannuation. An applicant
not satisfied with a decision can request an
internal review by an independent review
officer or an external review of process by
the Commonwealth Ombudsman.

Government services
delivered through
Medicare offices
Family Assistance and Paid
Parental Leave
Medicare provides Family Assistance services
through Medicare offices on behalf of the
Department of Families, Housing, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs, and the
Department of Education, Employment
and Workplace Relations. These payment
programs are delivered in partnership
with Centrelink.
People can lodge their Family Assistance and
Paid Parental Leave claims, income estimates,
method of payment and contact details, and
also obtain advice and information about
Family Assistance benefits at their local
Medicare office.
Medicare’s functions include delivering
services as part of the Family Assistance
Office (FAO) under the provisions of the
A New Tax System (Family Assistance) Act
1999, A New Tax System (Family Assistance)
(Administration) Act 1999 and the Paid
Parental Leave Act 2010. This is undertaken
through service arrangements with Australian
Government agencies, in accordance with
section 7 of the Medicare Australia Act 1973.
Table 43 sets out the Family Assistance
services made in 2010–11.
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Table 43: Family Assistance services

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of FAO enquiries

345 769

363 048

+5.0%

Number of FAO claims granted

187 633

276 288

+47.2%

Number of Paid Parental Leave enquiries

–

13 173

–

Number of Paid Parental Leave claims granted

–

25 087

–

Note: Services provided by Medicare Australia.

Citizenship testing

Australian Health Survey

As part of the application process for
Australian citizenship, applicants are required
to successfully complete a citizenship test.
Medicare and Centrelink in regional and
rural areas assist with services to support
citizenship testing, providing easier access and
improved customer service. Citizenship testing
is currently administered by the Department
of Immigration and Citizenship staff in
30 Medicare offices.

The Australian Bureau of Statistics conducts
the Australian Health Survey. Respondents
were asked to volunteer biomedical
samples for pathology testing. Medicare
Australia made reimbursement payments
of $50 to eligible participants who provided
biomedical samples. The reimbursement
offset reasonable costs for having to
attend a pathology collection centre to
provide samples.

LPG Vehicle Scheme

Medicare Australia began processing
reimbursement payments on behalf of the
Australian Bureau of Statistics in January 2011.
A service agreement between the Australian
Statistician and the CEO of Medicare Australia
governed the services provided.

The LPG (liquefied petroleum gas) Vehicle
Scheme helps private motorists buy a new
LPG vehicle or convert a new or used petrol
or diesel vehicle to LPG.
The Department of Innovation, Industry,
Science and Research administers the scheme
and in 2010–11 Medicare Australia and
Centrelink were the public contact points
for enquiries and applications for grants.
Centrelink was responsible for paying
approved grants.

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia made a total
of 1627 payments to eligible participants
amounting to $81 350.

Table 44: LPG Vehicle Scheme

2009–10

2010–11

change

Number of applications received by Medicare Australia

32 162

18 915

–41.2%

Percentage of total applications received

74.0%

75.4%

+1.4%

Note: The number of applications received for the LPG Vehicle Scheme reduced each year and reflected reduced demand
under the scheme.
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Performance
highlights

Medicare Australia’s
stakeholders

•

Medicare Liaison Officers for Indigenous
Access promoted the uptake of the
Closing the Gap initiatives and incentives
with pharmacies and medical practices.
In 2010–11, 762 medical practices had
been visited.

•

Membership to the Stakeholder Consultive
Group was extended in 2010–11 to
include allied health professionals including
the Allied Health Professions Association
and the Services for Australian Rural and
Remote Allied Health.

Effective collaboration and consultation with
key stakeholders was integral to ensure that
Medicare Australia provided efficient and
convenient service delivery. Such stakeholders
included practitioners (general practitioners,
pathologists, imaging and other specialists,
optometrists, dental practitioners, Aboriginal
health service providers and other allied
health providers), practice managers, aged
care providers and pharmacists.

•

89.3 per cent of the public waited less
than 10 minutes in Medicare offices to
be served, with an average waiting time
of 3 minutes and 47 seconds.

•

90.6 per cent of calls were answered
within 30 seconds.

•

More than two million customers were
registered to use Consumer Online
Services, with an average of 33 560
new customers registering per month
in 2010–11.

•

•

Of the 4471 complaints received by
Medicare Australia, 97.7 per cent were
acknowledged within two working days
and 96.1 per cent were responded to
within 10 working days.
Medicare Australia set up a single
entry point for online services for
health professionals through Health
Professional Online Services (HPOS)—see
It’s easier to do business with Medicare
Australia on page 101.
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Medicare Australia’s Stakeholder Engagement
Strategy provided the framework and
direction for Medicare Australia employees
to engage with external stakeholders.
It ensured Medicare Australia had a strategic
and coordinated approach to stakeholder
engagement that benefited all parties.

Medicare Australia’s
relationships with
government
Medicare Australia’s strong partnership with
government departments and agencies
helped it deliver efficient and convenient
services to all Australians on behalf of the
Australian Government.
Medicare Australia delivered services on
behalf of:
•

the Department of Health and Ageing
(DoHA)

•

the Department of Veterans’ Affairs
(DVA)

•

the Department of Families, Housing,
Community Services and Indigenous
Affairs (FaHCSIA)
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It’s easier to do business with
Medicare Australia

During the year it became much easier for
health professionals to do business with
Medicare Australia online. In March 2009
Medicare Australia set up a single entry
point for online services through Health
Professional Online Services (HPOS) and
in 2010–11 further improved the function
of HPOS.
Health professionals and their staff can
access a huge range of information and
services with just the one logon.
With a PKI individual certificate (PKI stands
for Public Key Infrastructure—a security
mechanism for online communication),
they can access information on eligibility for
Medicare, information about the payment
of claims, forms (including Centrelink
forms), a patient’s care plan history, among
many other services.
Dr Nathan Pinskier, who has been a
member of the HPOS sub-committee since
its inception two years ago, said it was a
huge boon for his practice.
‘Does it save time? Absolutely!’ he said.

‘Five to six years ago, the only way to
obtain a patient’s Medicare number,
for example, was to wait for Medicare’s
opening times during the working week.
‘Today you can do it through HPOS, fast
and seamlessly 24 hours a day, seven days
a week. It could be 8 o’clock at night or 6
o’clock on Sunday morning.
‘And we are working in a different manner,’
he said. ‘HPOS puts the power back in the
hands of the practice. It’s about having
the power to make decisions and act on
them whenever we want to. It also means
my practice manager has the delegated
authority to access these Medicare
services—so not all the administrative
burden falls on me.’
Dr Pinskier believed that as HPOS continued
to improve its information and services,
particularly around the Healthcare
Identifiers Service, it would continue to
grow in its usefulness and efficiency for
healthcare professionals.
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This group was not a decision-making forum
but played an important role in identifying
potential issues and opportunities so
that the best results could be achieved
for stakeholders.

•

the Department of Innovation, Industry,
Science and Research

•

the Department of Sustainability,
Environment, Water, Population and
Communities

•

the Department of Defence

•

the Department of Climate Change and
Energy Efficiency

Membership included representatives
from peak bodies and other government
departments:

•

the Treasury.

•

Australian Association of Practice
Managers

•

Aged Care Association of Australia

•

Australian General Practice Network

•

Australian Health Insurance Association

•

Australian Medical Association

•

Australian Pharmacy Council

•

Australian Private Hospitals Association

•

Committee of Presidents of
Medical Colleges

•

Consumers’ Health Forum of Australia

•

Medical Software Industry Association

•

Pharmaceutical Society of Australia

•

Rural Doctors Association of Australia

•

Royal Australian College of General
Practitioners

•

Society of Hospital Pharmacists
of Australia

•

Pharmacy Guild of Australia

•

Services for Australian Rural and Remote
Allied Health

•

DoHA

•

DVA

•

Centrelink.

Stakeholder
consultation
Medicare Australia engaged with stakeholders
informally and formally, such as holding
forums, as part of its business processes at
both the national and state level. Medicare
Australia’s peak stakeholder consultation
forums were the Stakeholder Consultative
Group and the Consumer Consultative
Group. Members of these groups included
representatives of peak bodies and
organisations that were affected by the
programs Medicare Australia administered.
Medicare Australia had clear and agreed
governance for its engagement with key
stakeholder groups to obtain their feedback about
the delivery of quality information and services.

Stakeholder Consultative
Group
Through the Stakeholder Consultative Group
key groups in the health sector engaged with
Medicare Australia on its business priorities
and programs at a strategic level. The group
met three times a year and provided a
valuable opportunity to build collaborative
working relationships.
In 2010–11 membership was extended to
include allied health professionals including
the Allied Health Professions Association and
the Services for Australian Rural and Remote
Allied Health.
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Consumer Consultative
Group
Through the Consumer Consultative Group
consumers provided input on issues, discussed
the potential impact on services and products,
and advised Medicare Australia on how to
add further value in delivering services to the
Australian public.
The group, which was not a decision-making
forum, met three times a year.
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The committee consisted of
representatives from:
•

Australian Federation of Disability
Organisations

•

Carers Australia

•

Chronic Illness Alliance

•

Consumers’ Health Forum of Australia

•

Council on the Ageing

•

Families Australia

•

Federation of Ethnic Communities
Councils of Australia

•

Health Consumers Rural and
Remote Australia

•

Health Issues Centre

•

DoHA

•

Centrelink.

Medicare Australia’s
annual satisfaction
research

The results and recommendations of these
surveys gave Medicare Australia a better
understanding of the needs and expectations
of providers and the public.
The results guided Medicare Australia’s
business planning activities and identified
any issues for future research to improve its
service delivery to providers and the public.
The survey included measuring satisfaction
with any changes in customer service delivery
resulting from Service Delivery Reform (SDR).
In November 2010 research was again
conducted with practitioners (general
practitioners, pathologists, imaging and other
specialists, optometrists, dental practitioners,
Aboriginal health service providers and other
allied health providers), practice managers,
pharmacists, aged care providers and the public.
The results showed a continued positive trend
in all aspects of the business, with overall
satisfaction levels ranging from 91 per cent
for practitioners to 97 per cent for aged care
providers and the general public.

From 1984 Medicare Australia undertook an
annual satisfaction survey with the general
public. Medical professionals were added to
the survey in 1991.

Table 45: Overall stakeholder satisfaction levels 2006–10

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Public

90%

89%

93%

98%

97%

Practitioners

89%

86%

74%

90%

91%

Practice managers

95%

89%

87%

93%

93%

Pharmacists

87%

91%

86%

93%

95%

Aged care providers

96%

92%

95%

95%

97%
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Overall satisfaction with Medicare Australia
among the general public was stable
from 2009 (98 per cent) to 2010 (97 per cent).
The slightly lower result in 2010 was not
a statistically significant change from the
2009 result.
Figure 10 demonstrates the increase over
the last five years to what are near or
at record satisfaction levels across each
stakeholder group.
Figure 10: Stakeholder satisfaction 2002–03 to 2010–11
100%

95%

90%

85%

80%

75%

70%

65%
2002–03

2003–04

2004–05

2005–06

General public

Aged care providers

Pharmacists

Practitioners

2006–07

2007–08

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

Practice managers

Q1a. Focusing on your personal experiences within the last 12 months, overall how satisfied are you with
Medicare Australia’s service delivery? [Very satisfied, Satisfied, Dissatisfied, Very dissatisfied]
Base=All respondents. From 2009 onwards, results exclude ‘Don’t know’/’Can’t say’ responses.
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Customer service
charter
Medicare Australia had a commitment to
constantly strive to improve service delivery to
the Australian community and stakeholders.
The Service Charter was a public expression
of our commitment to excellence in service
delivery. It told our customers:
•

what standard of service we would provide

•

their rights as a customer

•

their responsibilities as a customer

•

what they could do if they were
unhappy with the service they received.

Medicare Australia’s Service Charter was
available as a brochure in Medicare offices
and electronically on the Department of
Human Services (DHS) website. Information
about Medicare Australia’s performance
against the delivery of these measures was
published quarterly on the website.
DHS has a single service charter called Our
Service Commitments. This now encompasses
Medicare Australia’s Service Charter.
Medicare Australia’s report on its service
charter for 2010–11 is below.

You said: Make it easy for me
We will: Improve convenience and access for all Australians by improving a range of service
options, including online
Measure

Performance

Satisfaction
with the range
of options
available
to make a
Medicare claim

In the 2010–11 Medicare Australia annual satisfaction survey, 97 per cent
of the public were satisfied overall with Medicare Australia’s service delivery
over the last 12 months.

New
developments
in online access
to information
and services

Changes to our website, including improvements to both the public and
Health Professional Online Services areas, meant people could find, use and
access online information more easily. This also includes an additional tab to
Medicare Australia’s internet for non health-related programs and initiatives.

Agreement that ‘I am happy to deal with Medicare when I need to’ was
high with 100 per cent of the general public either agreeing or totally
agreeing with the statement.

Medicare Australia is continuing to make it easier for the Australian public
to do business online. The DHS website provided information on services
and payments across the Human Services Portfolio (including Medicare
Australia) grouped by life situations into subject or topic-based themes.

We will: Extend opening hours in our busiest Medicare offices to meet public needs
Measure

Performance

Number of Medicare offices
(based on claiming patterns)
with extended opening hours

117 Medicare offices were open from 9 am to 12.30 pm
on Saturdays.
18 offices were open until 6 pm and 31 to 7 pm one evening
each week.
Chapter 6: Customer service and partnerships
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We will: Keep our queue times in Medicare offices to a minimum
Measure

Performance

The Australian public is
served in less than 10
minutes

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, 89.3 per cent of the public
waited less than 10 minutes in Medicare offices to be served,
with an average waiting time of 3 minutes and 47 seconds.

We will: Answer the phone quickly
Measure

Performance

Medicare Australia
answers calls within
30 seconds

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, 90.6 per cent of calls were
answered within 30 seconds.

We will: Increase awareness of Medicare Australia’s services, enhance Indigenous access and
become an employer of choice to Indigenous Australians
Measure

Performance

Number of Indigenous
Australians registered for
Medicare

At 30 June 2011, 311 779 Indigenous Australians identified
as Indigenous with Medicare. This compares with 278 097
Indigenous Australians identifying with Medicare at 30 June 2010.
This meant that from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, 33 682
Australians voluntarily identified themselves as Indigenous when
enrolling for Medicare—an increase of 12.1 per cent.

Number of calls made
to the dedicated
Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Access and
Employment line

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, 58 817 calls were received
to the dedicated Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Access
and Employment line. This was a decrease of 8269 calls or
12.3 per cent over the same period last year.

Medicare Australia will
become an employer
of choice to Indigenous
Australians and in line
with COAG’s expectations,
aims to reach a target of
2.7 per cent by 2015

At 30 June 2011, 1.8 per cent (106 people) of Medicare
Australia’s total workforce were Indigenous employees.
Medicare Australia, as a part of DHS, committed to a more
ambitious target of 5 per cent by 2015.
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We will: Help you access other agencies in the Department of Human Services
Measure

Performance

Access to Family
Assistance services

Family Assistance services were available from all Medicare
offices.

Access to Medicare
services from Centrelink
customer service centres

At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia and Centrelink co‑located in
an additional 47 sites across Australia.

You said: Get it right
We will: Make accurate and timely payments
Measure

Performance

Payments are timely and
accurate

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011:
•

99.1 per cent of Medicare bulk bill claims were finalised
within 15 days

•

96.4 per cent of Medicare simplified billing claims were
finalised within 10 days

•

98.9 per cent of all Medicare patient claims (excluding
cash) were finalised within 18 days

•

79.4 per cent of PBS claims were finalised within 17 days

•

accuracy of processing for Medicare was 98.1 per cent
against a target of 98.0 per cent

•

accuracy of processing for PBS was 98.2 per cent against
a target of 98.0 per cent.

Continuous random sampling and compliance audits of Medicare
and PBS payments provided assurance of accuracy of payments
and areas for improvement.
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You said: Be genuinely interested in me
We will: Listen to your feedback and be responsive to your needs
Measure

Performance

Satisfaction with
responsiveness to
feedback by Medicare
Australia staff

More than two million customers were registered to use
Consumer Online Services, with an average of 33 560 new
customers registering per month in 2010–11. From 1 July 2010 to
30 June 2011, there was a total of 402 730 new registrations for
Online Services.
Medicare Australia continued to work on enhancements that
made it easier for the public to do business online. For example,
users could lodge some Medicare claims online and receive their
benefit into their nominated bank account within 2 to 3 days.
Medicare Australia website
From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 there were 1088 responses
to Medicare Australia’s feedback channel which were directed
promptly to the appropriate business areas and to the national
feedback register for attention and recorded for planning purposes.

A toll free 1800
Complaints and Feedback
line is in operation

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, there were 6246 calls made to
the Complaints and Feedback line.

We will: Respond to your complaints promptly
Measure

Performance

We will acknowledge
your feedback within
two working days and
respond to 90 per cent
of all feedback within 10
working days

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, of the 4471 complaints
received by Medicare Australia, 97.7 per cent were acknowledged
within two working days and 96.1 per cent were responded to
within 10 working days.
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We will: Respect the privacy and the confidentiality of your personal information
Measure

Performance

We respond to all
complaints about the use
and disclosure of personal
information and publish
results in the annual report

Medicare Australia investigated 163 complaints about the
use and disclosure of personal information which may
have led to investigation under the Public Service Act 1999.
Of these complaints, 60 were found to be unsubstantiated
and 85 were substantiated (and appropriate action was taken).
At 30 June 2011, 18 complaints were still being investigated.
Privacy complaints

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11

Unsubstantiated

61

45

60

Substantiated

53

66

85

6

6

18

120

117

163

In progress
Total

See Privacy incidents on page 125 for information about the
increase in reported privacy incidents in 2010–11.
We will: Respect your rights to seek a review of our decisions
Measure

Performance

Approaches lodged with
the Commonwealth
Ombudsman

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 the Commonwealth
Ombudsman received 177 approaches from the Australian public
about Medicare Australia. Of these, only 26 were referred to
Medicare Australia for investigation.

Judicial decisions and
decisions of administrative
tribunals that had (or may
have) an impact on our
operations.

From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 there were no significant
judicial decisions or decisions of administrative tribunals that
had a material impact on the operations of Medicare Australia.
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Building international
relationships
During the year Medicare Australia continued
to build and maintain relationships with other
countries, exchanging information on policy
development, service delivery and compliance
systems to support the administration of
Medicare and the PBS.

Access and equity
Cultural diversity
Medicare Australia continued to improve
access to its information for people from
diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds,
including in their preferred language.
Information about Medicare Australia
programs and services was regularly published
in The Journey, a quarterly national newsletter
produced by Centrelink and distributed
to multicultural community organisations.
It outlined changes to payments and
services within the portfolio that affected
multicultural customers.
There is an information kit available in
19 community languages from Medicare
offices. The kits are also available from the
DHS website and are promoted to migrant
resource centres as an important resource for
people arriving in Australia.
A contact number for the Translating and
Interpreting Service (TIS), provided by the
Department of Immigration and Citizenship,
is included in all communication brochures
for Medicare services and programs.
The public can contact TIS to speak to
a qualified interpreter in more than
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170 languages, either by phone or at a faceto-face interview if required.
DHS also has a number of bilingual employees
who use their language skills to make
communication with the Australian public
easier and more effective.

Indigenous Australians
DHS continues to work with other Australian
Government agencies to progress the
National Integrated Strategy for Closing the
Gap in Indigenous Disadvantage which has
been agreed by the Council of Australian
Governments (COAG). This strategy aims
to reduce Indigenous disadvantage in
life expectancy, child mortality, access to
early childhood education, educational
achievement and employment outcomes.
In 2010–11 the portfolio delivered a wide
range of initiatives to improve the lives of
Indigenous Australians and improve their
ease of access to information and services,
regardless of whether they live in urban,
regional or remote areas. Much of this work
is the subject of COAG agreements which
operate between the Australian Government
and state and territory governments on various
mainstream and Indigenous-specific issues.
DHS works closely with FaHCSIA and the
Department of Education, Employment
and Workplace Relations to deliver services.
Towards the end of the reporting period,
work commenced on a range of internal
projects to identify strategies for improving
DHS service delivery to Indigenous Australians
in urban, regional and remote areas. This
work is expected to finish towards the end
of 2011.
DHS also contributes to the strategic work
of the Secretaries Group on Indigenous
Affairs and the inter-agency Executive
Coordination Forum on Indigenous Affairs
which are responsible for advancing
whole-of-government efforts for
Indigenous Australians.
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Indigenous stakeholder engagement
Medicare Australia worked with other
agencies in the portfolio and wider
government, including Centrelink, the Child
Support Program, DVA, FaHCSIA, and DoHA,
particularly with the Office of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Health.
Initiatives included:
•

shared field trips to Indigenous
communities with DHS and other
agencies. Field trips increased the
breadth of community access and
fostered strong networking between
agencies and communities

•

ongoing promotion of the Voluntary
Indigenous Identifier, which encouraged
all Indigenous Australians to identify as
being Indigenous. The identifier provided
valuable information for planning, policy
development and service improvements

•

creation and maintenance of a close
relationship with the Australian General
Practice Network. The result of this
collaboration was the successful uptake
of two chronic disease measures
under the Government’s Closing the
Gap agenda.

Indigenous Access Strategy
The Indigenous Access Strategy was
developed in response to major studies that
recommended how Medicare Australia could
increase the access by Indigenous Australians
to the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) and
the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS).
Research revealed on average that despite
their poorer levels of health, Indigenous
Australians had less access to the MBS and
the PBS than other Australians.
The major focus of the Indigenous Access
Strategy was to ensure that Indigenous
Australians registered for Medicare, as well as
voluntarily identifying themselves to DHS as
Indigenous Australians.

The number of people who had voluntarily
identified themselves as Indigenous
Australians continued to grow steadily.
The number of MBS services accessed
by Australians who self-identify as being
Indigenous continued to increase.
Medicare Australia was involved in two
new measures:
•

the Practice Incentives Program
Indigenous Health Incentive was paid to
general practices to provide better care
of Indigenous patients over 15 years of
age who have chronic disease.

•

the PBS measure provided more
affordable medicines for Indigenous
patients with, or at risk of, chronic
disease. Eligible Indigenous patients
could claim their pharmacy medicines
at a significantly lower cost. There was
no PBS co-payment if the person held
a concession card.

Medicare Liaison Officers for Indigenous
Access (MLOs) worked closely with Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander medical services and
other health service providers to promote
and support access of Indigenous Australians
to Medicare programs. MLOs undertook
field trips and visited health services, local
communities, prisons, schools and relevant
stakeholders. The MLOs also:
•

provided support and training for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
health service employees to ensure
correct Medicare benefits were claimed,
resulting in increased Medicare revenue
for Indigenous health services

•

promoted the importance of increasing
enrolments and access to Medicare
Australia services

•

provided support and expert advice to
health service employees and providers
about new Medicare initiatives and
changes to the MBS and PBS
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•

represented and promoted Medicare
Australia programs and services at local
Indigenous forums and events

•

provided support and advice to
employees operating the dedicated
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Access and Employment line on
1800 556 955.

Monthly reports helped to identify where
support was required for health services.
This ensures that DHS continues to develop its
policies and practices and the services it offers
to Indigenous Australians based on areas of
need and in a culturally appropriate manner.

Reconciliation Action Plan
Medicare Australia’s Reconciliation Action
Plan committed it to deliver on key initiatives
set out by Reconciliation Australia.
The Reconciliation Action Plan helped
Medicare Australia to achieve its vision by:
•

culturally enriching the organisation

•

building on corporate and government
relationships and networks

•

making its commitments tangible,
practical and measurable.

Medicare Australia’s main objective was to
assist in improving health outcomes in Australia
through the programs it delivered. In doing so,
it worked in partnership with DoHA to achieve
the Australian Government’s health policy
objectives and conducted activities within the
government policy frameworks for these two
departments as well as DVA and FaHCSIA.
Medicare Australia achieved the following
objectives of the Reconciliation Action Plan:
•

It fostered interaction with Indigenous
communities, particularly during
NAIDOC Week and Reconciliation
Week celebrations. Relevant significant
Indigenous events were recognised and
celebrated in all states.
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•

It applied protocols to use ‘Welcome
to Country’ and ‘Acknowledgment
of Country’ at all relevant Medicare
Australia events.

•

It used appropriate artwork on
all Indigenous promotional and
communications material to promote
Medicare Australia’s business.

•

It maintained and monitored the
dedicated 1800 telephony support for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Access and Employment line.

•

It maintained cultural flexibility and
awareness in enrolment processes and
procedures for Indigenous Australians.

•

It continued to monitor the Voluntary
Indigenous Identifier (VII) communication
and education strategy.

•

It strengthened relationships with
communities, health service providers
and other stakeholder groups through
outreach activities.

From 1 July 2011 Medicare Australia became
part of the new DHS Reconciliation Action Plan.

Social inclusion
The Australian Government’s vision of a
socially inclusive society is one in which
all Australians feel valued and have the
opportunity to participate fully in the life of
our society.
The Australian Government’s social inclusion
agenda aims to make sure every Australian
has the capability, opportunity and resources
to participate in the economy and play an
active role in their community while taking
responsibility for shaping their own lives.
DHS service delivery plays an important role
in progressing the Australian Government’s
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social inclusion agenda. SDR will enhance
the way services are provided to the most
disadvantaged people in the community.
For example, DHS is helping deliver the
Government’s location-based initiatives,
providing improved health and welfare
assistance in disadvantaged areas and
developing a case coordination model of
service delivery that provides more intensive
support to people who need it.
From 2011 key Australian Government
agencies will report against agreed social
inclusion strategic indicators. In pursuing the
Government’s social inclusion agenda, DHS
reports against the following three social
inclusion indicators:
•

number of people under 18 years
claiming ‘Youth Allowance—unable to
live at home’ assisted by social workers
to reconnect with families and/or
communities.
Centrelink social workers provide
additional support and other interventions
to young people and their families.
The young people are aged under 18
years of age, have applied for Youth
Allowance and are considered at risk of
homelessness. During 2010–11, 22 450
young people at risk of homelessness
were supported by social workers, with
4055 provided with intensive support and
intervention.

•

number of people accessing wraparound services in designated areas
(wrap-around services—including services
provided during the year by Centrelink
and Medicare Australia—are multiple
services provided in the one location for
customers with complex needs).
Local Connections to Work (LCTW)
services aim to improve job placement
outcomes for the long-term unemployed
and people with entrenched disadvantage
through joint interviews with Job
Services Australia providers and stronger

community partnerships. During 2010–11,
3148 people accessed wrap-around
services through LCTW.
•

number of people and families provided
with outreach services by Centrelink
Community Engagement Officers.
Centrelink has a network of 90
Community Engagement Officers who
provide outreach services to people who
are homeless or at risk of homelessness
and find it difficult to access mainstream
Centrelink services. In 2010–11 the
officers made 213 996 contacts with
customers who were homeless or at risk
of homelessness.

In 2010–11 data was collected in relation to
the number of contacts officers made with
customers. Improvements to measurement
and reporting will enable the number of
individuals and families to also be collected in
the next reporting year.
An important element of the Government’s
social inclusion agenda involves a new
National Disability Strategy and reporting
on progress in improving the lives of people
with disability, their families and carers (see
Appendix C on page 228).

Ahead of the Game:
Blueprint for the Reform
of Australian Government
Administration
DHS continues to contribute to initiatives that
advance the reform of Australian Government
Administration through the blueprint, Ahead
of the Game. This includes recommendations
that focus on simplifying government services,
improving policy implementation, engaging
citizens in the design and delivery of services,
improving agency efficiency and performance,
and creating closer partnerships to better
deliver services.
SDR is already contributing to the blueprint’s
recommendation for ‘engaging citizens in
Chapter 6: Customer service and partnerships
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the design and development of services
and policy’ through co-design community
forums which were held across Australia
throughout 2010. Significant planning for
future reform initiatives took place during
the past 12 months that will support the
recommendations for ‘high quality, tailored
public services’. The integration of corporate
functions through SDR is also contributing to
more efficient government administration.

Services that are available online include:

DHS worked to reduce unnecessary business
regulatory burden, as recommended in the
blueprint, including data exchange initiatives
with financial institutions and the operation of
the Small Business Superannuation Clearing
House. Wrap-around place-based services,
such as LCTW, are helping DHS to build closer
partnerships with state and local governments
and community organisations. DHS is also
building stronger academic partnerships
through the Centrelink and CSIRO Research
Alliance, the Australian Institute of Health
and Welfare, and the Australian Bureau of
Statistics research on homelessness data.

Online services
Consumer Online Services
Consumer Online Services are an integral part
of the SDR agenda and continue to improve
convenience and access to services for
all Australians.
In February 2011 a new service was
implemented to allow users to claim some of
their Medicare benefits through Consumer
Online Services.
More than two million customers were
registered to use Consumer Online Services,
with an average of 33 560 new customers
registering per month in 2010–11.
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•

claiming Medicare benefits online (for
MBS item numbers 3, 23, 36, 53 and
5020)

•

Medicare benefit tax statement (for
the previous financial year, or current
financial year to date)

•

Medicare claims history (for previous
12 months)

•

Medicare Safety Net balance (for current
calendar year)

•

Care Plan access history

•

organ and/or tissue donor registration
decision

•

Immunisation history statement (for
children under 14 years of age)

•

update personal details

•

request a replacement or a duplicate
Medicare card

•

record and update banking details

•

Individual Healthcare Identifier history
and alternate names.

The most popular services accessed through
Consumer Online Services in 2010–11 were
Medicare benefit tax statement, Medicare
claims history statement and Medicare Safety
Net balance.

Pre-filling of tax returns
Taxpayers can retrieve their Medicare benefit
tax statement automatically through the e-tax
lodgment process. This service removes the
need to phone or visit a Medicare office to
request a Medicare benefit tax statement.
Taxpayers can also now choose to allow tax
agents to retrieve their Medicare information
for their Medicare benefit tax statement.
This service is made possible through close
collaboration between Medicare and the
Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
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From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011,
1 740 442 million customers pre-filled their
Medicare benefit tax statement data into the
ATO e-tax application and 109 464 customers
pre-filled their Medicare benefit tax statement
data via the Tax Agent Portal.

Health Professional Online
Services

•

view provider and organisation
Healthcare Identifiers (HI) details and
access a directory of providers under
the HI Service.

The increased services offered during
2010–11 built on the existing services that
health professionals could already access
through HPOS. These included:
•

Approved Pathology Collection
Centre search

•

Australian Childhood
Immunisation Register

•

Centrelink Disability Support
medical form

•

forms for health professionals

•

General Practice Immunisation Incentive

•

General Practice Rural Incentives
Program and HECS Reimbursement
Scheme

•

Healthcare Identifiers (HI) Service,
excluding Individual Healthcare
Identifiers functions

•

manage existing banking details

In 2010–11 HPOS was expanded to include
the following key services:

•

MBS Items Online Checker

•

Medicare services

•

•

National Bowel Cancer Screening
Program

•

Patient Verification

•

Practice Incentives Program (PIP)

•

Prescription Shopping Information
Program

•

resources and education

•

secure email facility

•

Track and Scale

•

view patient’s care plan history.

HPOS offers improved access for health
professionals to Medicare’s online services
through a single entry point.
In 2010–11, on average 6011 health
professionals logged onto HPOS daily, which is
an increase of 1444 log ons per day from the
previous year.
From 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011:
•

HPOS was accessed by health
professionals 913 930 times

•

1.9 million Patient Verification
transactions occurred, making it the
highest used service in HPOS.

•

•

•

the ability to register for practice and
practitioner incentives through the
Practice Incentives Program and General
Practice Immunisation Incentive Program
the ability for practices to manage
banking and practice details and
apply for a Rural Relocation Grant
under the General Practice Rural
Incentives Program
the ability for health professionals to
lodge HECS application forms under the
HECS Reimbursement Scheme, as part
of promoting careers in rural medicine
view progress towards reducing return
of service obligations as part of the Rural
Health Workforce initiative under the
Track and Scale Program

HPOS is developing a co-design strategy
that clearly sets out its role in eHealth and is
considering how existing processes for health
professionals can be further refined to suit the
online environment.
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Medicare Australia
website

International Day of People
with Disability

Approximately 9.3 million visits were made to
the Medicare Australia website in 2010–11.

International Day of People with Disability is
an annual event that was celebrated across
the nation on 3 December 2010. The theme
was ‘Recognising the achievements and
contributions of people with disability’.
The day encourages support for the dignity
and rights of people with disability through
awareness and understanding of disability
issues. Activities such as morning teas,
disability expos, information sessions and
barbecues were held throughout Australia.

Supporting
community events
Carers Week
Carers Week is an annual event run by Carers
Australia which recognises the commitment of
people who care for loved ones who are ill, frail
aged or who have a disability. Carers Week was
held from 17–23 October 2010. The theme was
‘Anyone anytime could be a carer—supporting
our family carers in the community’. Overall the
portfolio held 68 events such as morning teas,
carer expos, information sessions and barbecues
across the nation to promote the week.

Families Week
National Families Week was held from
15–21 May 2011. The week recognises
the importance of families as the most
fundamental units of society. The theme was
‘Sticking together: families in good and tough
times’. To support Families Week in 2011 the
portfolio organised a range of community
events, including barbecues, morning teas,
a family information expo and a children’s
colouring and writing competition.
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NAIDOC Week
NAIDOC Week 2010 was celebrated from
4–11 July throughout the portfolio. The week
acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander culture, history and achievements.
The theme for the week was ‘Unsung
Heroes—Closing the Gap by Leading Their
Way’. The portfolio celebrated the week
by holding:
•

over 80 community events nationwide

•

an event at the Medicare Australia
National Office that included a flag
raising ceremony

•

the announcement of the portfolio
NAIDOC Awards at the Medicare
Australia National Office event.

National Youth Week
National Youth Week 2011 ran from
1–11 April, with the theme of ‘Own it’. The
portfolio strongly supported the week, which
celebrates the contribution that young people
make to our communities. Funding was
provided for more than 60 National Youth
Week events run by portfolio employees.
Organisers held a variety of events ranging
from community sausage sizzles to live music,
sport competitions, expos and workshops.
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Reconciliation Week
Reconciliation Week 2011 was held from
27 May–3 June with the theme, ‘Let’s talk
recognition’, asking Australians to think
about the value of recognition, what it means
personally and its importance to the nation.
Over 80 events were held by the portfolio
nationwide to mark the week.

Seniors Week
Seniors Week is held at different times in
different states and territories. Portfolio
employees celebrated Seniors Week nationally
by supporting local events around the
country. In the Australian Capital Territory, for
example, Centrelink worked with the Council
on the Ageing to coordinate a successful
Seniors Expo during Seniors Week.
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Performance
highlights
•

•

•

In 2010–11 the legal services and audit
functions were integrated across the
three organisations—the Department of
Human Services (DHS), Centrelink and
Medicare Australia. These services, such
as external and internal audits, freedom
of information requests, privacy issues
and dealings with the Commonwealth
Ombudsman, were managed centrally.
More than $28 million was identified
for recovery from compliance activities
undertaken during 2010–11. This
compared to $10.29 million in 2009–10.
Payment accuracy reviews revealed the
level of payment accuracy for Medicare
benefits was 99.84 per cent and for the
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS)
was 99.81 per cent. This compares
with 99.86 per cent and 99.7 per cent
in 2009–10.

•

A new Portfolio People Strategy—
Vision 2015 was supported by a new
nationally-consistent leadership strategy
and workforce planning framework
for DHS.

•

A People Change Centre was established
to provide guidance and assistance to
business areas and project/program
areas undergoing structural integration
while implementing Service Delivery
Reform (SDR).

•

The first Portfolio People Survey was
conducted. It showed that employee
perceptions and attitudes towards
working in the portfolio were generally
positive, especially in the context of the
major changes taking place.

•

The portfolio set up a Disability Technical
Aids Unit to directly support users of
assistive technology and provide disability
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awareness and confidence training to
managers and employees who work with
people with disability.
•

The portfolio became a corporate
member of the Australian Network on
Disability, which supports employees
who identify as having disability.

External scrutiny
External audits
In 2010–11 the Australian National Audit
Office (ANAO) issued five audit reports that
involved Medicare Australia. Medicare Australia
responded to all ANAO recommendations, and
the Medicare Australia Audit Committee was
responsible for monitoring progress. ANAO
representatives were invited to attend all Audit
Committee meetings as observers.
In many cases ANAO recommendations
directly involved the responsibilities of policy
departments. As the service delivery agency,
Medicare Australia worked with policy
departments to help them effectively respond
to the recommendations.
The Joint Committee of Public Accounts
and Audit is required by the Public Accounts
and Audit Committee Act 1951 to examine
all Auditor-General reports that are tabled
in Parliament. The joint committee’s review
procedures are built around a series
of public hearings, at which evidence is
provided by agencies that have been the
subject of recent ‘significant’ audit findings.
Medicare Australia attended a hearing on
23 March 2011 in relation to the Committee’s
review of the ANAO’s audit of the Home
Insulation Program. For more information,
see Appendix D on page 229.
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Commonwealth
Ombudsman
Medicare Australia enjoyed a strong and
productive working relationship with the
Commonwealth Ombudsman’s Office.
Regular meetings occurred during the year
to discuss issues and areas of concern.
In 2010–11 the Commonwealth Ombudsman
received a total of 177 approaches concerning
Medicare Australia. This was a 3.5 per cent
increase from 2009–10.

Request statistics
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia received 30 FOI
requests. This was a 400 per cent increase on
the previous year. Taking into account cases
pending from previous years, 28 requests
were finalised. Of the cases processed:
•

applicants withdrew 4 requests before
decisions on access were made

•

full access was granted in 5 cases

•

part access was allowed in 8 cases

The Ombudsman did not publish any reports
involving Medicare Australia.

•

access was refused in 11 cases.

Freedom of information

There were no new requests for an internal
review of access and amendment decisions
received in 2010–11. Taking into account
requests pending from previous years, two
internal reviews were completed and resulted
in access or part access during this period.

Freedom of Information reforms
The changes required under the Australian
Information Commissioner Act 2010 and the
reforms to the Freedom of Information Act
1982 (the FOI Act) began on 1 November 2010
with the disclosure log and Information
Publication Scheme (IPS) starting on
1 May 2011.
•

From 1 November 2010 people were
able to lodge FOI requests electronically.

•

On 1 May 2011 an FOI disclosure
log was published on the website as
required under section 11C of the FOI
Act. The disclosure log makes available
non-personal decision documents
released in response to FOI access
requests since May 2011.

•

On 1 May 2011 the portfolio published
the IPS plan and other mandatory
information as required by section 8 of
the FOI Act. The IPS plan, at oaic.gov.
au/publications/papers.html, describes
how DHS proposes to implement
and administer the IPS and its
information holdings

A section 8 statement covering the period
1 July 2010 to 30 April 2011 inclusive is
included at Appendix E on page 231.

Reviews of freedom of information

There were no requests for reviews by
the Office of the Australian Information
Commissioner.
There were no new applications to the
Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) for
review of Medicare Australia FOI decisions.

Internal scrutiny
Internal audits
Medicare Australia had an audit function
which carried out internal audits to identify
risks and opportunities for improvement. The
audit program was developed in consultation
with the Audit Committee, the Executive,
business areas within Medicare Australia and
the ANAO, and addressed corporate strategic
risks to correctly target audit and assurance
activities. The audits provided independent
assurance on management performance in
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maintaining Medicare Australia’s strategic
priorities, achieving operational objectives
in line with organisational and legislative
requirements, and ensured that high standards
of probity and accountability were met.

Managing internal fraud

Medicare Australia:

During 2010–11 Medicare Australia complied
with the Commonwealth Fraud Control
Guidelines 2011 through a range of internal
fraud prevention and control initiatives.
These included:

•

•

fraud control planning

•

conducting fraud prevention and
ethics training

undertook periodic external
benchmarking to ensure that it
continued to conform to best practices

•

ensured employees undertook
professional development activities

•

•

fostered external relationships with
private and public sector audit
organisations

developing programs for detecting
and investigating potential fraud and
misconduct

•

reporting regularly to the Medicare
Australia Audit Committee.

•

maintained external networks within the
portfolio and other audit areas in public
sector departments and agencies and
the broader audit community.

Action on audit recommendations was
monitored and reported to the Medicare
Australia Executive, the Audit Committee and
the ANAO.
The Medicare Australia 2010–11 internal audit
program addressed possible weaknesses in
the control framework in areas of:
•

governance

•

program performance and
administration

•

human resources management

•

finance management

•

information and communications
technology.

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia conducted
12 internal audits.

Medicare Australia also had various
confidential methods for the public and
employees to report internal fraud. All
allegations of inappropriate employee
involvement were assessed, and suspected
fraud or misconduct was investigated.
When necessary, cases were referred
to the Australian Federal Police and/or
the Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions for criminal proceedings.
The Secretary of DHS certified that Medicare
Australia complied with the guidelines. For a copy
of the Secretary’s signed certificate confirming
Medicare Australia’s compliance with the
guidelines see Appendix F on page 234.

Risk management
In line with SDR, Medicare Australia
consolidated its risk and business continuity
functions with Centrelink and DHS
during 2010–11.
Assessing, treating and monitoring risks
were an integral part of Medicare Australia’s
planning and decision-making process.
Effective risk management ensured Medicare
Australia maximised opportunities and
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minimised uncertainty. A specialist Risk
Management Team provided support to help
manage business and project risks. Effective risk
management enabled Medicare Australia to:

determine their maximum tolerable period
of disruption. As a result Medicare Australia
prioritised its business continuity planning and
recovery procedures.

•

achieve program objectives through
improved decision making

•

improve resource allocation, reduce costs
and increase savings

•

increase stakeholder confidence in
Medicare Australia.

During the 2011 floods and Tropical Cyclone
Yasi, business continuity plans were successfully
put to the test. Current plans and procedures
were reviewed to ensure a consistent and
cohesive response across Medicare Australia,
Centrelink and DHS.

The Risk Management Framework was the
foundation for effective risk management
within Medicare Australia. It outlined the key
elements for identifying and managing risks
and consistency with best practice and the
risk management international standard—
AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management:
Principles and guidelines.

Comcover risk
management
In March 2011 DHS, Centrelink and Medicare
Australia jointly participated in the annual
Comcover Risk Management Benchmarking
Program and were awarded an 8.9 per cent
discount (out of a possible 10 per cent)
on the 2011–12 insurance premium. This
resulted in approximately $618 000 in savings.
This score showed the effectiveness of risk
management within DHS.

Business continuity
Medicare Australia had a business continuity
policy and related procedures for managing
business disruptions. The procedures for
managing disruptions had the flexibility to
respond to the nature and size of the disruption.
All branches maintained business continuity
plans with clear roles, responsibilities and
actions to ensure critical payments, services
and supporting functions could continue
during disruptions. During the year all
payments and services were reviewed to

Workplace security
Protective security services are used for the
following strategic and operational security
elements across DHS:
•

the physical security of all DHS
employees and customers

•

the physical security of all buildings and
office space

•

the physical security of DHS assets and
hard copy information

•

personnel security vetting for all
current and prospective DHS employees
and contractors.

Associated with those responsibilities are the
following tasks:
•

physical security incident management

•

physical security reviews

•

policy advice and development

•

security awareness training

•

personnel security vetting.

Workplace security focused on consolidating
and standardising security policy and
procedures, providing security advice
to support co-location in the network
and the start of a DHS-wide site security
review program.
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Emergency
management
Emergency management and business
continuity were regularly reviewed and several
were tested by real scenarios in 2010–11
during the Queensland floods and Tropical
Cyclone Yasi emergencies.
During these emergencies, Medicare Australia
worked closely with Centrelink and key
stakeholder groups to coordinate approaches
and ensure customer service. To maintain
business as usual services, telephony and
processing work was redistributed from
affected Medicare offices to other Medicare
offices elsewhere in Australia.
During the flood crisis Medicare Australia
employees worked closely with key
stakeholders including the Department of
Health and Ageing (DoHA) and peak bodies
such as the Australian Medical Association
and the Pharmacy Guild of Australia. This
close liaison was maintained through the
cyclone emergency. The organisations shared
information about response actions, including
monitoring the supply of essential drugs to
hospitals in affected areas and streamlining
procedures to assist individual doctors and
pharmacists to maintain or re-establish services.
During the Tropical Cyclone Yasi emergency
Medicare Australia employees worked with
teams from Centrelink to establish a portfolio
presence in the cyclone-affected communities
around Cairns, Smithfield, Innisfail, Ingham,
Aitkenvale, Townsville, Ayr and the Atherton
Tablelands. Employees also worked with
the community, and local, state and federal
agencies and provider groups.
Medicare Australia employees also
assisted with the lodgment and
processing of Australian Government
Disaster Recovery Payment and Disaster
Income Recovery Subsidy payments.
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

Privacy
Privacy of customer
records and personal
information
DHS places great emphasis on protecting
the privacy of customers and employees.
A number of measures ensure a high standard
of privacy processes to meet community
expectations to protect personal information.
Secrecy provisions contained in the Health
Insurance Act 1973 and the National Health
Act 1953, made it an offence for Medicare
Australia employees to disclose information
about a person obtained under those Acts,
unless that disclosure was in the performance
of their duties, or unless one of the disclosure
enabling sections contained in the secrecy
provisions applied.
All requests for personal Medicare and/or PBS
information were considered case by case
according to the secrecy provisions and, in
many cases, required approval or certification
by an officer exercising a delegation made by
the CEO. Information could be disclosed in
response to requests, for example, from state
or territory medical boards, other specified
Commonwealth agencies or in response to
requests in the public interest.
Personal information about other programs
administered by Medicare Australia
was protected by the Privacy Act 1988.
Requests for personal information about
those programs were considered under the
information privacy principles.
Depending on the circumstances, requests
for other types of information or documents
were processed under either the Privacy Act
or the FOI Act.
Unauthorised access is the deliberate
access by employees (including consultants
and contractors) to confidential customer
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information without a legitimate, workrelated purpose.
With effect from December 2010 responsibility
for all unauthorised access detection and
investigation activity was integrated across
the portfolio.
Detection is usually undertaken using datamatching technology and reviewing IT System
audit logs to identify incidents where an
employee may have accessed a customer’s
computer record when there is no business
purpose. All cases are investigated when a
data match is detected.
If unauthorised access is determined, the
matter is referred for formal administrative
action, including Code of Conduct
investigation. Serious cases may be referred
to the Australian Federal Police and/or
the Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions for criminal proceedings.

Processes to protect
privacy
These processes included:
•

regular employee communication
on themes of privacy, procedural
instructions for employees and
improvement of computer‑based
tools for recording and highlighting
sensitive information

•

high quality and timely advice to
all business areas to encourage the
identification and resolution of any
privacy issues as they arise

•

investigation of customer complaints
and employee reports of privacy
incidents to address systemic issues
and improve business processes

•

ongoing feedback to business areas to
increase privacy awareness and meet
legislative requirements.

Privacy training
Medicare Australia raised awareness of
privacy issues through training, participation
in various privacy forums and providing expert
advice to internal and external stakeholders.
Medicare Australia’s training responsibilities
were outlined in Chief Executive Instruction 9.5
and it met these by ensuring that all ongoing
and non-ongoing employees completed
privacy training. During 2010–11 more than
1550 employees completed privacy training.
All new starters complete privacy training on
commencement with DHS.

Privacy impact assessments
DHS is committed to best privacy practice,
ensuring new projects and program
improvements are developed within a robust
privacy framework. DHS continues to use
the privacy impact assessment process to
minimise privacy risks and impacts, ensure
compliance with legal obligations and build
best privacy practice into projects.
In 2010–11 privacy impact assessments
were used on a range of significant projects,
including SDR. The Australian Government
Solicitor’s office completed a comprehensive
privacy impact assessment on the Healthcare
Identifiers project. The Office of the
Australian Information Commissioner then
began a privacy audit of the project after it
became operational. Comprehensive privacy
analysis continues as part of the process
for all identified projects where personal
information may be affected.

Privacy incidents
Medicare Australia investigated all potential
privacy incidents. Usually, incidents were
reported by Medicare Australia management,
employees, customers, the Commonwealth
Ombudsman, Members of Parliament or
the Office of the Australian Information
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Commissioner. Medicare Australia also
audited employee access to customer
information in its computer records to detect
any unauthorised entry.

•

In 2010–11 there were 85 substantiated
cases, compared to 66 in 2009–10.
There was an increase in reported privacy
incidents during 2010–11. The increase was
an expected side effect of:
•

an increase in privacy awareness through
the development of an online refresher
training module

process re-development work carried
out in partnership with the National
Feedback and Assessment Team (NFAT),
which better enabled them to recognise
and appropriately engage the privacy
team when incidents are reported to
NFAT employees.

Comparatively, the percentage of
substantiated incidents against the total
reported had actually decreased. In 2009–10,
56 per cent of all incidents were substantiated
(66 of 117) compared to 52 per cent in
2010–11 (85 of 163).

Table 46: Privacy incidents in 2010–11

2009–10

2010–11

117

163

Cases found to be not substantiated

45

60

Substantiated cases

66

85

6

18

Complaints investigated about the use and disclosure
of personal information

Assessments in progress

Office of the Australian
Information Commissioner
The portfolio established a Memorandum
of Understanding in 2010 with the Office of
the Australian Information Commissioner to
manage the relationship with the portfolio.
Medicare Australia had a close working
relationship with the Office of the Australian
Information Commissioner, which enabled
privacy complaint cases to be handled
efficiently and effectively. Complaints were
quickly referred for investigation and response,
resulting in better service for the complainant.
In 2010–11, four complaints were lodged
with the Office of the Australian Information
Commissioner.
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The Office of the Australian Information
Commissioner could issue a report or
declaration about Medicare Australia under
sections 30 and 52 of the Privacy Act 1988.
These statutory reports and determinations
enabled the Commissioner to report directly
to a Minister and to make a decision either
to dismiss or to substantiate a complaint.
During 2010–11 there were no reports or
determinations about Medicare Australia issued
under these sections by the Commissioner.
Medicare Australia also complied with
the Office of the Australian Information
Commissioner’s guidelines under the
National Health Act which deal with personal
Medicare and PBS claims information,
including its storage and destruction, as well
as data-matching restrictions.
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Compliance and fraud
As part of the portfolio, Medicare Australia was
responsible for ensuring that public funds were
used appropriately by maintaining the integrity
of the programs it administered. A key focus
was ensuring that Medicare Benefits Schedule
(MBS) benefits, subsidies under the PBS and
health-related incentives were claimed correctly
and that the right person received the right
payment at the right time.

National Compliance
Program
Medicare Australia’s National Compliance
Program encouraged and supported its key
stakeholder groups to voluntarily comply
with the requirements of the programs it
administered. The program was risk-based
and identified a mix of activities to support
and manage compliance.

of the Overseas Drug Diversion Program.
The program targets individuals who may be
illegally sending or carrying PBS medicines
overseas. The enquiry line and website
provide information on the rights and
responsibilities of Australians when travelling.
In 2010–11 the enquiry line received a total of
3873 calls, and the website received 37 975 visits.
Prescription Shopping Program
The aim of the Prescription Shopping
Program is to protect the integrity of the PBS
by identifying and reducing the number of
patients obtaining medicines subsidised under
the scheme in excess of medical need.
The program provides information to help
prescribers make informed prescribing
decisions and thereby assist them to better
manage the health outcomes of their patients.
In 2010–11 the program registered 1119 new
prescribers to use the service. A total of
26 586 prescribers have registered to use the
service since its inception on 2 February 2005.

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia’s focus
areas encompassed:

Prescription Shopping
Information Service

•

education—continuing to develop
resources to help providers, including
new doctors and international medical
graduates, to voluntarily meet their
compliance obligations

•

stakeholder engagement—the co-design
of Medicare Australia’s compliance
initiatives

Medicare’s Prescription Shopping Information
Service (1800 631 181) provides eligible
prescribers with information on patients whom
they suspect may be prescription shopping.
This information is provided only when the
patient had been identified as a potential
prescription shopper according to the criteria
set for the Prescription Shopping Program.

•

completion of Medicare Australia’s
published work program

•

close cooperation with other portfolio
agencies to improve compliance and
fraud management.

Information services
Travelling with PBS medicine enquiry line
The Travelling with Pharmaceutical Benefits
Scheme medicine enquiry line (1800 500
147) and related website are initiatives

In 2010–11 the service received 29 458 calls
compared to 26 900 in 2009–10 and sent
4810 patient reports compared to 5100
in 2009–10. This is a 9.5 per cent increase
in the number of calls from prescribers
wanting to know their patients’ PBS history
and a 5.7 per cent decrease in the number of
requests for reports to be sent to prescribers
to put on the patients’ records. The increase
in the number of calls to the Prescription
Shopping Information Service indicated an
increased awareness of the program by health
professionals as a result of communication
and promotional activities.
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Practitioner Alert Service
Medicare contacts prescribers to give them
information about their patients who may
be obtaining PBS medicines beyond their
medical needs. Medicare also writes to
patients, notifying them of these concerns
and advising them that their prescribers had
also been advised.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia wrote to
705 patients and to 11 101 prescribers about
those patients.

Compliance management
Increased Medicare Compliance Audits
In 2008–09, under the Increased Medicare
Compliance Audits initiative, Medicare’s
audit coverage was increased from 500 to
2500 compliance audit and review cases.
This equated to auditing approximately
four per cent of the active MBS health
professional population at that time.
Under this initiative the Government also
announced the introduction of changes to the
legislation to:
•

require health professionals to produce
documents to substantiate their
Medicare claiming when audited

•

introduce a financial penalty for health
professionals who do not substantiate
claims or whose incorrect claims are
above a certain amount

•

allow health professionals to seek an
independent internal review of an
audit outcome.

The Health Insurance Amendment
(Compliance) Act 2011 gives effect to these
changes and became law on 9 April 2011.
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Medicare Australia began an education
campaign to supply health professionals with
information about the changes and the new
obligations on both Medicare Australia and
health professionals.

Risk analysis
Medicare Australia had a risk-based
compliance program whereby potential
compliance risks were identified through
internal assessments, information supplied to
the Medicare fraud tip-off line and targeted
detection techniques. In assessing the nature
and extent of compliance risks, claiming data
was, at times, analysed using a range of
sophisticated tools and techniques.

Fraud tip-off line
The public reported suspected fraud against
Centrelink, Medicare Australia and the Child
Support Program (CSP) by phoning the
Australian Government Services Fraud Tip-off
Line (131 524) or online.
Most people are honest and use government
services fairly. Information from the public
about people who misuse these services is
used to review entitlements and, if necessary,
carry out investigations.
Medicare Australia also received tip-offs
about potential fraud cases via fax, mail and
email. All tip-offs were assessed to determine
whether there were compliance concerns.
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia received 3037
tip-offs through the Australian Government
Fraud Services Tip-off Line and 2764 tip-offs
through other avenues.

Data mining
Medicare Australia also monitored
anomalous claiming patterns using data
mining techniques and methodologies,
to provide data for compliance audits.
The high level skills of Medicare Australia’s
data miners were recognised at the
International Conference on Data Mining
held in Sydney in December 2010.
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Cross-agency compliance operations
The Overseas Drug Diversion Program focuses
on individuals who may be illegally sending
or taking PBS medicines overseas. Medicare
Australia also worked with the Australian
Customs and Border Protection Service and
Australia Post to detect the illegal export of
PBS medicines through international airports
and mail exchanges.

If non-compliance (excluding fraud) was
suspected, Medicare Australia did one or
more of the following:
•

compliance audit—to verify that
individuals or organisations were
entitled to the payments received.

Audits were conducted by
telephone, letter or face-to-face.

––

If non-compliance was accidental,
Medicare Australia would counsel
and provide educational material,
and recover incorrectly paid money,
where appropriate.

•

review of practitioner claiming profiles—
the Practitioner Review Program dealt
with practitioners whose provision of
services under Medicare or the PBS
prescribing data suggested that there
may be inappropriate practice.

•

an investigation—if fraudulent or
criminal behaviour was suspected.
During investigations the suspected
individual was given the opportunity
to respond to the allegations made and,
if appropriate, the case was referred
to the Commonwealth Director of
Public Prosecutions.

Compliance cases—audits and
reviews
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia continued to
build on the co-design approach adopted
in recent years by engaging with key
stakeholders to understand and identify the
risks to compliance, and to determine and
deliver appropriate treatments.

––

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia finalised 2980
compliance audits and review cases.

Table 47: Completed audit and review cases 2010–11

Program/Group

2009–10

2010–11

2 365

2 1791

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

273

348

Health Support Program

442

702

46

69

Public

468

3143

Total

3 594

2 980

Medicare Benefits Schedule

Aged Care

1

The decrease in the number of completed MBS compliance audits and review cases between 2009–10 and 2010–11
was due primarily to the movement of resources to undertake audits on the Chronic Disease Dental Scheme which, due
to the complexity of the nature of these audits, required increased time to complete.

2
The decrease in number of Health Support Program audits was due to the implementation of a ‘confirmation of
statements’ process to the Practice Incentives Program which meant that auditing started later in the year than
expected thereby reducing the number of audits able to be completed within the 12-month period.
3

Public cases for audit are mainly referred via the Fraud Tip-off Line—fewer public cases were referred to Medicare
Australia in 2010–11 compared to the previous year.
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Professionalism Survey
Medicare Australia continued to seek
feedback from health professionals via
the Professionalism Survey. The survey
asked health professionals to assess both
Medicare Australia’s audit process and the
professionalism of its compliance employees
after the completion of a compliance activity
such as an audit.

Compliance Officer Development
program
The Compliance Officer Development
Program, developed during the year by
Medicare Australia and Centrelink, provides
a compliance-focused training framework
for affected employees. The program was
tailored to:
•

meet the current and future business
needs of employees working on
compliance matters

•

provide career and development
pathways across the portfolio.

Results for this financial year were again
positive. The feedback revealed that:
•

93 per cent of respondents agreed or
strongly agreed that they were treated
in a professional manner

•

86 per cent of respondents agreed
or strongly agreed that privacy was
respected

•

87 per cent of respondents agreed or
strongly agreed that the reason for the
compliance activity was fully explained

•

89 per cent of respondents agreed or
strongly agreed that they were given
an opportunity to respond to Medicare
Australia’s concerns

Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions

•

89 per cent of respondents agreed or
strongly agreed that they were advised of
the outcome of the compliance activity

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia referred
22 matters to the Commonwealth Director of
Public Prosecutions for criminal prosecution.

•

78 per cent of respondents agreed or
strongly agreed that the information
provided to them was helpful in
understanding how to correctly use the
health programs administered by Medicare
Australia such as the MBS and PBS.

The Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions successfully prosecuted
15 matters referred by Medicare Australia.
Table 48 on page 131 summarises those
prosecutions.

This information will continue to be used in
the training and development of compliance
officers and to continually improve the
audit process.
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Implementation of the technical and
leadership qualification elements of this
framework began in November 2010.

External referrals
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Table 48: Summary of successful prosecutions 2010–11

2009–10

2010–11

Number

Repayment
orders ($)

Number

Repayment
orders ($)

0

0

1

121 600

Members of the public

12

61 553

14

238 410

Total

12

61 553

15

360 010

Health professionals

Director of Professional Services
Review
The Professional Services Review (PSR) is a peer
review process established in 1994 to examine
suspected cases of inappropriate practice. The
PSR is an independent statutory body within
the health portfolio and is accountable to the
Minister for Health and Ageing. In 2010–11
Medicare Australia referred 56 practitioners to
the Director of PSR.

A case can be referred to a committee when:
•

a practitioner has been convicted of
a relevant offence or civil contravention

•

a practitioner has been found under the
Professional Services Review Scheme to
have engaged in inappropriate practice
on two or more separate occasions

•

a practitioner or pathology company is
reasonably believed to have breached
a pathology undertaking.

Suspension or revocation of approval
to supply under the PBS

A committee can make multiple
determinations including that:

Under section 133 of the National Health
Act 1953, the approval for pharmacists to
supply PBS medicines and claim PBS benefits
can be revoked by the Minister for Health
and Ageing or suspended by the Secretary
of DoHA.

•

no further action be taken

•

the practitioner be reprimanded

•

the practitioner be counselled

•

the practitioner be partially or fully
disqualified from participating in the
Medicare program for up to five years.
A disqualification may also be specific to
services, a class of persons or a location.

In 2010–11 Medicare Australia did not
recommend the suspension of any
pharmacists under section 133.

Medicare Participation Review
Committees

In 2010–11, seven practitioners were referred
to a Medicare Participation Review Committee,
but no determinations were made.

Medicare Participation Review Committees
are independent statutory committees
established case by case under Part VB of
the Health Insurance Act 1973. The role of
a committee is to make an independent
determination on whether a practitioner
should maintain the right to participate
in Medicare.
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Payment correctness
and debt
management

Debts raised for recovery
of benefits incorrectly
paid
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia initiated action
to recover more than $28 million in incorrect
payments from more than 600 debtors. This
was through:

Payment accuracy reviews
As part of the assurance process, Medicare
Australia conducted payment accuracy
reviews to estimate the overall level of
payment accuracy in the administration of
Medicare and PBS programs. The reviews
measured the level of accuracy by regularly
verifying, with the health professional and
patient, a random sample of services or
supplies for which Medicare or PBS benefits
were paid. In 2010–11 the level of payment
accuracy for Medicare benefits was calculated
to be 99.84 per cent and 99.81 per cent for
the PBS. This compared with 99.86 per cent
and 99.7 per cent, respectively, in 2009–10.

•

voluntary agreements as a result of
audits, investigations or practitioner
reviews

•

payment orders resulting from successful
prosecutions

•

payment orders resulting from the
Director of PSR’s determinations.

Table 49: Debts raised for recovery of benefits incorrectly paid

Program

2009–10

2010–11

Number

Amount ($)

Number

Amount ($)

Medicare Benefits Schedule

497

8 022 086

331

25 845 257

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

107

2 058 315

234

1 890 785

15

212 587

37

507 658

619

10 292 988

602

28 243 700

Health Support Program
Total
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Purchasing and
consultancies

Medicare Australia also contributed to a
number of whole-of-government coordinated
procurement initiatives led by the Department
of Finance and Deregulation.

To support SDR, the portfolio’s procurement
and contract management functions were
integrated during the year. This led to greater
buying power and economies of scale.

Consultancy services

Procurement
Medicare Australia’s procurement activities
were carried out in accordance with the
Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines
(CPGs). Medicare Australia’s Chief Executive
Instructions and related policy and procedural
publications aligned with the CPGs and were
regularly reviewed for consistency with the
Commonwealth Procurement Framework.
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia
continued to provide specialist procurement
advice, assistance, training and resources to
employees to ensure procurement activities
were carried out according to the CPGs.
One employee completed the Advanced
Diploma of Government (Procurement and
Contracting), and another completed the
Certificate IV in Government (Procurement
and Contracting).
Medicare Australia worked jointly with
all portfolio agencies to cooperate in
procurement activity. This took the form
of either a joint approach to the market
(clustering) or through contractual
arrangements allowing access by other
portfolio agencies (often referred to as
piggybacking). Clustering and piggybacking
led to lower tendering costs and savings
through economies of scale. Similarly,
Medicare Australia established clustering
and piggyback arrangements with other
Australian Government agencies whenever
it was practical to do so.

Medicare Australia complied with the
information published in the Department
of Finance and Deregulation’s Financial
Management Guidance No 15: Guidance
on Procurement Publishing Obligations
(July 2007) in distinguishing between
consultancy and non-consultancy contracts
for annual reporting purposes.
During 2010–11, seven new consultancy
contracts were entered into, involving total
actual expenditure of $397 146. In addition,
two ongoing consultancy contracts were
active during the year, involving total actual
expenditure of $135 775 (including GST).
Appendix G on page 235 shows all new
consultancy contracts let by Medicare
Australia during 2010–11 with a value of
$10 000 or more.
Table 50 shows total expenditure on
consultancy contracts for the current and
previous two financial years.
Table 50: Expenditure on consultancy
services 2008–09 to 2010–11 (including GST)

Financial
year

Total consultancy services
expenditure ($)

2008–09

1 167 482

2009–10

1 466 288

2010–11

532 921

Annual reports contain information about
actual expenditure on contracts and
consultancies. Information on the value of
contracts and consultancies is available on
the AusTender website tenders.gov.au
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Exempt contracts
During the year Medicare Australia had
no contracts or standing offers that were
exempted from publication on AusTender.

Australian National Audit
Office access clauses
All of Medicare Australia’s templates for
contracts of $100 000 or more included
standard clauses providing the AuditorGeneral with appropriate access to a
contractor’s premises.

Grants
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia did not
administer any grants programs. Therefore
no Medicare Australia grants are listed on
its website.

Corporate records
management
With corporate records management
integrated across the portfolio as part of
SDR, DHS achieved some major milestones in
delivering a fully digital records management
environment. During 2010–11 a DHS Records
Authority was introduced for DHS, Centrelink
and Medicare Australia to support the
management of records. The new Scanning
Operations Centre was also implemented,
representing an essential component in
moving to a digital environment.
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Property
management
During the year property and assets
management were integrated as part of SDR.
Property management services were provided
by Jones Lang LaSalle. This contract included
DHS, Medicare Australia and Centrelink.
Medicare Australia maintained a leased
portfolio of 241 sites occupying 103 504m2.
The property portfolio comprised seven sites
in the Australian Capital Territory, with the
rest located in the other Australian capital
cities and regions. This excludes the 18
Medicare offices co-located with Centrelink
Customer Service Centres (CSCs).
In 2010–11 office lease and associated costs
for Medicare Australia was $66 million.
In an ongoing program to improve service
delivery, customer and employee amenity,
and enhance the image and presentation of
Medicare Australia, in 2010–11 two Medicare
offices relocated to new premises in Aitkenvale,
Queensland, and Frankston, Victoria, and a
further one Medicare office was co-located
with a CSC in a new building in Warragul,
Victoria. Seventeen Medicare offices were
co-located with CSCs in the existing Centrelink
building. In total, $22 million was spent on
capital improvements to Medicare offices.
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Assets management
Medicare Australia’s assets largely comprised
leasehold improvements, office equipment
and computer software. An assets register
was updated as assets were purchased,
disposed of or retired.

Compensation for
customers
Medicare Australia received 43 compensation
claims from customers for settlement under
the Scheme for Compensation for Detriment
caused by Defective Administration (CDDA)
in 2010–11. This was 4.8 per cent more than
the 41 claims received in 2009–10.

Environmental
management
As part of SDR, during the year DHS,
Medicare Australia and Centrelink integrated
environmental management functions. In
particular, extensive work was undertaken
to prepare for a DHS Environmental
Management System to start on 1 July 2011.
In line with requirements of section 516A of
the Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999, Medicare Australia
reported on its contribution to the principles
of ecologically sustainable development and
environmental performance (see Appendix H
on page 237).

In the same period, 14 claims were approved
under the CDDA scheme. This represented
73 per cent of all determined claims,
compared with 64 per cent in 2009–10.

Information and
communications
technology

The most common reason for paying
customer compensation was to reimburse
customers for incorrect information given.

ICT Strategic Plan

Act of Grace
payments
No Act of Grace payments were made
in 2010–11.

A DHS ICT Strategic Plan was launched in
June 2011. The plan ensures that ICT in DHS
has a work program that is strategically
focused, well governed, and meets the
needs of program and delivery areas, partner
agencies and customers. The plan has three
objectives:
•

Build for the future

•

Improve how we work

•

Continue to deliver high quality service.

The plan also has a set of management
principles to guide ICT decision making. Over
the next five years the plan will help DHS to
achieve much better delivery of government
social and health-related services.
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ICT workforce capability
Planning for the future—the
ICT Human Capital Strategy and
Action Plan
In 2010–11 a three-year ICT Human Capital
Strategy and Action Plan was endorsed
in recognition of the role ICT plays in
achieving SDR. The plan builds capability in
a challenging environment experiencing high
levels of demand for skills that are in short
supply both within DHS and in the market.
It outlines a series of accountable actions built
around these themes:
•

alignment—focusing on what matters to
deliver DHS business

•

achievement—accountability for
achieving outcomes

•

efficiency—investing in developing
people and making the most of that
investment

•

sustainability—taking action to retain
key performers

•

scalability—developing and
implementing processes to ensure
a steady supply of talent needed to
execute business strategy

•

risk management—acting in a way that
reduces significant risk for DHS.

The plan will be reviewed annually to ensure
that DHS stays ahead of the game.

Building capability—the ICT
Capability Framework
The ICT Capability Framework is being
extended across DHS, as well as rolling out job
role tagging and skill tagging. The framework
aligns with the whole-of-government ICT
Capability Framework that is based on the
international standard, the Skills Framework
for the Information Age. The framework
provides detailed information on both
technical and non-technical roles and outlines
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capabilities by both job role and competency
level/APS level.
The framework is a foundation document
that guides workforce planning, identifying
gaps in critical job roles and capabilities. It is
also used for:
•

developing targeted human resource
strategies

•

benchmarking with the wider ICT job
market as it mirrors terminology used
externally

•

providing data for more transparency in
project costing

•

assisting with workload management

•

supporting skills development.

Capability improvement planning
During the year the portfolio began to
implement a new Project and Program
Management Capability Improvement Plan.
The plan was developed in response to the
Government’s ICT reforms, which include the
need for Financial Management Act agencies
to improve their capability to commission,
manage and benefit from projects.

Portfolio Data Centre
As part of the five-year Portfolio Data Centre
program of work, the portfolio significantly
increased the ICT capacity in the new Hume
Data Centre. This will enable the consolidation
of seven data centres down to three in
2011–12. Further consolidation down to two
data centres will follow. The consolidation
of the first legacy data centre is well under
way. Resilience of the existing interim Disaster
Recovery data centre was also improved
throughout 2010–11.

Service Delivery Reform
For information about implementing the
required ICT capability to support various SDR
initiatives, see ICT Integration on page 31.
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Medicare Australia’s ICT
capability

––

provider directory

––

consumer directory

Medicare Australia was a key player in
the Australian health sector, providing
information and payment services through its
ICT capability.

•

In 2010–11 new or improved services were
delivered for claiming Medicare benefits
online, Medicare Safety Net capping,
Telehealth, Community Pharmacy Agreement
projects, Healthcare Identifier, Aged Care
program, Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House (the Clearing House), Practice
Incentive Program initiatives, Australian Health
Survey, Training Assistance Scheme and
Financial Assistance Scheme.

•

completed the initial set of projects for
the PBS Fifth Community Pharmacy
Agreement for DoHA

•

implemented core ICT components of
the Healthcare Identifiers Service, and
provided operational support on behalf of
the National E-health Transition Authority

•

delivered claiming Medicare benefits
online, Medicare Safety Net capping and
MBS changes

•

added MBS items to the Telehealth
initiative so health professionals could
claim for online consultations

•

developed a system to make payments
to individuals participating in the
Australian Health Survey on behalf of
the Australian Bureau of Statistics

•

supported the Department of Climate
Change and Energy Efficiency through
the implementation of the Training and
Financial Assistance Schemes

•

enhanced the Clearing House to improve
daily operations for the Department of
Treasury

•

implemented a new generation
Interactive Voice Response (IVR)
capability to support optometrists to
replace legacy IVR systems.

•

implemented ICT infrastructure to
support the transfer of the early release
of superannuation benefits business
functions from the Australian Prudential
Regulation Authority (APRA).

Medicare Australia’s ICT capability included:
•

delivery and management of major
payment and information systems for
several government agencies

•

high availability ICT systems and
infrastructure supporting large-scale
real‑time eBusiness processing 24 hours
a day, seven days a week, all year round

•

secure processing over the internet using
Public Key Infrastructure (PKI)

•

substantial business and transaction
connections with the Australian health
sector, major banks, superannuation
funds, small business, and the
Australian, state and local governments

•

online access to information for
Australian citizens, health professionals
and Medicare Australia service officers

•

major directory systems supporting
Australian citizens and health
professionals

proven disaster recovery capability.

Major ICT achievements
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia:
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Portfolio people
initiatives
People Services Delivery
Project
In 2010–11 people functions were integrated
across the portfolio. This involved all
operational human resource and learning
teams reporting nationally through two DHS
people divisions—People Capability and
People Services. These divisions are working
towards rolling out consistent services,
policies and frameworks to support a single
DHS workforce.

Portfolio People Survey
In March 2011 the first Portfolio People
Survey was conducted for all eligible portfolio
employees. Seventy-two per cent of eligible
employees responded to the survey.
The survey measured employee engagement.
The responses showed that employees are
generally engaged, committed and positive
about working in the portfolio, especially
in the context of the major changes taking
place. The level of employee engagement
across the portfolio was strong, at 69 index
points. This indicated that on average many
employees were motivated at work and were
also willing to exercise discretionary effort to
ensure the success of the portfolio.
The survey report highlighted a number
of priority areas to sustain and improve,
including career progression and work–life
balance, which will be addressed through
a range of strategies over the coming year.
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Portfolio People Strategy
and capability framework
In 2010–11 the portfolio focused on
developing the Portfolio People Strategy—
Vision 2015. This is central to workforce
planning as DHS integration and SDR are
implemented.
Another priority was developing a new,
nationally consistent workforce planning
framework for the portfolio. Based on
extensive national and international research,
the new framework sets the future direction
for workforce planning. Aligned with other
business planning processes and strong
governance, the delivery model will enhance
decision making based on an analysis of the
operating environment, business objectives
and labour market conditions.
During the year the portfolio also:
•

adopted an approach to people metrics,
reporting and job design

•

participated in the Whole of
Government ICT Workforce Planning
Working Group

•

developed agency-specific components
to deliver the ICT Human Capital Plan

•

formulated a new job design framework
and supporting tools which will help to
build future quality jobs.

People Change Centre
A People Change Centre was established to
manage the impact on employees affected
by change and to support the integration
of employees in the new organisational
structure. During the year the centre
implemented a business support model and
published a Change Management Toolbox to
assist leaders, managers and employees. (See
also People integration and people change on
page 31.)
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Recruitment
In 2010–11 the portfolio continued to focus on
integrating and streamlining recruitment policy,
procedures and processes. Portfolio recruitment
achievements for the year included:
•

integration of recruitment processing

•

development of inclusive recruitment
strategies to ensure workforce diversity

•

creation of standard advertising
templates

•

development of a portfolio entry-level
framework, which includes specific
targeting of diversity groups.

Portfolio leadership
Portfolio People and Leadership
Committee
The Portfolio People and Leadership
Committee coordinated leadership
development and alignment activities
and provided advice on strategic people
management and policy.

Leadership and talent management
strategies
During the year, the portfolio developed a
portfolio Leadership Strategy and a Talent and
Succession Management Strategy to develop
leadership capacity, drive capability and
ensure sustainability into the future.

Middle management development
The portfolio developed non-Senior Executive
Service (SES) employees by extending current
programs and activities. A wide range of
programs were delivered, including tailored
change management training to equip
managers and team leaders with the skills to
manage the transition process taking place,
both for themselves and their employees. The
portfolio continued to deliver the Leading Bold
Change Program with over 1600 managers
taking part over the year.

The portfolio also delivered a range
of externally developed and facilitated
leadership development programs to
589 APS5–EL2 employees. The leadership
development programs ranged from
foundation management skills to advanced
leadership programs.

Senior executive development
A revised portfolio SES learning and
development plan linked to SES performance
management. The plan identifies core
learning for each SES level and the
development programs and events available,
including Australia and New Zealand School
of Government and Australian Public Service
Commission programs. A schedule of
tailored and issues-based internal events,
training, updates, reviews and forums was
also provided. A tracking tool ensured
management reporting on participation in
mandatory and core programs.
Other developmental initiatives included:
•

holding portfolio leadership forums
to build shared understanding of
priority issues

•

using Action Learning Sets to develop
peer support and collaboration

•

introducing a values-based assessment
of SES employees as part of establishing
a cultural baseline.

Senior executive
remuneration
All SES employees—Centrelink, Medicare
Australia and DHS—were moved to a single
set of employment terms and conditions
in 2010–11. Conditions of employment for
all senior executives are provided through a
determination made under section 24(1) of
the Public Service Act 1999.
During the year, SES remuneration was
determined by the agency head and
reflected work value, individual capability,
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individual contribution and performance.
Relevant market factors and organisational
performance were also taken into account.
Remuneration was reviewed at the end of the
annual performance cycle. For information
about SES remuneration see Appendix I on
page 243.

Ethics, APS Values and
Code of Conduct
DHS is committed to supporting employees to
meet their obligations to adhere to APS Values
and comply with the APS Code of Conduct.
When employees start work they all receive
an Ethics Resource kit containing an Ethics
and Code of Conduct handbook. Employees
also receive information about the APS Values
and Code of Conduct via all-employee emails,
the intranet, and induction and other training
programs. Employees also get information
and guidance about conduct and behaviour
expectations from their managers.
DHS developed an integrated ethics
framework to support ethical decision
making and foster an organisational ethicsbased culture. The ethics infrastructure
includes guidance on conduct and behaviour
expectations, corporate ethics and values
training, and an internal ethics intranet site
connecting managers and employees to more
information, resources and tools.

The development of a new Workplace
Diversity and Inclusion Strategy reinforces
this commitment.

Employment of people with disability
DHS continues to be active in developing
initiatives to improve employment
opportunities for people with disability.
Examples of these are summarised below.
Scanning Operations Centre—the
Scanning Operations Centre opened in
September 2010. The centre sets mandatory
targets for employing people from diversity
groups, particularly people with disability.
This involved a close working relationship
with Disability Employment Service providers
to give people with disability the opportunity
to work in DHS.
Australian Network on Disability—DHS
maintains ‘Gold’ level membership, which gives
employers, managers and employees advice
and guidance on workplace issues and support
strategies for employees with disability. The
network assists organisations to comply with
the Disability Discrimination Act 1992.

Diversity

Disability Technical Aids Unit—an advisory
unit coordinates employee support for
assistive technology, which includes screen
reading, screen magnification and speech
recognition software. It also ensures new
products and solutions are accessible across
DHS and sends out a quarterly newsletter
about assistive technology.

DHS is focused on providing an inclusive,
diversity-friendly workplace and ensuring equal
opportunity for all of its employees. Workplace
diversity assists in providing effective customer
service for a wide range of customers.

Champion Strategy—a Disability Champion
Strategy has been implemented, and senior
level executives now assist in raising the
profile of employees with disability and
supporting strategies across DHS.

DHS has a longstanding and ongoing
commitment to ensuring that the needs
of people from a wide range of diverse
backgrounds are recognised and are
supported within the workplace.

Disability Employee Network—this
network gives employees with disability
opportunities to provide input into policies,
information and research and to share best
practice, experiences and feedback.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

141

Disability awareness training—disability
awareness and confidence training was
offered to managers and employees to
increase awareness and understanding of the
issues faced by employees with disability in
the workplace.
Commissioner’s directions—a framework
for implementing the Commissioner’s
Directions for Engagement of People with
Disability through Disability Employment
Service providers was developed. The
framework provides greater flexibility
across DHS for the employment of people
with disability.
At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia
employees who identified as having disability
made up 1.9 per cent of its total workforce.
(See also Appendix J on page 245.)

Employment of Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples
DHS is focused on providing a workplace
of choice for Indigenous Australians. A
commitment to improving employment
outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander peoples is outlined in the new DHS
Indigenous Employees Plan. The plan includes
the following strategies.
Indigenous mentoring—experienced and
qualified Indigenous employees mentor other
Indigenous employees to develop confidence
and skills and help to build their careers and
balance their lives between work and their
communities.
Identified positions—specific employment
criteria where most of the tasks involve
the development and/or the delivery of
policies, programs and services that impact
on Indigenous Australians and/or require
interaction with Indigenous communities or
their representatives.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
cultural awareness training—training is
designed and delivered to promote better
communication with Indigenous employees
and improve services to Indigenous customers
and their communities. The training increased
employee knowledge and understanding
of Indigenous culture and how to deal with
the issues affecting Indigenous customers
in culturally sensitive ways. During the year
training was also delivered to employees from
a number of other APS agencies.
Indigenous employment intranet site—
Indigenous employees and employees
working in human resources are given
information and resources via the intranet
that helps in recruiting, supporting and
developing Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander employees.
Meeting protocols—DHS follows Welcome
to Country and Acknowledgment of
Country protocols.
Indigenous Employees’ Network—this
network promotes employee development,
input into policies and practices affecting
Indigenous Australians, information sharing,
networking and peer support for Indigenous
employees. A quarterly Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander employee bulletin is
also published and distributed to network
members.
Days of significance—DHS celebrated and
commemorated events such as NAIDOC
Week, Sorry Day and Reconciliation Week.
Employee development—DHS continues to
support Indigenous employees’ involvement
in external networks such as the Indigenous
APS Employees Network, the Australian Public
Service Commission Indigenous Career Trek
and the Indigenous Pathways Program.
At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia’s
Indigenous employees made up 1.8 per cent
of its total workforce. (See also Appendix J on
page 245.)
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Ngarrindjeri man joins Medicare as an
Indigenous cadet

Tony, a proud member of the Ngarrindjeri
People (south-west of South Australia)
whose country is situated at the end of
the Murray River, joined Medicare as an
Indigenous cadet in 2009.
He is in his final year of university, studying
a Bachelor of Social Work and Bachelor
of Arts in International Studies, and is
currently working at Medicare’s head
office in South Australia.
‘I really enjoy working for Medicare—it’s
a great place to work. The people are
genuine, honest and hardworking.
‘This is my first time working for an
Australian Public Service agency and I am
grateful for the opportunity Medicare
has given me. I can’t wait to complete my
cadetship and start working in an area that
is aligned to my qualifications.’
Tony said Medicare Australia had been
very supportive in allowing him flexibility

in his study arrangements and in attending
block releases.
He was also given approval to attend
the APS Career Trek professional writing
course and the Indigenous APS Employees
Network meeting which has helped him
build networks with other Indigenous
employees in the public service.
‘I’m excited by the wide range of career
opportunities Medicare offers and in the
future I would like to put my hand up to
help with emergency response. ‘I think
it’s really important to assist our fellow
Australians when in need.’
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Medicare Australia
people

Collective Agreement. It was not a decisionmaking body, but a mechanism to enable
employees to influence decisions. The
committee was chaired by General Manager,
People Services or a delegate.

employee profile

Performance management

At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia employed
5834 people, of which 5583 (95.7 per cent)
were ongoing and 251 (4.3 per cent) were
non-ongoing.

The main objectives of Medicare Australia’s
performance management program were to:

Appendix J on page 245 presents
statistics on employees by classification,
employment status, gender and location,
and sets out salary ranges under the various
employment agreements.

Collective agreement
The Medicare Australia Collective
Agreement 2008–2011 covered all non-Senior
Executive Service (non-SES) employees, apart
from employees occupying Medical Officer
positions. The collective agreement came into
effect on 25 December 2008 and nominally
expires on 5 December 2011.
Medicare Australia had a separate collective
agreement for Medical Officer employees,
which came into effect on 31 December 2008
and also nominally expires on
5 December 2011.
Medicare Australia adopted the Human
Services Access Protocols and Facilities
Arrangements for the Community and Public
Sector Union, and a framework for consulting
with the union on SDR.

•

develop a high performing culture

•

ensure employees are aware of the
standards of performance expected
of them

•

provide employees with an
understanding of what they are
expected to achieve during the
performance year

•

ensure employees uphold the Australian
Public Service values in the course of
their duties

•

recognise achievements

•

identify and address capability
development needs.

Performance management was also
designed to increase productivity across
Medicare Australia.
Medicare Australia encouraged regular
ongoing discussions between employees
and their managers about performance,
with formal reviews conducted in November/
December and June/July of each year.

Medicare Australia Staff
Consultative Committee

Learning and
development

The Medicare Australia Staff Consultative
Committee was a forum for consultation
between Medicare Australia management
and employee representatives. The committee
was established under the Medicare Australia

In 2010–11 learning and development
focused on ensuring future training
opportunities were aligned with the
Portfolio People Strategy to support SDR.
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Medicare Australia continued to support
employees by providing timely and relevant
learning and development opportunities.
The majority of these learning opportunities
were provided within the agency through
internally designed and delivered training
programs. These programs demonstrated
appropriate content and context
to support SDR.
Medicare Australia supported a blended
learning philosophy, whereby employees
could use a variety of training mediums.
Many of the training programs incorporated
and were supported by content from the
online resource Harvard ManageMentor®.
Medicare Australia continued to deliver the
National Induction Program to all new starters
within the agency. In addition, a targeted
program was initiated to deliver refresher
training to all employees on eight mandated
topics including legislated requirements, that
is, Privacy and Values.
During the year the Manager Development
Program was designed, developed and
delivered to all Medicare Branch Managers
and Team Leaders, reaching over 300 middle
managers. The program focused on supporting
SDR by providing the skills that front line
managers needed to support their employees
through major organisational change. It was a
three-day residential program.
Medicare Australia continued to build on its
operational training pathways to ensure that
front line employees had the knowledge
and skills to follow the correct procedures
and implement new programs. Examples of
these programs included the PBS Schedule
training suite and the Green Rewards
training program.

Communicating with
employees
In 2010–11 internal communication activities
targeted at employees were integrated across
the portfolio. Communication activities were
managed centrally, removing duplication
of services.
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

Over this period of organisational
transformation, a key focus was on
improving the quality and delivery of
employee communication.
A number of employee communication
functions and channels were redeveloped
to deliver more consistent, timely and
streamlined messages, improving employee
understanding of key business initiatives
and issues.
This included delivery of employee messaging,
updates and profiles from a single online
source, all employee emails, videos on
demand and speeches.
A new online employee news platform, news
hub, was launched in June 2011, replacing
three separate agency newsletters and giving
employees an opportunity to interact with
each other.
An internal events team integrated and
coordinated a number of corporate events,
such as the Australia Day Awards, NAIDOC
Awards, portfolio SES forums and Executive
Leadership events. (For more information, see
Service Delivery Reform communication on
page 33.)

Awards and recognition
Awards and recognition are tangible and
can inspire and motivate high performance.
They recognise individuals and teams for
exceptional work.

Public recognition of employees
Two portfolio employees received Public
Service Medals as part of the 2011 Queen’s
Birthday Honours:
•

Elizabeth Astone was awarded a medal
for her outstanding public service in the
delivery of innovative Centrelink services
to vulnerable young people in Perth,
including young people in detention
centres in Western Australia
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•

John Wadeson was awarded a medal for
his outstanding public service in driving
and leading significant reform of ICT in
the portfolio.

One portfolio employee received a Public
Service Medal as part of the 2011 Australia
Day Honours:
•

Erica Lauchland was awarded a medal
for outstanding public service in leading
the successful implementation of high
quality, cost-effective automated testing
of Medicare Australia’s business systems.

External programs
Each year submissions are made to a number
of public sector, government-endorsed
programs as well as private sector industry
association award programs including:
•

Australia Day Achievement Awards

•

NAIDOC Awards

•

Public Service Medal

•

Prime Minister’s Award for Excellence
in Public Sector Management

•

Executive Assistant and Personal
Assistant of the Year Awards

•

Apprenticeship of the Year Awards

•

Call Centre Awards

•

Information and Communication
Technologies

•

other programs as considered
appropriate.

Internal programs
The awards cover individuals and teams
and recognise a range of exceptional
achievements in service delivery and
performance.

They include:
•

national annual performance awards
held annually

•

local, regional, area or site award
programs

•

significant events such as emergency
recovery programs

•

informal acknowledgment of special
performance.

Employee Service Recognition
Program
The program acknowledges continuous APS
length of service for employees in Medicare
Australia for 5, 10, 20, 25, 30 or 35 years.

Occupational
health and safety—
promoting a safe
and supportive
workplace
Teams responsible for occupational health and
safety from DHS, Centrelink and Medicare
Australia combined during the year to create
a consistent approach to ensuring safe and
supportive workplaces for all employees.
DHS health and safety policies and procedures
identify, adopt and develop best practice in
health and safety management to reduce
the social and financial cost of occupational
injury and illness and improve business
performance.
Medicare Australia’s health and safety
management arrangements were extended
in 2011 after consulting employees and
employee representatives. The arrangements
provided information to all employees about
the health and safety structures, procedures,
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roles and responsibilities that supported
Medicare Australia’s health and safety practice
statements and procedures. Consultation
began across DHS to develop new health
and safety management arrangements.
The priority areas were:
•

telephone and headset safety

•

healthy lifestyles

•

body stressing injury prevention.

The National Health and
Safety Committee
This committee advised the CEO of Medicare
Australia on occupational health and safety
issues. The committee was established under
section 34 of the Occupational Health and
Safety Act 1991 and the health and safety
management arrangements. The committee
was chaired by the National Manager, People
Support Branch and met biannually.

Health and safety
outcomes
Medicare Australia’s health and safety
outcomes in 2010–11 included:
•

implementing the Workplace Health
Plan 2010–11

•

implementing a new telephone and
headset safety procedure statement,
including the rollout of acoustic
protection devices

•

implementing early intervention
programs to support injured and
ill employees

•

implementing action to reduce body
stress injury, including the development
of a new ergonomic awareness training
program and new workstation designs
for use with cash machines

•

improving the online injury/hazard
report form
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•

installing additional sit/stand
workstations

•

providing support for community
recovery responses to flood and
cyclone events

•

implementing a workplace influenza
vaccination program.

See Appendix K on page 248 for information
required under section 74 of the Occupational
Health and Safety Act 1991.

Workers’ compensation
premium
Medicare Australia’s revised workers’
compensation premium for 2010–11 was
2.16 per cent. The long-term injury trend
showed an increase in the cost of workers’
compensation claims for body-stressing
(muscular skeletal) injuries. Medicare
Australia’s premium for 2011–12 will be
incorporated into that of DHS.
Figure 11 shows the impact of body-stressing
injuries on Medicare Australia employees,
making up 76 per cent of the accepted claims.
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Figure 11: Per cent of accepted claims
for 2010–11 by mechanism of injury1

Medicare Australia ensured it was responsive,
open and transparent, and produced highquality communication products through a
range of print, media and other information
services. (For information about advertising and
market research see Appendix L on page 249.)
Other
Mental stress

Communicating with
multicultural customersBiological factors
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diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds,Health, electricity and
other environmental
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Communicating with
customers and the
community
In 2010–11 communication activities targeted
to customers and the community were
integrated across the three organisations—
DHS, Centrelink and Medicare Australia.
However, because each organisation delivered
different programs and services to a variety
of audiences, many communication products
were quite distinct.
Medicare Australia used a range of
communication tools to support and inform
customers, the public, business and other
stakeholders about the programs and
services it delivers. This included its website,
brochures, newsletters and fact sheets.

languages is available from Medicare offices.
The kits are also available on the DHS website
9.09
1.52
3.03
0.00
75.76
and are promoted to migrant resource centres
as an important resource for people arriving
in Australia.

Communicating with
people living in rural and
regional locations
The Australian Government Mobile Offices
travel to rural communities, including
drought-affected and Exceptional
Circumstances-declared areas, to provide
information about Australian Government
services and details on how they can
be accessed.

Communicating with
Indigenous Australians
Medicare Australia continued to promote
the Voluntary Indigenous Identifier, which
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encourages all Indigenous Australians
to identify as being Indigenous. The
identifier provides valuable information
for planning, policy development and
service improvements.
Medicare Liaison Officers for Indigenous
Access worked closely with Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander medical services and
other health service providers to promote and
support access of Indigenous Australians to
Medicare Australia programs.
For more information, see Indigenous Access
Strategy on page 111.

Communicating with
people with disability
and their carers
Many Medicare communication products are
available in large print formats.
Assistive listening devices are installed at
several Medicare offices. These systems are
designed for people who wear hearing aids
and for those who suffer hearing impairment
(but do not wear hearing aids). Offices
that have this service are listed on the
DHS website.

News for Seniors
The News for Seniors magazine is one of
the most widely distributed government
publications in Australia. It explains
government payments, concessions,
programs and policy information relevant
to older Australians. It informs age
pensioners, veterans’ service pensioners and
Commonwealth Seniors Health Card holders
about Australian Government initiatives,
available payments and services, and their
rights and responsibilities. In 2010–11 News
for Seniors was published three times—in
July (issue 82), November (issue 83) and
May (issue 84). Content included general
information about government programs
and initiatives, finance information about
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

retirement issues and day-to-day money
handling, and information on health,
wellbeing and social connections.

Health professional
information and
education services
Medicare Australia provided high quality,
accessible information and education
resources and services to help health
professionals access programs and systems.
These resources and services included:
•

running presentations and workshops
for health professional peak bodies at
events such as conferences, meetings
and seminars

•

engaging internal and external
stakeholders to identify information and
education requirements and co‑design
services and resources for health
professionals—and ensuring they are
available online.

During 2010–11 Medicare Australia
developed targeted resources to help health
professionals understand the requirements
for billing and claiming benefits, access the
Medicare Australia system and navigate
through the programs. They included:

Pharmacy intern program
pilot project
A new program consisting of pre-requisite
elearning modules, multiple choice questions
and an interactive scenario-based workshop
for pharmacy intern students to test their
knowledge of the requirements of the PBS.

International medical graduate
pilot project
Presentations co-designed with stakeholders
to introduce international medical graduates
to the Medicare Benefits Schedule and the
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme.
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Nurse practitioners
An education package to provide nurse
practitioners with information on the MBS
and prescribing under the PBS.

Highly Specialised Drugs
Education material for prescribers and
pharmacists based in public hospitals on the
prescribing, dispensing and claiming of Highly
Specialised Drugs in public hospitals.

organisations, new products in the co-located
offices and posters advertising the changes in
service delivery at relevant locations.

Media coverage
Media functions were integrated, with a central
contact for Centrelink, Medicare Australia and
DHS. Significant media activity focused on
disasters across much of the country.

A series of elearning modules for pharmacists
and a key resource for education providers to
use as a pre-requisite activity for presentations
and workshops for university students and
intern programs.

Media messaging and media appearances
and interviews with portfolio spokesman
Hank Jongen (General Manager,
Communication Division) played a crucial
role informing the community about how
to access Australian Government disaster
assistance. Mr Jongen also participated in
regular talkback radio interviews around
Australia, answering Centrelink-related
questions on a variety of topics.

Community participation

Social media

Medicare Australia was active within the
Australian community. Communication
activities successfully helped raise more than
$78 000 for the National Breast Cancer
Foundation (NBCF) and $27 000 for the
Australian Diabetes Council. Medicare Australia
helped raise awareness of NBCF’s Register4—
Australia’s first online community for volunteer
breast cancer research participants. It also
supported Coen Ashton—a 13-year-old with
cystic fibrosis and diabetes, waiting for a
double lung transplant—in his seven-week
journey down the Murray River by jet-ski to
promote organ and tissue donation and collect
1000 new registrations for the Australian
Organ Donor Register.

With the rapid growth and application of
social media, the portfolio developed a digital
and social media roadmap of 36 projects and
established a Digital Media Section. Projects
delivered during the year included:

PBS and You—Dispensing and
Claiming for Pharmacists elearning

•

hosting MyCommunity—an online
‘community’ to encourage customers to
contribute their views on improvements
to the portfolio’s communication
and services

•

introducing speechbubble—an online
discussion forum to engage with
customers, employees and stakeholders
on the portfolio’s initiatives

•

working with the CSIRO to develop
two projects—an online community for
Parenting Payment customers and a
social media monitoring tool

•

using webcasting to provide live video
streaming and live chat—for example,
for graduate recruitment, Paid Parental
Leave aimed at employers, and Paid
Parental Leave aimed at customers

•

maintaining social networking accounts
on Facebook and Twitter.

Promoting co-located
offices
Increasingly, Medicare Australia and
Centrelink provided services out of the same
office environment.
To ensure that existing customers were aware
of the change, DHS advertised in the local
press, and provided information to community
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This chapter provides a summary of Medicare
Australia’s financial performance in 2010–11.
Results are shown in the audited financial
statements and this summary should be read
in conjunction with those statements.
Employees from finance areas in Centrelink,
Medicare Australia and the Department of
Human Services (DHS) were brought together
in 2010–11 in preparation for delivering
integrated financial services from 1 July 2011.

Financial
performance
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia had an
operating deficit of $48.2 million. This
comprised $49.1 million for depreciation
which is no longer funded as part of the
Operation Sunlight Financial Reforms.
A further $17.2 million used to fund costs
incurred while forming a single department
as part of a Service Delivery Reform (SDR) was
transferred to DHS. This is in accordance with
an agreement between DHS and the Minister
for Finance and Deregulation approving
an operating defecit for DHS (excluding
depreciation) of up to $86.9 million primarily
to fund SDR activities. This was funded from
prior year operating surpluses generated by
DHS, Centrelink and Medicare Australia.
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Statement of financial
performance
Income
In 2010–11 Medicare Australia received total
income of $716.7 million ($762.4 million
in 2009–10). Of this, $97.5 million was
received as other income.
Table 51 on page 153 shows that in 2010–11
Medicare Australia income reduced by
6 per cent compared to the previous year,
predominantly due to reduced revenue from
government and sales of services to related
entities. Figure 12 on page 153 shows
a comparison of income over the past
three years.

Expenses
Medicare Australia’s expenses in 2010–11
totalled $764.8 million compared to
$724.2 million in 2009–10.
Medicare Australia incurred:
•

employee expenses of $382.1 million

•

supplier expenses of $332.6 million

•

depreciation and other expenses of
$50.1 million.

Table 51 on page 153 shows that in 2010–11
Medicare Australia expenses increased by
5.6 per cent compared to the previous year.
Figure 12 on page 153 shows a comparison
of Medicare Australia expenses over the past
three years.
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Table 51: Income and expenses 2008–09 to 2010–11

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

change

Income ($m)

714.4

762.4

716.7

–6.0%

Expenses ($m)

722.4

724.2

764.8

+5.6%

740

760

780

Figure 12: Income and expenses 2008–09 to 2010–11
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680

700

720
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Statement of financial
position
Equity
Medicare Australia’s total equity at
30 June 2011 was $193.9 million,
representing a decrease of $2.9 million over
the 30 June 2010 figure of $196.8 million.
This was predominantly due to capital equity
injections for the financial year, and offset by
the operating deficit.

Assets
At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia’s assets
totalled $416.7 million ($407.3 million at
30 June 2010). Table 52 on page 154 shows
that assets increased by 2.3 per cent in
2010–11 compared to the previous year and
Figure 13 on page 154 shows the trend

in assets over the past three years. The
increase was mainly associated with internally
developed software.

Liabilities
Medicare Australia had total liabilities of
$222.8 million at 30 June 2011 ($210.5 million
at 30 June 2010). Table 52 on page 154
shows that liabilities increased by 5.9 per cent
in 2010–11 compared to the previous year. This
was due primarily to higher trade creditors and
an increase in employee leave provisions. Figure
13 on page 154 shows the trend in liabilities
over the past three years.
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Table 52: Equity, liabilities and assets 2008–09 to 2010–11

2008–09

2009–10

2010–11

Change

Equity ($m)

133.2

196.8

193.9

–1.5%

Assets ($m)

326.4

407.3

416.7

+2.3%

Liabilities ($m)

193.2

210.5

222.8

+5.8%

Figure 13: Equity, liabilities and assets 2008–09 to 2010–11

2010–11
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2008–09
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Administered items
Medicare Australia did not have any
administered programs in 2010–11.

Medicare
Australia’s funding
arrangements
Medicare Australia was primarily funded
through direct appropriation in the annual
Budget cycle. It also received service-related
revenue from other Australian Government
agencies and non-government entities under
service arrangements. In 2010–11 Medicare
Australia received $716.7 million dollars
in funding.

Direct appropriation
Direct appropriation totalling $619.1 million
comprised 86.4 per cent of Medicare
Australia’s revenue in 2010–11. The funding
agreement with the Australian Government
included fixed and variable components.
The variable component was based on the
number of health and payment services
processed throughout the year. Revenue
estimates may vary depending on how
underlying demand for health services
impacts on Medicare Australia’s processing
activities, and as a result of new policy
proposals approved in the Budget context.

Other sources of funding
(contract revenue)
Department of Health and Ageing
Medicare Australia provided additional
services to the Department of Health

and Ageing (DoHA) under business
partnership agreements. These included the
administration of the Aged Care Program
and the National Bowel Cancer Program.
Under these arrangements Medicare Australia
received revenue of $30.9 million in 2010–11.

Department of Veterans’
Affairs
Medicare Australia provided services to the
Department of Veterans’ Affairs (DVA) through
a service agreement. Medicare Australia
processed claims for veterans’ treatments,
including medical, hospital and allied health
services, and administered the Repatriation
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. As with health
outputs, the pricing structure for DVA services
was based on a variable price per processed
service, with fixed revenue covering related ICT
infrastructure costs. Revenue received under the
Memorandum of Understanding in 2010–11
was $16.1 million.

Department of Families, Housing,
Community Services and Indigenous
Affairs/Centrelink
Medicare Australia provided Family Assistance
services through the Medicare office network
on behalf of the Department of Families,
Housing, Community Services and Indigenous
Affairs (FaHCSIA). Revenue from this program
included a fixed amount from FaHCSIA and a
variable amount from Centrelink. In 2010–11
Medicare Australia received $9.2 million from
FaHCSIA and $7.8 million from Centrelink.

Department of Climate Change and
Energy Efficiency
Medicare Australia provided services to
the Department of Climate Change and
Energy Efficiency, including the Home
Insulation Program and Green Rewards
Program. Revenue received under those
programs in 2010–11 was $7.0 million.
The Home Insulation Program ceased on
19 February 2010. The Memorandum of
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Understanding to engage Medicare Australia
to assist with the Green Rewards Program
ceased on 19 February 2010.

National E-Health Transition
Authority
Medicare Australia delivered the Healthcare
Identifiers Service under contract to the
National E-Health Transition Authority.
Funding under this contract was $7.7 million
in 2010–11.
Funding to operate and deliver additional
services for the Healthcare Identifiers Service
in 2010–11 was $11.2 million.

Other sources of funding
Medicare Australia and the State of
Western Australia extended an agreement
of Visiting Medical Practitioners Program.
Revenue received under the agreement was
$1.2 million in 2010–11.
Medicare Australia undertook the Early
Release of Superannuation Benefits on
Specified Compassionate Grounds program
on behalf of the Australian Prudential
Regulation Authority (APRA). Revenue
received under the service agreement was
$1.5 million in 2010–11.
Other revenue received totalled $5.0 million,
which was made up of various services such
as recovery of costs for the provision of
statistical information and accommodation
space in sub-lease arrangements.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the period ended 30 June 2011

Notes
EXPENSES
Employee benefits
Suppliers expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Write-down and impairment of assets

3A
3B
3C
3D
3E

Total expenses
LESS:
OWN-SOURCE INCOME
Own-source revenue
Sale of goods and rendering of services
Interest
Rental income

4A
4B
4C

Total own-source revenue
Gains
Sale of assets
Reversal of previous asset write-downs and impairment
Other

4D
4E
4F

Total gains
Total own-source income
Net cost of services
Revenue from Government

4G

Surplus (Deficit)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation reserve

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

382,089
332,632
49,082
507
534

385,250
295,339
42,939
524
196

764,844

724,248

96,602
675

108,563
510
625

97,277

109,698

3
260

1
253
390

263

644

97,540

110,342

667,304

613,906

619,132

652,041

(48,172)

38,135

3,268

17,633

Total other comprehensive income

3,268

17,633

Total comprehensive income (loss)

(44,904)

55,768

5A

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
BALANCE SHEET
as at 30 June 2011

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

8,922
222,029
6,577

7,708
216,499
28,116

237,528

252,323

82,996
650
85,003
10,546

84,569
767
59,735
9,930

Total non-financial assets

179,195

155,001

Total Assets

416,723

407,324

74,468
23,287

52,455
40,785

97,755

93,240

105,871
19,208

102,045
15,210

Total provisions

125,079

117,255

Total Liabilities

222,834

210,495

Net Assets

193,889

196,829

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Asset revaluation reserve
Retained surplus (accumulated deficit)

204,200
20,925
(31,236)

162,236
17,657
16,936

Total Equity

193,889

196,829

Notes
ASSETS
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Accrued revenue

6A
6B
6C

Total financial assets
Non-Financial Assets
Land and buildings
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Other

LIABILITIES
Payables
Suppliers
Other

7A, C
7B, C
7D, E
7F

8A
8B

Total payables
Provisions
Employee provisions
Other

9A
9B

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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16,936

(31,236)

38,135
38,135

(21,145)
(54)
(21,199)

2010
$'000

-

(48,172)
(48,172)

16,936
16,936

2011
$'000

Retained earnings

20,925

-

-

3,268

3,268

17,657
17,657

17,657

-

-

17,633

17,633

24
24

Asset revaluation
reserve
2011
2010
$'000
$'000

41,964
204,200

16,287
36,687

(11,010)

162,236
162,236

7,946
162,236

34,962
-

(27,016)

154,290
154,290

Contributed
equity/capital
2011
2010
$'000
$'000

41,964
193,889

16,287
36,687

(11,010)

3,268
(48,172)
(44,904)

196,829
196,829

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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7,946
196,829

34,962
-

(27,016)

17,633
38,135
55,768

133,169
(54)
133,115

Total equity

Note 1: Adjustment relates to a correction in depreciation expense and rental lease incentives recognised in a previous year.
Note 2: Medicare Australia returned $11,010,000 in unspent equity appropriations to the official Public Account in 2010-11. Under the “Operation Sunlight: Net Cash Appropriation
Arrangements”, Medicare Australia returned $27,016,000 to the Official Public Account for prior years unspent depreciation funding in 2009-10. Further information on the effect of
Operation Sunlight on Medicare Australia is covered on page 101 of the „Human Services Portfolio Budget Statements 2010-11 – Budget related paper no. 1.12.
Note 3: The equity injection of $34.962m in 2009–10 includes $2.47m transferred to Medicare Australia for the Superannuation Clearing House Facility, refer note 10. All other equity
injections were directly appropriated through the Budget, as outlined at note 22A.

Transactions with owners
Distributions to owners:
Return of prior year unspent appropriation (Note 2)
Contributions by owners:
Equity injection - appropriations (Note 3)
Departmental capital budget
Sub-total transactions with owners
Closing balance as at 30 June

Other comprehensive income
Surplus (Deficit) for the period
Total comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Opening balance
Balance carried forward from previous period
Adjustments (Note 1)
Adjusted opening balance

for the period ended 30 June 2011
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the period ended 30 June 2011
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received
Goods and services
Appropriations
Net GST received

86,727
639,572
23,440

130,697
626,138
24,138

Total cash received

749,739

780,973

(382,931)
(240,854)
(126,021)

(381,071)
(229,346)
(87,910)

(749,806)

(698,327)

(67)

82,646

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment

-

5

Total cash received

-

5

Notes

Cash used
Employees
Suppliers
Section 31 receipts transferred to OPA
Total cash used
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities

11

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangibles

(67,283)

(65,666)

Total cash used

(67,283)

(65,666)

Net cash used by investing activities

(67,283)

(65,661)

Appropriations – contributed equity

42,887

11,866

Appropriations – departmental capital budget

36,687

-

Total cash received

79,574

11,866

Cash used
Return of prior year unspent appropriation

(11,010)

(27,016)

Total cash used

(11,010)

(27,016)

68,564

(15,150)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Net cash from (used by) financing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

6A

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

1,214

1,835

7,708

5,873

8,922

7,708

4

Chapter 8: Financial overview

164

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF COMMITMENTS
as at 30 June 2011

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

BY TYPE
Commitments receivable
1
Net GST recoverable on commitments
2
Revenue

49,217
133,564

50,044
23,530

Total commitments receivable

182,781

73,574

Commitments payable
Capital commitments
Land and Buildings

-

(14,054)

Total capital commitments

-

(14,054)

(184,806)
(490,138)

(192,149)
(367,789)

Total other commitments

(674,944)

(559,938)

Net commitments by type

(492,163)

(500,418)

BY MATURITY
Commitments receivable
Other commitments receivable
One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years

56,355
117,716
8,710

36,313
26,853
10,408

Total other commitments receivable

182,781

73,574

Commitments payable
Capital commitments
One year or less

-

(14,054)

Total capital commitments

-

(14,054)

Operating lease commitments
One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years

(49,527)
(101,688)
(33,591)

(49,353)
(95,658)
(47,138)

Total operating lease commitments

(184,806)

(192,149)

Other commitments
One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years

(211,479)
(238,262)
(40,397)

(134,638)
(165,795)
(67,356)

Total other commitments

(490,138)

(367,789)

Net commitments by maturity

(492,163)

(500,418)

Other commitments
3
Operating leases
4
Other

1

Commitments are GST inclusive where relevant.

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF COMMITMENTS
as at 30 June 2011
2

3

Medicare Australia‟s revenue commitments relate to the provision of future services which are subject to contractual
agreement.
Operating lease are non-cancellable and comprise:
Nature of lease

General description of leasing arrangement

Leases for office accommodation

Leases for office accommodation are for Medicare Australia offices,
Provider Service Centres and National Office. Lease payments are
subject to varying terms and conditions including annual increases
in accordance with upward movements in the Consumer Price Index
(CPI), fixed percentage increases and market review and options to
extend the term of the lease.

Agreements for the provision of motor vehicles
at Medicare Australia

Leases for motor vehicles at Medicare Australia are usually for 2
years or 40,000 kilometres, whichever occurs first.

Lease for computer equipment

Computer equipment is supplied through an outsourced
arrangement which commenced in April 2000. The current contract
expired in March 2011. The contract provides for adjustments to
annual costs based on upwards movements in the CPI.

4

Other commitments primarily include Medicare Australia‟s outsourced information technology arrangements. The
commitments relate to expected contractual outflows associated with usage charges for infrastructure, support and
printing costs. The contract provides for increases in rates charged to Medicare Australia based on CPI movements and
the volume Medicare Australia utilises. The remainder of other commitments are minor in nature and primarily
associated with contractual arrangements for software licences and maintenance and the provision of administration
services.

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF CONTINGENCIES
as at 30 June 2011

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees
Claims for damages or costs

(44)
-

(44)
(70)

Total contingent liabilities

(44)

(114)

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Details of each class of contingent liabilities and contingent assets listed above are disclosed in Note 12: Contingent
Liabilities and Assets, along with information on significant remote contingencies and contingencies that cannot be
quantified.

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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-

-

-

67

67

37,242

1,293
1,293
38,535

67

37,242

-

-

-

Other
Leasehold property, plant
Heritage &
improvements
& equipment cultural assets
$'000
$'000
$'000

222

222

22,638

2,617
2,617
25,255

222
-

22,638
-

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Additions recognised in 2009-10 - to be funded in future years
Make-good
Total future years/unfunded additions
Total additions

Total funded additions funded in the current year

Addit ions funded in t he current year
By purchase - appropriat ion ordinary annual services
Ordinary operat ing cost s
By purchase - appropriat ion ot her services
Equit y inject ions

The following non-financial non-current assets were added in 2009-2010:

Additions recognised in 2010-11 - to be funded in future years
Make-good
Total future years/unfunded additions
Total additions

Total funded additions funded in the current year

Addit ions funded in t he current year
By purchase - appropriat ion ordinary annual services
Depart ment al capit al budget appropriat ion
Ordinary operat ing cost s
By purchase - appropriat ion ot her services
Equit y inject ions

Other
Leasehold property, plant
Heritage &
improvements
& equipment cultural assets
$'000
$'000
$'000

The following non-financial non-current assets were added in 2010-2011:

for the period ended 30 June 2011

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF ASSET ADDITIONS

26,418

11,866
26,418

14,552

Computer
software internally
developed
$'000

40,492

15,623
40,492

10,683
14,186

Computer
software internally
developed
$'000

1,939

1,939

1,939

Computer
software purchased
$'000

3,931

3,931

3,226
705

Computer
software purchased
$'000

1,293
1,293
66,959

11,866
65,666

53,800

Total
$'000

2,617
2,617
69,900

15,623
67,283

36,769
14,891

Total
$'000

8
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Notes

2011
$

2010
$

-

3,611,376

-

3,611,376

Expenses administered on behalf of Government
for the period ended 30 June 2011
Subsidies

16A

Total expenses administered on behalf of Government
Assets administered on behalf of Government
as at 30 June 2011
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

-

-

Total financial assets

-

-

Total assets administered on behalf of Government

-

-

17A

Liabilities administered on behalf of Government
as at 30 June 2011
Payables
Subsidies

-

-

Total payables

-

-

Total liabilities administered on behalf of Government

-

-

18A

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTERED ITEMS
2011
$

2010
$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash used
Subsidies paid

-

4,016,251

Total cash used

-

4,016,251

Net cash from (used by) operating activities

-

(4,016,251)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held

-

(4,016,251)

Cash at beginning of the reporting period

-

-

Cash from Official Public Account for:
-Appropriations

-

4,016,251

-

4,016,251

-

-

Notes
Administered Cash Flows
for the period ended 30 June 2011

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

17A

Administered Commitments
As at 30 June 2011
Medicare Australia has no administered commitments as at the end of the current or immediately preceding
reporting periods
Administered Contingencies
As at 30 June 2011
Medicare Australia has no administered contingencies as at the end of the current or immediately preceding
reporting periods
Administered Asset Additions
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Medicare Australia has no administered asset additions in the current or immediately preceding reporting
periods

The above schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
1.1

Objectives of Medicare Australia

As a result of the Human Services Act 2011 obtaining royal assent, Medicare Australia was integrated into the
Department of Human Services effective 1 July 2011, therefore these are the final financial statements for
Medicare Australia.
Medicare Australia was an Australian Government controlled entity which provided access to Government health
and other payment and information services to the Australian public and providers through convenient and
efficient service delivery. Medicare Australia was a service delivery agency prescribed under the Financial
Management and Accountability Act 1997. Medicare Australia delivered services for a range of Commonwealth
departments including Department of Health and Ageing, Department of Families, Housing, Community Services
and Indigenous Affairs and the Department of Veteran Affairs. Medicare Australia also developed the Healthcare
Identifier service under contract with the National e-Health Transition Authority.
Medicare Australia was structured to meet one outcome „Access to Government health and other payment and
information services to the Australian public and providers through convenient and efficient service delivery‟.
Medicare Australia‟s activities contributing towards this outcome were classified as departmental or administered.
Departmental activities involve the use of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses controlled or incurred by
Medicare Australia in its own right. Administered activities involve the management or oversight by Medicare
Australia, on behalf of the Government, of items controlled or incurred by the Government. Those services which
Medicare Australia delivered on behalf of other Government departments are disclosed as Administered activities
by each of those agencies - refer Note 1.21.

1.2

Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements

The financial statements are required by section 49 of the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997
and are a general purpose financial report.
The financial statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with:
Finance Minister‟s Orders (FMOs) for reporting periods ending on or after 1 July 2010; and
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board
(AASB) that apply for the reporting period.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are in accordance with the historical cost
convention, except for certain assets at fair value. Except where stated, no allowance is made for the effect of
changing prices on the results or the financial position.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars unless otherwise specified. Medicare Australia‟s administered transactions are rounded to the nearest
dollar.
Unless an alternative treatment is specifically required by an accounting standard or the FMOs, assets and
liabilities are recognised in the Balance Sheet when and only when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to Medicare Australia or a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and the amounts of the assets
or liabilities can be reliably measured. However, assets and liabilities arising under executor contracts are not
recognised unless required by an accounting standard. Liabilities and assets that are unrecognised are reported
in the Schedule of Commitments and the Schedule of Contingencies (other than unquantifiable or remote
contingencies, which are reported in Note 12).
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011

Unless an alternative treatment is specifically required by an accounting standard, income and expenses are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when and only when the flow or consumption or loss of
economic benefits has occurred and can be reliably measured.
Administered revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows reported in the Schedule of Administered
Items and related notes are accounted for on the same basis and using the same policies as for departmental
items, except where otherwise stated at Note 1.21.
1.3

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

In the process of applying the accounting policies listed in this note, Medicare Australia has made the following
judgements that have a significant impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements:
The fair value of leasehold improvements has been taken to be the market value of similar properties as
determined by an independent valuer.
No accounting assumptions or estimates have been identified that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next accounting period.
1.4

New Australian Accounting Standards

Adoption of New Australian Accounting Standard Requirements
No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than the application date as stated in the standard. Of the new
standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board
that are applicable to the current period, none have had a material impact on Medicare Australia.
Other new standards, revised standards or interpretations that were issued prior to the sign-off and are applicable
to the current reporting period did not have a financial impact, and are not expected to have financial impact on
Medicare Australia.

1.5

Revenue

Revenue from Government
Amounts appropriated for departmental outputs for the period (adjusted for any formal additions and reductions)
are recognised as Revenue from Government when Medicare Australia gains control of the appropriation, except
for certain amounts that relate to activities that are reciprocal in nature, in which case revenue is recognised only
when it has been earned.
Medicare Australia has a funding agreement with the Department of Finance and Deregulation under which
approximately half of Medicare Australia‟s appropriations vary in accordance with projected service volumes. If
service volumes vary from the agreed estimate by more than a stipulated percentage (currently 1%) over a
financial year, Medicare Australia either receives increased appropriation for greater than projected volumes, or is
liable to return funding for volumes less than projected under the funding agreement.
Appropriations receivable are recognised at their nominal amounts.
Other Revenue
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of contracts or
arrangements at the reporting date. The revenue is recognised when:
the amount of revenue, stage of completion and transaction costs incurred can be reliably measured; and
the probable economic benefits resulting from the transaction will flow to Medicare Australia.
13
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011

The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting date is determined by reference to the proportion that costs
incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of the transaction.
Receivables for services, which have 28 day terms, are recognised at the nominal amounts due less any
impairment allowance account. Collectability of debts is reviewed at balance date. Allowances are made when
collectability of the debt is no longer probable.
Accrued Revenues
Accrued revenues are recognised at the nominal amount due and represent services provided to customers that
are unbilled at balance date.
Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.
1.6

Gains

Resources Received Free of Charge
Resources received free of charge are recognised as gains when and only when a fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those resources
is recognised as an expense.
Contributions of assets at no cost of acquisition or for nominal consideration are recognised as gains at their fair
value when the asset qualifies for recognition, unless received from another Government Agency or Authority as a
consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements (Refer to Note 1.8).
Resources received free of charge are recorded as either revenue or gains depending on their nature.
Sale of Assets
Gains from disposal of non-current assets are recognised when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.
1.7

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes revenue and gains as well as changes in equity resulting from transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Other comprehensive income includes transactions that
are affected directly in equity.
1.8

Transactions with the Government as Owner

Equity injections
Amounts appropriated which are designated as „equity injections‟ for a year (less any formal reductions) and
Departmental Capital Budgets (DCBs) are recognised directly in contributed equity.

Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements
Net assets received from or relinquished to another Australian Government agency or authority under a
restructuring of administrative arrangements are adjusted at their net book value directly against contributed
equity.
Other Distribution to Owners

14
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011

The FMOs require that distributions to owners be debited to contributed equity unless in the nature of a dividend.
In 2010-11, Medicare Australia relinquished control of surplus appropriation funding of $11,010,000 in unspent
equity by agreement with the Department of Finance and Deregulation. In 2009–10, Medicare Australia
relinquished control of surplus output appropriation funding of $27,016,000.
1.9

Employee Benefits

Liabilities for services rendered by employees are recognised at the reporting date to the extent that they have not
been settled.
Liabilities for „short-term employee benefits‟ (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) and termination benefits
due within twelve months of balance date are measured at their nominal amounts.
The nominal amount is calculated with regard to the rates expected to be paid on settlement of the liability.
Other long term liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Leave
The liability for employee benefits includes provision for annual leave and long service leave. No provision has
been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave taken in future years by
employees of Medicare Australia is estimated to be less than the annual entitlement for sick leave.
The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of employees‟ remuneration at the salary rates estimated to be
applicable at the time the leave is taken. They include on-costs such as Medicare Australia‟s employer
superannuation contribution rates to the extent that the leave is likely to be taken during service rather than paid
out on termination.
The liability for long service leave has been determined by reference to the work of an actuary who performed an
assessment as at 31 December 2010 which remains relevant at 30 June 2011. The estimate of the present value
of the liability takes into account attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation.
Separation and Redundancy
Provision is made for separation and redundancy benefit payments. Medicare Australia recognises a provision
when it has developed a detailed formal plan for the separation and redundancy and has informed those
employees affected.
Superannuation
Staff of Medicare Australia are members of the Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS), the Public Sector
Superannuation Scheme (PSS) or the PSS accumulation plan (PSSap) and are eligible to contribute to other
superannuation funds.
The CSS and PSS are defined benefit schemes for the Australian Government. The PSSap is a defined
contribution scheme.

The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the financial statements of the Australian Government and is
settled by the Australian Government in due course. This liability is reported by the Department of Finance and
Deregulation as an Administered item.
Medicare Australia makes employer contributions to the employee superannuation scheme at rates determined
by an actuary to be sufficient to meet the current cost to the Government of the superannuation entitlements of
Medicare Australia‟s employees. Medicare Australia accounts for the contributions as if they were contributions to
defined contribution plans.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011

The liability for superannuation recognised as at 30 June 2011 represents outstanding contributions payable at
balance date.
1.10

Leases

A distinction is made between finance leases and operating leases. Finance leases effectively transfer from the
lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of leased non-current assets.
An operating lease is a lease that is not a finance lease. In operating leases, the lessor effectively retains
substantially all such risks and benefits.
Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis which is representative of the pattern of benefits
derived from the leased assets.
Medicare Australia does not hold any finance leases.
1.11

Borrowing Costs

All borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.
1.12

Cash

Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and cash equivalents includes:
a) cash on hand;
b) demand deposits in bank accounts with an original maturity of 3 months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value;
c) cash held by outsiders; and
d) cash in special accounts.
1.13

Financial Assets

Medicare Australia classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
b) held-to-maturity investments;
c) available-for-sale financial assets; and
d) loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. Financial assets are recognised and derecognised upon „trade date‟.
Effective Interest Method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis except for financial assets that are recognised at fair
value in the comprehensive income statement.
Loans and Receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as „loans and receivables‟. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 30 June 2011
Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at each balance date. If there is objective evidence that an
impairment loss has been incurred for loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset‟s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is reduced by way of an allowance account.
The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
1.14

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.
Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised upon „trade date‟.
Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Suppliers and other payables are recognised at amortised cost. Liabilities are recognised to the extent that the
goods or services have been received (and irrespective of having been invoiced).
1.15

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are reported in the
notes to the financial statements. They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liability or asset, or
represent an existing liability or asset in respect of which the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent
assets are disclosed when settlement is probable but not virtually certain and contingent liabilities are disclosed
when settlement is greater than remote.
Details of each class of contingent liabilities and assets, including those which cannot be quantified or are
considered remote, are shown in Note 12: Contingent Liabilities and Assets. Medicare Australia only holds remote
contingent liabilities which are unlikely to be settled.
1.16

Financial Guarantee Contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are accounted for in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. They are not treated as a contingent liability, as they are regarded as financial instruments
outside the scope of AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
Medicare Australia has two expired financial guarantee contracts which are disclosed in Note 12.

1.17

Acquisition of Assets

Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition except as stated below. The cost of acquisition includes the fair value
of assets transferred in exchange and liabilities undertaken. Financial assets are initially measured at their fair
value plus transaction costs where appropriate.
17
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Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised as assets and income at their fair
value at the date of acquisition, unless acquired as a consequence of restructuring of administrative
arrangements. In the latter case, assets are initially recognised as contributions by owners at the amounts at
which they were recognised in the transferor Agency‟s accounts immediately prior to the restructuring.
1.18

Property, Plant and Equipment

Asset Recognition Threshold
Purchases of property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the Balance Sheet, except for
purchases costing less than $3,000, which are expensed in the year of acquisition (other than where they form
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it is located. This is particularly relevant to „restoration (makegood) provisions‟ in property leases
taken up by Medicare Australia where there exists an obligation to restore the property to its original condition.
These costs are included in the value of Medicare Australia‟s leasehold improvements asset with a corresponding
provision for the „restoration (makegood)‟ recognised.
Revaluations
Fair values for each class of asset are determined as shown below:
Asset Class

Fair value measured at

Leasehold improvements

Depreciated replacement cost

Infrastructure, plant and equipment

Market selling price

Heritage and cultural assets (artwork)

Market selling price

Following initial recognition at cost, property and plant and equipment are carried at fair value less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Valuations are conducted with sufficient
frequency to ensure that the carrying amount of assets is not materially different from fair value as at balance
date. The regularity of independent valuations depends upon the volatility of movements in market values for the
relevant assets. The last valuation was undertaken in April 2011, which remains relevant at 30 June 2011.
Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis. Any revaluation increment is credited to equity under the
heading of asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation decrement of the
same asset class that was previously recognised through operating result. Revaluation decrements for a class of
assets are recognised directly through operating result except to the extent that they reverse a previous
revaluation increment for that class.
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the asset restated to the revalued amount.
Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciable property, plant and equipment assets are written-off to their estimated residual values over their
estimated useful lives to Medicare Australia using, in all cases, the straight-line method of depreciation.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the
improvements or the unexpired period of the lease.
Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and methods are reviewed at each reporting date and necessary
adjustments are recognised in the current, or current and future reporting periods, as appropriate.
Depreciation rates applying to each class of depreciable asset are based on the following useful lives:
18
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2011
Lesser of the lease
term and the useful
life of the asset
3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 12 years
5 to 20 years

Asset Class

Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Network equipment
Other plant and equipment

2010
Lesser of the lease term
and the useful life of the
asset
3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 12 years
5 to 20 years

The aggregate amount of depreciation allocated for each class of asset during the reporting period is disclosed in
Note 3C.
Impairment
All assets were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2011. Where indications of impairment exist, the asset‟s
recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment made if the asset‟s recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value in
use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Where the future
economic benefit of an asset is not primarily dependent on the asset‟s ability to generate future cash flows, and
the asset would be replaced if Medicare Australia were deprived of the asset, its value in use is taken to be its
depreciated replacement cost.
Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
1.19

Intangibles

Medicare Australia‟s intangibles comprise internally developed software and purchased software for internal use.
These assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Purchases of intangibles are recognised in the Balance Sheet at cost plus incidental costs of acquisition.
Internally developed software and new system developments costing less than $50,000 are expensed in the year
of acquisition (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
Commercially purchased software costing less than $25,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its anticipated useful life. Useful lives are as follows:
Asset Class
Internally developed software
Purchased software

2011
1 to 10 years
3 to 5 years

2010
1 to 10 years
3 to 5 years

Internally developed and purchased software assets were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2011.
1.20

Taxation

Medicare Australia is exempt from all forms of taxation except fringe benefits tax and the goods and services tax
(GST). Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST:
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office; and
except for receivables and payables.
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1.21

Reporting of Administered Activities

Administered revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows are disclosed in the Schedule of
Administered Items and related notes.
Except where otherwise stated below, administered items are accounted for on the same basis and using the
same policies as for Departmental items, including the application of Australian Accounting Standards.
Medicare Australia paid subsidies to software vendors to assist medical practitioners and specialists implement
online claiming. The program ceased in December 2009.
Medicare Australia is a service delivery agency. Those administered revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and
cash flows which it administers on behalf of other agencies are disclosed in the financial statements of the
relevant government department which is responsible for administering the outcomes to which the items relate.
The payments made from appropriations administered by other agencies are disclosed in Note 22C.

1.22

Comparatives

Comparative figures provided relate to the 2009–10 financial year.
Where the classification of items has been changed in the 2010–11 financial year the comparatives have been
adjusted accordingly.
1.23

Service Delivery Reform Expenses

In order to facilitate the implementation of the Government‟s service delivery reform agenda DHS, Centrelink and
Medicare Australia each agreed to lead the provision of certain corporate functions and services for the benefit of
the other agencies. Where applicable, the costs associated with the delivery of these functions and services have
been reflected in the financial statements.
Costs associated with integration tasks have been recorded in the accounts of DHS. These transactions incurred
by Medicare Australia were reflected in the trade receivables as a receivable from DHS and as an operating cash
outflow in the cash flow statement.
As a result of the above, Medicare has recognised as trade receivables - goods and services - related entities the
amounts of $18,066,841 from DHS and $5,526,281 from Centrelink as at 30 June 2011, as well as trade creditors
of $135,000 payable to DHS and $5,664,946 payable to Centrelink.
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Note 2.

Events Occurring after the Reporting Period

The Human Services Act 2011 was granted royal assent and became effective on 1 July 2011. The legislation
supports the Government‟s agenda for service delivery reform and provides for the integration of Medicare
Australia and Centrelink into the Department of Human Services effective from that date.
As part of the integration process, the net book value of assets and liabilities of Medicare Australia will be
transferred to and reflected in the Department of Human Services‟ accounts for 2011–12.
This event occurred after the end of the reporting period and has not been accounted for in these financial
statements.
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Note 3.

Expenses
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

242,492

250,703

19,249
34,468
80,609
1,184
4,087

17,868
31,118
78,003
4,310
3,248

382,089

385,250

Goods and services
Computer services
Postage
Printing
Office supplies
Contractors and staff related
Property
Management and Financial
Other
Total goods and services

106,567
12,029
17,447
11,276
62,951
22,742
17,297
20,576

79,981
12,876
15,961
11,539
35,055
21,051
13,615
18,568

270,885

208,646

Goods and services are made up of:
Provision of goods – related entities
Provision of goods – external parties
Rendering of services – related entities
Rendering of services – external parties
Total goods and services

6,649
18,288
245,948

8,201
19,824
180,621

270,885

208,646

54,634
7,113

80,375
6,318

Note 3A.

Employee Benefits

Wages and salaries
Superannuation:
Defined contribution plans
Defined benefit plans
Leave and other entitlements
Separations and redundancies
Other
Total employee benefits
Note 3B.

Suppliers

Other supplier expenses
Operating lease rentals – external parties:
Minimum lease payments
Workers compensation expenses – related entities
Total other supplier expenses
Total supplier expenses

61,747

86,693

332,632

295,339
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Note 3C.

Amortisation:
Intangibles:
Computer software
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

277
30,159

879
22,093

30,436

22,972

18,646

19,967

18,646

19,967

49,082

42,939

507

524

507

524

23
2
509

34
3
1
158

534

196

Finance Costs

Unwinding of discount
Total finance costs
Note 3E.

2010
$'000

Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation:
Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Buildings – leasehold improvements
Total depreciation

Note 3D.

2011
$'000

Write-Down and Impairment of Assets

Asset write-downs and impairments from:
Impairment of financial instruments
Revaluation decrements – non-financial assets
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment on intangibles
Total write-down and impairment of assets
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Note 4.

Income
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

71,203
25,399

73,052
35,511

96,602

108,563

-

510

-

510

OWN SOURCE REVENUE
Note 4A.

Sale of Goods and Rendering of Services

Rendering of services – related entities
Rendering of services – external parties
Total sale of goods and rendering of services
Note 4B.

Interest

Accrued interest (note 1)
Total interest
Note 4C.

Rental Income

Other:
Sublease (operating lease) income – external parties
Total rental income

675

625

675

625

-

5
(4)

-

1

GAINS
Note 4D.

Sale of Assets

Leasehold Improvements
Proceeds from sale
Carrying value of assets sold
Net gain from sale of assets
Note 4E.

Reversals of Previous Asset Write-Downs

Asset revaluation increment:
Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Total asset revaluation increment

3

253

3

253

Total reversals of previous asset write-downs

3

253

260

390

260

390

Note 4F.

Other Gains

Resources received free of charge
Total other gains
Note 1 – Accrued interest relates to services provided under contract.
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

REVENUE FROM GOVERNMENT
Note 4G.

Revenue from Government

Appropriations:
Departmental appropriation
Total revenue from Government

Note 5.

Other Comprehensive Income

Note 5A.

Revaluation Adjustments

Asset revaluation adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income
Total revaluation adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income

619,132

652,041

619,132

652,041

3,268

17,633

3,268

17,633
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Note 6.

Financial Assets
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

8,922

7,708

8,922

7,708

Goods and services:
Goods and services - related entities
Goods and services - external parties

29,402
4,654

7,351
1,329

Total receivables for goods and services

34,056

8,680

Note 6A.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand or on deposit
Total cash and cash equivalents
Note 6B.

Trade and Other Receivables

Appropriations receivable:
For existing outputs

182,627

206,074

Total appropriations receivable

182,627

206,074

Other receivables:
GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office

5,367

1,745

Total other receivables

5,367

1,745

222,050

216,499

Less impairment allowance account:
Goods and services

(21)

-

Total impairment allowance account

(21)

-

Total trade and other receivables (net)

222,029

216,499

Receivables are expected to be recovered in:
No more than 12 months

222,029

216,499

Total trade and other receivables (net)

222,029

216,499

220,906

215,583

68
515
71
490

81
62
257
516

222,050

216,499

The impairment allowance account is aged as follows:
Overdue by:
More than 90 days

(21)

-

Total impairment allowance account

(21)

-

Total trade and other receivables (gross)

Receivables are aged as follows:
Not overdue
Overdue by:
Less than 30 days
30 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
More than 90 days
Total receivables (gross)
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Reconciliation of the Impairment Allowance Account:
Movement in relation to 2011

Opening balance
Provisions raised during the period
Amounts written off recognised in surplus
Closing balance

Goods
and
services
$'000

Total
$'000

(23)
2

(23)
2

(21)

(21)

Goods
and
services
$'000

Total
$'000

(34)
34

(34)
34

-

-

Movement in relation to 2010

Opening balance
Provisions raised during the period
Amounts written off recognised in surplus
Closing balance

Note 6C.

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

6,577

28,116

6,577

28,116

6,577
-

28,116
-

6,577

28,116

Accrued Revenue

Goods and services
Total accrued revenue
Total accrued revenues are expected to be recovered in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total accrued revenue
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Note 7.

Note 7A.

Non-Financial Assets
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

7,886
86,298
(11,188)
-

3,829
90,490
(9,750)
-

82,996

84,569

82,996

84,569

Land and Buildings

Leasehold improvements:
Work in progress
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Total leasehold improvements
Total land and buildings

Leasehold improvements were subject to revaluation by an independent valuer on 30 April 2011, which remains
relevant at 30 June 2011. All revaluations were conducted in accordance with the revaluation policy stated in Note
1. The carrying amount is included in the valuation figures above.
A revaluation increment of $3,330,816 for leasehold improvements (2010: increment of $16,441,814) was
credited to the asset revaluation reserve by asset class and included in the equity section of the balance sheet. In
2009–10, an additional increment of $253,397 was credited to gains and included in the statement of
comprehensive income, reversing a decrement recognised in a prior year.
No indicators of impairment were found for land and buildings.
No land or buildings are expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.
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2011
$'000
Note 7B.

2010
$'000

Property, Plant and Equipment

Heritage and cultural:
Gross carrying value (at fair value)
Total heritage and cultural

93

89

93

89

Other property, plant and equipment:
Gross carrying value (at fair value)
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Total other property, plant and equipment

603
(46)
-

770
(92)
-

557

678

Total property, plant and equipment

650

767

Property, plant and equipment were subject to revaluation by an independent valuer on 30 April 2011, which
remains relevant at 30 June 2011. All revaluations were conducted in accordance with the revaluation policy
stated in Note 1. The carrying amount is included in the valuation figures above.
A revaluation decrement of $64,236 for plant and equipment (2010: increment of $206,260) was debited to the
asset revaluation reserve by asset class and included in the equity section of the balance sheet.
A revaluation increment of $928 for heritage and cultural assets (2010: decrement of $3,123) was credited to the
asset revaluation reserve. A further increment of $3,122 (2010: decrement of $127) was credited to the statement
of comprehensive income reversing a prior year decrement.
Indicators of impairment were found and impaired property, plant and equipment assets were written off during
the year.
No property, plant or equipment is expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.
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82,996

82,996

82,996

(30,159)

(30,159)

82,996

25,255
3,331

25,255
3,331

94,184
(11,188)

84,569

84,569

94,184
(11,188)

94,319
(9,750)

Total land and
buildings
$'000

94,319
(9,750)

Note 1. Disaggregated additions information has been disclosed in the Schedule of Asset Additions

Net book value as of 30 June 2011 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Closing book value at 30 June 2011

Net book value 30 June 2011

Net book value 1 July 2010
Additions (Note 1)
Revaluations and impairments recognised in other comprehensive
income
Revaluation recognised in the operating result
Impairments recognised in the operating result
Depreciation expense

As at 1 July 2010
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Leasehold
improvements
$'000

557

602
(45)

557

(2)
(277)

222
(64)

678

770
(92)

Other property,
plant and
equipment
$'000

TABLE A – Reconciliation of the Opening and Closing Balances of Land and Buildings and Property, Plant and Equipment (2010-2011)

Note 7C.

for the period ended 30 June 2011

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

93

93
-

93

3
-

1

89

89
-

Heritage and
cultural assets
$'000

30

83,646

94,878
(11,232)

83,646

3
(2)
(30,436)

25,477
3,268

85,336

95,178
(9,842)

Total
$'000
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(162)
162
678

37,242
16,441
253
(22,093)
995
(13,880)
11,139
84,569

94,319
(9,750)
84,569

37,242
16,441
253
(22,093)
995
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11,139
84,569

94,319
(9,750)
84,569

Net book value 30 June 2010

Net book value as of 30 June 2010 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Closing book value at 30 June 2010

89

89
-

89

-

(4)
-

-

93

93
-

Heritage and
cultural assets
$'000

31

85,336

95,178
(9,842)

85,336

(14,042)
11,301

249
(1)
(22,972)
-

37,309
16,647

56,845

103,412
(46,567)

Total
$'000

Note 1. Disaggregated additions information has been disclosed in the Schedule of Asset Additions
Note 2. Other movements represent a transfer of assets from property, plant and equipment to leasehold improvements for items that are included as part of the standard Medicare
Office fit out configuration.

678

770
(92)

(1)
(879)
(995)

67
206

2,280

54,472

54,472

Net book value 1 July 2009
Additions (Note 1)
Revaluations and impairments recognised in other comprehensive
income
Revaluation recognised in the operating result
Impairments recognised in the operating result
Depreciation expense
Other movements
Disposals:
Other disposals – gross value
Depreciation on disposals

99,705
(45,233)

3,614
(1,334)

Total land and
Other property,
buildings plant and equipment
$'000
$'000

99,705
(45,233)

As at 1 July 2009
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Leasehold
improvements
$'000

TABLE B – Reconciliation of the Opening and Closing Balances of Land and Buildings and Property, Plant and Equipment (2009-2010)

for the period ended 30 June 2011
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Note 7D.

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

39,373
140,700
26,010

12,494
128,773
22,079

Intangibles

Computer software:
Internally developed – in progress
Internally developed – in use
Purchased

206,083

163,346

(121,080)
-

(103,611)
-

Total computer software (net)

85,003

59,735

Total intangibles

85,003

59,735

Total computer software (gross)
Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment losses

Indicators of impairment were found and impaired intangible assets were written off during the year.
No intangibles are expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.
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Note 1. Disaggregated additions information has been disclosed in the Schedule of Asset Additions

Net book value as of 30 June 2011 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Closing book value at 30 June 2011

Net book value 30 June 2011

Net book value 1 July 2010
Additions (Note 1)
Impairments recognised in the operating result
Amortisation

As at 1 July 2010
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

TABLE C – Reconciliation of the Opening and Closing Balances of Intangibles (2010-2011)

Note 7E.

for the period ended 30 June 2011

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4,265

4,265

80,738

80,738

3,931
(3,730)

40,492
(509)
(14,916)

26,010
(21,745)

4,064

55,671

180,073
(99,335)

22,079
(18,015)

Computer software purchased
$'000

141,267
(85,596)

Computer software internally developed
$'000

33

85,003

206,083
(121,080)

85,003

44,423
(509)
(18,646)

59,735

163,346
(103,611)

Total
$'000
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Note 1. Disaggregated additions information has been disclosed in the Schedule of Asset Additions

Net book value as of 30 June 2010 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Closing book value at 30 June 2010

Net book value 30 June 2010

Net book value 1 July 2009
Additions (Note 1)
Internally developed
Impairments recognised in the operating result
Amortisation

As at 1 July 2009
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

TABLE D – Reconciliation of the Opening and Closing Balances of Intangibles (2009 -2010)

for the period ended 30 June 2011

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
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22,079
(18,015)
4,064

55,671

59,735

4,064

55,671

141,267
(85,596)

28,357
(158)
(19,967)

1,939
(2,365)

26,418
(158)
(17,602)

34

59,735

163,346
(103,611)

51,503

4,490

47,013

135,275
(83,772)

Total
$'000

20,140
(15,650)

Computer software purchased
$'000

115,135
(68,122)

Computer software internally developed
$'000
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Note 7F.

Other Non-Financial Assets

Prepayments
Total other non-financial assets

10,546

9,930

10,546

9,930

Total other non-financial assets are expected to be recovered in:
No more than 12 months
Total other non-financial assets

10,546

9,930

10,546

9,930

No indicators of impairment were found for other non-financial assets.
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Note 8.

Note 8A.

Payables
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

73,458
1,010

44,032
8,423

74,468

52,455

8,965
65,503

955
51,500

74,468

52,455

10,869
1,364
8,295
2,759

8,052
1,013
2,310
10,150
19,260

23,287

40,785

16,559
6,728

32,367
8,418

23,287

40,785

Suppliers

Trade creditors and accruals
Operating lease rentals
Total supplier payables
Supplier payables expected to be settled within 12 months:
Related entities
External parties
Total supplier payables
Settlement is usually made within 30 days.
Note 8B.

Other Payables

Salaries and wages
Superannuation
Separations and redundancies
Lease incentives
Unearned income
Total other payables
Total other payables are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total other payables
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Note 9.

Note 9A.

Provisions
2010
$'000

Employee Provisions

Leave
Total employee provisions
Employee provisions are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total employee provisions

Note 9B.

2011
$'000

105,871

102,045

105,871

102,045

32,573
73,298

33,515
68,530

105,871

102,045

12,633
6,575

9,948
5,262

19,208

15,210

3,390
15,818

2,583
12,627

19,208

15,210

Other Provisions

Restoration obligations
Fixed rent provision
Total other provisions
Other provisions are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total other provisions
Reconciliation of other provisions:
Movement in relation to 2011
Restoration
obligations
$'000

Fixed rent
provision
$'000

Total
$'000

Carrying amount 1 July 2010
Additional provisions made
Amounts used
Amounts reversed
Unwinding of discount or
change in discount rate

9,948
2,617
(345)
(94)

5,262
2,625
(1,312)
-

15,210
5,242
(1,657)
(94)

507

-

507

Closing balance 30 June 2011

12,633

6,575

19,208

Medicare Australia has 242 agreements for the leasing of premises. Many of these have provisions requiring Medicare
Australia to restore the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease. Medicare Australia has made
a provision to reflect the present value of this obligation.
The provision for restoration was reassessed upon revaluation of leasehold improvements asset as at 31 May 2011,
which remains relevant at 30 June 2011. This resulted in an increase of $2,617,000 to the provision.
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Note 10.

Departmental Restructuring

There was no restructuring in 2010-11. Below are disclosures relating to restructures that occurred in 2009-10.
As a result of a restructuring of administrative arrangements, Medicare Australia assumed responsibility for the
implementation and administration of the Superannuation Clearing House Facility on 29 October 2009.
Income and expenses for the functions assumed by Medicare Australia were as follows:
2010
$'000
Income
Recognised by Medicare Australia
Total income

1,530

Expenses
Recognised by Medicare Australia
Total expenses

1,732

Capital injection
Recognised by Medicare Australia
Total capital injections

2,470

Capital expenses
Recognised by Medicare Australia
Total capital expenses

1,425

1,530

1,732

2,470

1,425

Refer Note 2 for detailed information on departmental restructure effective 1 July 2011.
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Note 11.

Cash Flow Reconciliation
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

8,922
8,922

7,708
7,708

-

-

(667,304)
619,132

(613,906)
652,041

(3)
49,082
511
260

(254)
42,939
162
390

3,827
3,998
(10,752)
(616)
1,798

3,196
1,389
(19,055)
(244)
15,988

(67)

82,646

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet to Cash
Flow Statement
Cash and cash equivalents as per:
Cash flow statement
Balance sheet
Difference
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash from/used by operating
activities:
Net cost of services
Add revenue from Government
Adjustments for non-cash items
Net gain on disposal of assets and reversal of write down
Depreciation and amortisation
Net write-down of assets
Resources received free of charge – services
Changes in assets/liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions
Decrease/(increase) in net receivables and accrued revenue
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in supplier payables and other payables
Net cash from / (used by) operating activities

Note 12.

Contingent Liabilities and Assets

Quantifiable Contingencies
The Health Insurance Commission, in conducting consultancy services funded by the World Bank under the Social
Insurance Technical Assistance Project, provided bank guarantees to the Ministry of Health, Federation of Bosnia and
Herzegovina amounting to $31,518 and to the Ministry of Health and Social Welfare, Republika Srpska amounting to
$12,126. These bank guarantees were provided in December 2004 and September 2005. The contracts associated
with these bank guarantees expired in June 2008, after Medicare Australia fulfilled all obligations under the contract.
Unquantifiable Contingencies
As at 30 June 2011 there were no unquantifiable contingencies (2010: Nil).
Significant Remote Contingencies
As at 30 June 2011 there were no significant remote contingencies (2010: Nil).

39

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

199

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Note 13.

Senior Executive Remuneration

Note 13A. Senior Executive Remuneration Expense for the Reporting Period
2011

2010

Short-term employee benefits
Salary (including annual leave taken)
Annual leave accrued
Performance bonus
Other
Total short-term employee benefits

6,633,929
131,819
1,078,487

7,317,179
(72,236)
1,016,913

7,844,235

8,261,856

Post-employment benefits
Superannuation
Total post-employment benefits

1,081,571

1,098,179

1,081,571

1,098,179

360,789

94,017

Other long-term benefits
Long-service leave
Total other long-term benefits

360,789

94,017

Termination benefits

274,162

623,864

9,560,757

10,077,916

Total

Notes
1. Note 13A was prepared on an accrual basis.
2. Note 13A excludes acting arrangements and part-year service where remuneration expensed for a senior executive
was less than $150,000.
3. Long-service leave benefits are calculated on the same basis as the employee provision amount within the Balance
Sheet.
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15
21
3
2
1
1
1
4
44

Senior
Executives
No.

146,867
168,810
202,000
223,500
250,000
290,000
435,012
-

Salary
$

26,000
26,381
28,000
28,000
30,000
30,000
-

Allowances
$

172,867
195,191
230,000
251,500
280,000
320,000
435,012
-

Total
$

29
6
8
1
1
1
46

Senior
Executives
No.

22,828
23,200
24,920
24,920
24,920

-

416,395
-

Allowances
$

146,005
166,942
193,124
250,000
277,378

Salary
$

Fixed Elements
Bonus
2
paid
$

Fixed Elements

168,833
190,142
218,044
274,920
302,298
416,395
-

Total
$

-

2

Bonus paid
$

41

Notes
1. This table reports on substantive (ie not acting) senior executives who are employed by the entity as at 30/6/2011. Fixed elements are based on the employment agreement of each
individual. Each row represents an average annualised figure (based on headcount) for the individuals in that remuneration package band (i.e. the 'Total' column).
2. Medicare Australia no longer makes individual bonus payments to senior executives.
3. Medicare Australia did not have any substantive senior executives whose total remuneration was less than $150,000.
4. There were a number of senior executives in Medicare Australia who were performing portfolio-wide roles as part of transition relating to Service Delivery Reform.

Total Remuneration (including
part-time arrangements)
3
Less than $150,000
$150,000 to $179,999
$180,000 to $209,999
$210,000 to $239,999
$240,000 to $269,999
$270,000 to $299,999
$300,000 to $329,999
$330,000 to $359,999
$360,000 to $389,999
$390,000 to $419,999
$420,000 to $449,999
$450,000 to $479,999
Total

Fixed Elements and Bonus
1
Paid

as at 30 June 2010

as at 30 June 2011

Note 13B. Average Annual Remuneration Packages and Bonus Paid for Substantive Senior Executives as at the end of the Reporting Period

For the period ended 30 June 2011

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

200

201

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Variable Elements:
With the exception of performance bonuses, variable elements are not included in the 'Fixed Elements and
Bonus Paid' table above. The following variable elements are available as part of the senior executives'
remuneration package:
(a) Performance bonuses:
No Performance Bonuses were paid in 2011 (2010 Nil)
(b) On average senior executives are entitled to the following leave entitlements:
Annual Leave (AL): entitled to 23 days (2010: 20 days) each full year worked (pro-rata for part-time
SES);
Personal Leave (PL): entitled to 18 days (2010: 18 days) or part-time equivalent; and
Long Service Leave (LSL): in accordance with Long Service Leave (Commonwealth Employees) Act
1976.
(c) Senior executives are members of one of the following superannuation funds:
Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS): this scheme is closed to new members, and
employer contributions were averaged 19.6 per cent (2010: 17.2 per cent) (including productivity
component). More information on CSS can be found at http://www.css.gov.au;
Public Sector Superannuation Scheme (PSS): this scheme is closed to new members, with current
employer contributions were set at 12.9 per cent (2010: 12.1 per cent) (including productivity
component). More information on PSS can be found at http://www.pss.gov.au;
Public Sector Superannuation Accumulation Plan (PSSap): employer contributions were set at 15.4
percent (2010: 15.4 per cent), and the fund has been in operation since July 2005. More information
on PSSap can be found at http://www.pssap.gov.au;
Australian Government Employee Superannuation Trust (AGEST): this fund is for senior executives
who were employed for a defined period. Employer contributions were set at 15.4 per cent (2010: 15.4
per cent). More information on AGEST can be found at http://www.agest.com.au;
Other: there were some senior executives who had their own superannuation arrangements (e.g. selfmanaged superannuation funds). Their employer contributions were set at 15.4 per cent (2010: 15.4
per cent).
(d) Variable allowances:
Various salary sacrifice arrangements were available to senior executives including super, motor
vehicles and expense payment fringe benefits.

Note 13C. Other Highly Paid Staff
During the reporting period, there were 8 employees (2010: 7 employees) whose salary plus performance bonus were
$150,000 or more. These employees did not have a role as senior executive and are therefore not disclosed as senior
executives in Note 13A and Note 13B.
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Note 14.

Remuneration of Auditors
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

260

250

260

250

Financial statement audit services are provided free of charge to Medicare
Australia.
The fair value of the services provided was:
No other services were provided by the auditors of the financial statements.
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Note 15.

Financial Instruments
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

Note 15A. Categories of Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Total

8,922
34,056

7,708
8,680

42,978

16,388

Carrying amount of financial assets

42,978

16,388

Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost:
Supplier payables
Total

74,468

52,455

74,468

52,455

Carrying amount of financial liabilities

74,468

52,455

Note 15B. Net Income and Expense from Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
Interest revenue
Net gain from loans and receivables

-

510

-

510

Net gain/(loss) from financial assets

-

510

There was no interest income or expense from financial assets not at fair value through the profit or loss in the year
ended 30 June 2011 (2010: nil).

Note 15C. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Medicare Australia considers that the carrying amounts of financial instruments reported in the Balance Sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value.
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Note 15D. Credit Risk
Medicare Australia is exposed to minimal credit risk as loans and receivables are cash and trade receivables. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is the risk that arises from potential default of a debtor. The amount equal to the total
amount of trade receivables is $34,056,000 in 2011 (2010: $8,680,000). Medicare Australia has assessed the risk of
default on payment and has allocated $21,000 in 2011 (2010 $0) to an impairment allowance account.
Medicare Australia manages its credit risk by undertaking background and credit checks prior to allowing a debtor
relationship. In addition, Medicare Australia has policies and procedures that guide employees in debt recovery
techniques that are to be applied.
Medicare Australia holds no collateral to mitigate against credit risk.
Credit quality of financial instruments not past due or individually determined as impaired
Not Past
Past Due
Not Past
Due or
or
Due or
Impaired
Impaired
Impaired
2011
2011
2010
$'000
$'000
$'000
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Total

Past Due
or
Impaired
2010
$'000

8,922
32,912

7,708
7,764

1,144

916

41,834

15,472

1,144

916

Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 2011

Loans and receivables:
Trade receivables
Total

0 to 30
days
$'000

31 to 60
days
$'000

61 to 90
days
$'000

90+
days
$'000

Total
$'000

68

515

71

490

1,144

68

515

71

490

1,144

Ageing of financial assets that were past due but not impaired for 2010

Loans and receivables:
Trade receivables
Total

0 to 30
days
$'000

31 to 60
days
$'000

61 to 90
days
$'000

90+
days
$'000

Total
$'000

81

62

257

516

916

81

62

257

516

916

45

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

205

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Note 15E. Liquidity Risk
Medicare Australia‟s financial liabilities are supplier payables. The exposure to liquidity risk is based on the notion that
Medicare Australia will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. This is highly
unlikely due to appropriation funding and mechanisms available to Medicare Australia and internal policies and
procedures put in place to ensure that there are appropriate resources to meet its financial obligations.
Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2011

Payables - suppliers
Total

Within 1
year
$'000
74,468

Total
$'000
74,468

74,468

74,468

Within 1
year
$'000

Total
$'000

52,455

52,455

52,455

52,455

Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2010

Payables - suppliers
Total
Medicare Australia has no derivative financial liabilities in both the current and prior year.
Note 15F. Market Risk

Medicare Australia holds basic financial instruments that do not expose it to certain market or interest rate risks.
Medicare Australia is not exposed to „Interest rate risk‟, „Currency risk‟ or „Other price risk‟.
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Note 16.

Expenses Administered on Behalf of Government
2011
$

2010
$

Payable to external parties:
Software vendors

-

3,611,376

Total subsidies

-

3,611,376

2011
$

2010
$

Administered bank account

-

-

Total cash and cash equivalents

-

-

2011
$

2010
$

Payable to external parties:
Software vendors

-

-

Total subsidies

-

-

Total subsidies are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months

-

-

Total subsidies

-

-

EXPENSES
Note 16A. Subsidies

Note 17.

Assets Administered on Behalf of Government

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Note 17A. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Note 18.

Liabilities Administered on Behalf of Government

PAYABLES
Note 18A. Subsidies

47

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

207

MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Note 19.

Administered Reconciliation Table
2011
$

Opening administered assets less administered liabilities as at 1 July

-

2010
$
(404,875)

Less: Administered expenses (non CAC)
Administered transfers to/from Australian Government:
Appropriation transfers from OPA:
Annual appropriations for administered expenses (non CAC)

-

(3,611,376)

-

4,016,251

Closing administered assets less administered liabilities as at 30 June

-

-

Note 20.

Administered Contingent Liabilities and Assets

There were no administered contingent liabilities or contingent assets for the current and immediately preceding
reporting periods.
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Note 21.

Administered Financial Instruments
2011
$

2010
$

-

-

-

-

Note 21A. Categories of Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost:
Subsidies payable
Carrying amount of financial liabilities
Note 21B. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Medicare Australia considers that the carrying amounts of administered financial instruments reported in the
Schedule of Administered Items are a reasonable approximation of fair value.
Note 21C. Credit Risk
The administered activities of Medicare were not exposed to a high level of credit risk.
Note 21D. Liquidity Risk
Medicare Australia‟s administered financial liabilities are subsidies payables. The exposure to liquidity risk is
based on the notion that Medicare Australia will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with
financial liabilities. This is highly unlikely as Medicare Australia is appropriated funding from the Australian
Government and Medicare Australia manages its budgeted funds to ensure it has adequate funds to meet
payments as they fall due. In addition, Medicare Australia has policies in place to ensure timely payments are
made when due and has no past experience of default.
Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2011

Other liabilities:
Subsidies payable
Total

Within 1
year
$

Total
$

-

-

-

-

Within 1
year
$

Total
$

-

-

-

-

Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2010

Other liabilities:
Subsidies payable
Total
Note 21E. Market Risk

Medicare Australia administers basic financial instruments that do not expose it to market or interest rate risks.
Medicare Australia‟s administered financial instruments are not exposed to „Currency risk‟ or „Other price risk‟.
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Appropriations

104,109

-

909,290

15,623

893,667

$'000

Appropriation
applied in
2011 (current
and prior
years)

(130,069)

664

(130,733)

$'000

(c)(d)

Variance

Appropriations reduced under Appropriation Acts (No. 1,3,5) 2010–11: sections 10,11,12 and 15 and under Appropriation Acts (No.2, 4, 6) 2010–11: sections 12, 13, 14 and 17. Departmental

2,948

762,934

$'000

Total
appropriation

16,287
-

104,109

$'000

Section
32

779,221

(378)

2,948

$'000

Section
30

16,287

(378)

656,255

$'000

(b)

FMA Act
Section
31 (GST
excl.)
$'000

672,542

$'000

$'000

AFM

2011 Appropriations

(d)

(c)

No advances were made to the Finance Minister (AFM) under - Appropriation Acts (No. 1,3,5) 2010-11: section 13 and Appropriation Acts (No. 2,4,6) 2010-11: section 15.

Equity variance due to $664,000 unspent from Appropriation Act 4– Equity Injection – 2010–11.

Ordinary annual services variance due to $126,021,000 being S31 receipts transferred to OPA

(b)

reduction under Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2010–11 for $433,000 and Appropriation Act (No. 2) 2009–10 for $93,000.

There are no other appropriation adjustments that meet the criteria for recognition of an addition or reduction in revenue in accordance with the Finance Ministers Orders, however there is a proposed

Appropriation Act (no. 1) 2010–11 was $378,000.

departmental appropriations following a request by the Minister for Human Services, meeting the criteria for recognition as a formal reduction in revenue. The amount of the reduction determined under

appropriation. The reduction in the appropriation is effected by the Finance Minister‟s determination and is disallowable by Parliament. On 7 June 2011, the Finance Minister determined a reduction in

50

appropriations do not lapse at financial year-end. However the responsible Minister may decide that part or all of a departmental appropriation is not required and request the Finance Minister to reduce that

(a)

Notes:

2011
DEPARTMENTAL
Ordinary annual services
Other services
Equity
Total departmental

Appropriation Act
Annual Appropriations
(a)
Appropriation
reduced

Note 22A. Annual Appropriations (‘Recoverable GST exclusive’)

Note 22.

For the period ended 30 June 2011
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(200)
(656)
(856)

-

650,057
32,492
682,549

4,381
4,381

-

-

-

$'000

AFM

(b)

-

-

1,339

1,339

$'000

Section
30

2010 Appropriations

-

-

130,497

130,497

Section
31 (GST
excl.)
$'000

FMA Act

-

-

4,000

2,470

1,530

$'000

Section
32

4,381

4,381

817,529

34,306
-

783,223

$'000

Total
appropriation

4,786

4,786

735,152

11,866

723,286

$'000

Appropriation
applied in
2010 (current
and prior
years)

(405)

(405)

82,377

22,440
-

59,937

$'000

(c)(d)

Variance

Appropriations reduced under Appropriation Acts (No. 1,3,5) 2009–10: sections 10,11,12 and 15 and under Appropriation Acts (No.2, 4, 6) 2009–10: sections 12, 13, 14 and 17. Departmental

$'000

Appropriations
(a)
reduced

$'000

Annual
Appropriation

Appropriation Act

(d)

(c)

(b)

Equity variance due to $22,743,000 unspent from Appropriation Act 2– Equity Injection – 2009–10.

Ordinary annual services variance due to operating surplus of $38,135,000.

No advances were made to the Finance Minister (AFM) under - Appropriation Acts (No. 1,3,5) 2010-11: section 13 and Appropriation Acts (No. 2,4,6) 2010-11: section 15.

There are no other appropriation adjustments that meet the criteria for recognition of an addition or reduction in revenue in accordance with the Finance Ministers Orders.

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2009–10 was $200,000, and Appropriation Act (No. 2) 2009–10 was $656,000.

departmental appropriations following a request by the Minister for Human Services, meeting the criteria for recognition as a formal reduction in revenue. The amount of the reduction determined under

appropriation. The reduction in the appropriation is effected by the Finance Minister‟s determination and is disallowable by Parliament. On 7 June 2011, the Finance Minister determined a reduction in
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appropriations do not lapse at financial year-end. However the responsible Minister may decide that part or all of a departmental appropriation is not required and request the Finance Minister to reduce that

(a)

Notes:

2010
DEPARTMENTAL
Ordinary annual services
Other services
Equity
Loans
Total departmental
ADMINISTERED
Ordinary annual services
Administered items
Total administered

For the period ended 30 June 2011
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Note 22B. Unspent Departmental Annual Appropriations ('Recoverable GST exclusive')
1

2011
$'000
175,026
885
5,653
7,837
1,089
664
191,154

Authority
Appropriation Act 1 - 2009–10
Appropriation Act 1 - 2010–11
Appropriation Act 2 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2004–05
Appropriation Act 2 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2006–07
Appropriation Act 2 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2007–08
Appropriation Act 2 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2008–09
Appropriation Act 2 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2009–10
Appropriation Act 4 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2008–09
Appropriation Act 4 - Non Operating - Equity Injection – 2010–11

Total

1

2010
$'000
171,514

1,184
4,206
4,357
8,689
22,743
1,089
213,782

1

The maximum amount available to be drawn from the Department of Finance and Deregulation plus cash on hand.

Note 22C. Disclosure by Agent in Relation to Annual and Special Appropriations ('Recoverable GST exclusive')

2011

Department
of Health
and Ageing,
a separate
agency
$'000

Department
of Veterans’
Affairs, a
separate
agency
$'000

Department
of Defence,
a separate
agency
$'000

Department
of
Environment,
Water,
Heritage and
the Arts, a
separate
agency
$'000

Total receipts
Total payments

38,871,848
(38,871,848)

3,848,938
(3,848,938)

140
(140)

-

25,196
(25,196)

81
(81)

Department
of Defence, a
separate
agency
$'000
84
(84)

Department
of
Environment,
Water,
Heritage and
the Arts, a
separate
agency
$'000
1,496,414
(1,496,414)

Department
of Climate
Change and
Energy
Efficiency, a
separate
agency
$'000
30,378
(30,378)

Australia
Bureau of
Statistics, a
separate
agency
$'000
-

2010
Total receipts
Total payments

Department
of Health and
Ageing, a
separate
agency
$'000
36,151,126
(36,151,126)

Department
of Veterans‟
Affairs, a
separate
agency
$'000
3,678,293
(3,678,293)

Department
of Climate
Change and
Energy
Efficiency, a
separate
agency
$'000

Australia
Bureau of
Statistics,
a separate
agency
$'000
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Note 23.

Special Accounts

Medicare Australia has recently become aware that there is an increased risk of non-compliance with Section 83 of the
Constitution where payments are made from special accounts in circumstances where the payments do not accord with
conditions included in the relevant legislation.
The Department of Human Services will investigate these circumstances and any impact on the special accounts shown
below, seeking legal advice as appropriate.
Recovery of Compensation for Health Care and Other Services Special Account (Special Public Money)
Appropriation: Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997; section 20
Establishing Instrument: Determination 2005/24 under Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997;
section 20
Purpose: To credit moneys for the purpose of recovery of compensation following a judgement or settlement
under the Health And Other Services (Compensation) Act 1995 and:
(a) to pay the claimant, or the claimant's authorised representative, amounts credited to the Special
Account; and
(b) to reduce the balance of the Special Account (and, therefore, the available appropriation for the
Special Account) without making a real or notional payment; and
(c) to repay amounts where an Act or other law requires or permits the repayment of an amount
received.
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

Balance carried from previous period
Other receipts

48,325
236,100

48,616
465,183

Total increase

236,100

465,183

Available for Payments
Payments made
Payments made to the Official Public Account

284,425

513,799

(196,922)
(39,955)

(427,410)
(38,064)

(236,877)

(465,474)

47,548

48,325

Total decrease
Total balance carried to the next period
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For the period ended 30 June 2011

Superannuation Clearing House Special Account (Special Public Money)
Appropriation: Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997; section 20
Establishing Instrument: Determination 2010/05 under Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997;
section 20
Purpose: To receive amounts for the purposes of the Superannuation Clearing House and:
(a) make payments to superannuation funds on behalf of small business employers in performance of
the functions of the Superannuation Clearing House;
(b) repay to an original payer amounts credited to the Special Account, including the residual after any
necessary payments are made for the purpose mentioned in paragraph (a);
(c) reduce the balance of the Special Account (and, therefore, the available appropriation for the Special
Account) without making a real or notional payment; and
(d) repay amounts where an Act or other law requires or permits the repayment of an amount received.

Balance carried from previous period
Other receipts

2011
$'000
57,962

2010
$'000
-

Total increase

57,962

-

Available for Payments
Payments made

57,962

-

(56,007)

-

Total decrease
Total balance carried to the next period

(56,007)

-

1,955

-
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended

Services for Other Entities and Trust Moneys – Medicare Australia Special Account (Special Public
Money)
Appropriation: Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997; section 20
Establishing Instrument: Determination 2009/18 under Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997;
section 20
Purpose: To credit and debit moneys for the purpose of :
(a) disbursing amounts held on trust or otherwise for the benefit of a person other than the
Commonwealth;
(b) disbursing amounts in connection with services performed on behalf of other governments and
bodies that are not FMA Act agencies;
(c) repaying amounts where an Act or other law requires or permits the repayment of an amount
received; and
(d) reducing the balance of the Special Account (and, therefore, the available appropriation for the
Account) without making a real or notional payment.

2011

2010

$'000

$'000

99

119

Other receipts

1,615

1,312

Total increase

1,615

1,312

Balance carried from previous period

Available for Payments

1,714

1,431

Payments made

(1,613)

(1,332)

Total decrease

(1,613)

(1,332)

101

99

Total balance carried to the next period
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Note 24.

Compensation and Debt Relief
2011
$

2010
$

No „Act of Grace‟ expenses were incurred during the reporting period (2010: no
payments made).

-

-

No waiver of amounts owing to the Australian Government were made pursuant to
subsection 34(1) of the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997. (2010:
one waiver).

-

-

No payments were made under Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective
Administration (CDDA) Scheme during the reporting period. (2010: No payments
made).

-

-

No „Act of Grace‟ expenses were incurred during the reporting period (2010: No
payments made).

-

-

No waiver of amounts owing to the Australian Government were made pursuant to
subsection 34(1) of the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997. (2010:
No waivers).

-

-

30,561

35,310

Administered

Departmental

17 payments were made under Compensation for Detriment caused by Defective
Administration (CDDA) Scheme during the reporting period. (2010: 23 payments
made).
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MEDICARE AUSTRALIA
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2011
Note 25.

Reporting of Outcomes

Note 25A. Net Cost of Outcome Delivery
Outcome 1
2011
$'000
Expenses
Administered
Departmental
Total
Income from non-government sector
Administered
Activities subject to cost recovery
Other
Total administered

2010
$'000

Total
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

764,844

3,611
724,248

764,844

3,611
724,248

764,844

727,859

764,844

727,859

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Departmental
Activities subject to cost recovery
Other
Total departmental

26,074
3

36,647
253

26,074
3

36,647
253

26,077

36,900

26,077

36,900

Total

26,077

36,900

26,077

36,900

Other own-source income
Administered
Departmental
Total

71,463

73,442

71,463

73,442

71,463

73,442

71,463

73,442

667,304

617,517

667,304

617,517

Net cost of outcome delivery

Outcome 1 is described in Note 1.1. Net costs shown include intra-government costs that are eliminated in calculating
the actual Budget Outcome.
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Note 25B. Major Classes of Departmental Expenses, Income, Assets and Liabilities by Outcomes
Outcome 1
2011
$'000
Departmental Expenses:
Employee benefits
Suppliers
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Write-down and impairment of assets
Foreign exchange losses
Total

2010
$'000

Total
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

382,089
332,632
49,082
507
534
-

385,250
295,339
42,939
524
196
-

382,089
332,632
49,082
507
534
-

385,250
295,339
42,939
524
196
-

764,844

724,248

764,844

724,248

Departmental Income:
Income from government
Sale of goods and rendering of services
Interest
Sale of assets
Foreign exchange gains
Other gains
Total

619,132
97,277
263

652,041
109,188
510
1
643

619,132
97,277
263

652,041
109,188
510
1
643

716,672

762,383

716,672

762,383

Departmental Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Accrued revenue
Land and buildings
Property, plant and equipment
Heritage and cultural assets
Intangibles
Other non-financial assets
Total

8,922
222,029
6,577
82,996
557
93
85,003
10,546

7,708
216,499
28,116
84,569
678
89
59,735
9,930

8,922
222,029
6,577
82,996
557
93
85,003
10,546

7,708
216,499
28,116
84,569
678
89
59,735
9,930

416,723

407,324

416,723

407,324

Departmental Liabilities:
Suppliers
Other payables
Employee provisions
Other provisions
Total

74,468
23,287
105,871
19,208

52,455
40,785
102,045
15,210

74,468
23,287
105,871
19,208

52,455
40,785
102,045
15,210

222,834

210,495

222,834

210,495

Outcome 1 is described in Note 1.1. Net costs shown include intra-government costs that are eliminated in calculating
the actual Budget outcome.
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For the period ended 30 June 2011

Note 25C. Major Classes of Administered Expenses, Income, Assets and Liabilities by Outcomes
Outcome 1
2011
$'000
Administered Expenses:
Subsidies
Total
Administered Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
Administered Liabilities:
Payables - Subsidies
Total

2010
$'000

Total
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

-

3,611

-

3,611

-

3,611

-

3,611

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Outcome 1 is described in Note 1.1.

Note 26.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to the entity (DCB or CDAB funded
only)

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Medicare Australia
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) as per the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
Plus: non-appropriated expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Medicare Australia

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

(44,904)

55,768

49,082

-

4,178

55,768
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Appendix A: Services delivered on behalf of
our partners in 2010–11 year in summary
Note: Financial and other data in this annual
report have been rounded to the nearest
decimal point. This may lead to some
discrepancies in the total figures.

Table 54: Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme and
Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

PBS services processed1

188.3 million
2

RPBS services processed

Department of Health
and Ageing

Total services
processed

Table 53: Medicare

PBS benefits paid1

People enrolled in
Medicare1 at
30 June 2011

22.5 million

Active Medicare cards at
30 June 2011

12.7 million

Bulk billed services

Total benefits paid

240.2 million

Patient claimed services

79.0 million

Total services processed

319.1 million

Percentage of services
bulk billed
Total benefits paid

RPBS benefits paid2

75.3%

Authority prescriptions
authorised

201.5 million
$8.9 billion
$508.1 million
$9.5 billion
6.8 million

1
Including $708.6 million paid under the Electronic
Claiming for Highly Specialised Drugs in Public
Hospitals Program which commenced on 1 July 2010.
2
Payments processed on behalf of the Department of
Veterans’ Affairs (DVA).

Table 55: Aged Care

$16.3 billion

1
Includes some people who are not Australian
residents (such as long-term visitors for more than
six months and eligible short-term visitors).

Residential claims
processed

33 033

Community Aged
Care Package claims
processed

13 650

Total flexible care claims
processed

9 073

Total claims processed

55 756

Total amount paid1
1
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13.3 million

$9.0 billion

Including $1.2 billion paid on behalf of DVA.
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Table 56: Aged Care Education and Training
Incentive

Total incentive claims
processed

5 984

Total amount paid

$4.8 million

Table 61: Mental Health Nurse
Incentive Program

Total amount paid
Table 57: Australian Childhood
Immunisation Register

777

Total number of practices
that had participated at
30 June 2011

$27.9 million

Table 62: Rural Retention Program

Valid immunisation
episodes recorded

4.6 million

Number of medical
practitioners paid

1 100

Children (under 7 years
of age) registered

2.1 million

Number of
payments made

1 116

Total amount paid to
immunisation providers

$9.2 million

Children registered
with appropriate
immunisation coverage
at 30 June 2011

$0.8 million

Table 63: General Practice Rural Incentive
Program—GP component

– aged 12–15 months

90.3%

– aged 24–27 months

92.8%

– aged 60–63 months

89.6%

Table 58: Australian Organ Donor Register

1 502 639

Number of consent
registrations (including
registrations of intent by
16–17 year olds)
Table 59: National Bowel Cancer
Screening Register

Invitations distributed

Total amount paid

Number of medical
practitioners paid

2 901

Number of payments
made

3 000

Total amount paid

Table 64: General Practice Rural Incentive
Program—Registrar component

Number of medical
practitioners paid

505

Number of payments
made

581

Total amount paid
855 969

$53.8 million

$ 8.8 million

Table 65: General Practice Immunisation
Incentive Scheme

Table 60: Practice Incentives Program

Participating practices at
30 June 2011
Total amount paid

4 798
$326.7 million

Number of practices
registered at
30 June 2011
Total amount paid

5 651

$20.4 million
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Table 66: General Practice Registrars’ Rural
Incentive Payments Scheme

Number of medical
practitioners paid

696

Number of payments
made

873

Total amount paid

Table 71: 30% Rebate on Private Health
Insurance

Memberships registered

5.9 million

Total paid in cash claims

$2.1 million

Total paid to health
funds

$4.7 billion

$8.1 million
Table 72: Medicare Online

Table 67: Rural Procedural Grants Program

Number of general
practitioners paid

1 633

Number of payments
made

3 937

Total amount paid

$15.7 million

Table 68: Compensation Recovery Program

Number of cases
finalised
Total amount of benefits
recovered

46 028
$39.7 million

12 122

Bulk billed services
transmitted via Medicare
Online

207.5 million

Patient claimed services
transmitted via Medicare
Online

12.1 million

Table 73: Medicare Easyclaim

Number of transmitting
sites in June 2011

Table 69: HECS Reimbursement Scheme

Number of medical
graduates paid

523

Number of payments
made

873

Total amount paid

Number of registered
sites transmitting
Medicare Online in June
2011

$5.3 million

Table 70: Hearing Services Program

Services processed1

1 169 901

Total amount paid2

$310.3 million

1

Services provided to individuals.

2

Payments made to hearing contractors.
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7 913

Bulk billed services
transmitted via Medicare
Easyclaim

15.2 million

Patient claimed services
transmitted via Medicare
Easyclaim

5.5 million
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Table 74: Electronic Claim Lodgment and
Information Processing Service Environment
(ECLIPSE)

Number of transmitting
sites in June 2011

6 328

Number of simplified
billing services
transmitted via ECLIPSE

7.9 million

Online patient
verifications transmitted

87.4 million

Department of Climate
Change and Energy
Efficiency
Table 78: Green Rewards Scheme

Claims received

36 552

Payments disbursed to
householders under the
Green Rewards Scheme

$1.6 million

Table 79: Financial Assistance Scheme
Table 75: Claiming Medicare benefits online

Number of services
transmitted through
claiming Medicare
benefits online1 (approx)

31 900

Number of claims
lodged

1 834

Value of claims paid

$1.9 million

Table 80: Home Insulation Program

1

Claiming Medicare benefits online was implemented
on 27 February 2011.

Table 76: External Breast Prostheses
Reimbursement Program

Number of claims
processed

13 442

Total amount paid

$5.1 million

Table 77: Continence Aids Payment Scheme

Number of applications
processed
Total amount paid

94 741
$39.5 million

Number of claims paid
to installers by Medicare
Australia
Value of rebate
payments made to
installers by Medicare
Australia

14 505

$21.7 million

Department of Defence
Table 81: Australian Defence Force Family
Healthcare Program

Number of registered
dependants

4 081

Number of services
provided

5 849

Total amount paid

$139 987
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Department of Families,
Housing, CommunitY
Services and Indigenous
Affairs and Department
of Education, Employment
and Workplace Relations
Table 82: Family Assistance

Number of claims
granted

276 288

Number of enquiries

363 048

Department of Innovation,
Industry, Science and
Research
Table 83: LPG Vehicle Scheme

Number of applications
received by Medicare
Australia

18 915

Percentage of total
applications received

75.4%

Department of Treasury
Table 84: Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House

Number of registered
employers under the
program
Value of superannuation
contributions managed
under the program

4 781

$58.0 million
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Department of Veterans’
Affairs
Table 85: Veterans’ Treatment Accounts

Cards produced1

301 467

Total services processed

22.2 million

Total benefits paid

$2.4 billion

1
Personal Treatment Entitlement cards, Repatriation
Pharmaceutical Benefits cards, Specific Treatment
Entitlement cards and Totally Permanently
Incapacitated Gold cards.

Before 2004–05 Medicare Australia’s funding for the
processing of DVA services was allocated based on
the number of lines processed. The output pricing
agreement has since changed and Medicare Australia’s
funding is now allocated based on the number of
DVA services processed. Care should be taken when
comparing the statistics in this table with those of
earlier years, which used lines instead of services.
Service and benefit figures include incentive items.
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Appendix B: Commonwealth legislation
relevant to Medicare Australia
The Medicare Australia Act 1973 provided for
the Chief Executive Officer to authorise the
exercising of powers requiring a person to give
information or to produce a document that is
in the person’s custody, or under the person’s
control; and the power to obtain a statutory
report under section 42.
Section 42(1) subsections: a to h
(a) The number of signed instruments made under section 8M
(b) The number of notices in writing given under section 8P

2010–11
1
77

(c) The number of notices in writing given to individual patients under
section 8P. Note: this is a subset of (b) above

1

(d) The number of premises entered under section 8U

0

(e) The number of occasions when powers were used under section 8V

0

(f) The number of search warrants issued under section 8Y

3

(g) The number of search warrants issued by telephone or other electronic
means under section 8Z

0

(h) The number of patients advised in writing under section 8ZN1

90

1
Where powers are exercised in relation to a record containing clinical records, the Chief Executive Officer must
advise the patient in writing, except under specific circumstances, for example, after reasonable inquiries, the patient
could not be located or contacting the patient would jeopardise the investigation.
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Appendix C: Disability reporting
Since 1994 Commonwealth departments
and agencies have reported on their
performance as policy adviser, purchaser,
employer, regulator and provider under the
Commonwealth Disability Strategy.
In 2007–08 reporting on the employer role
was transferred to the Australian Public Service
Commission’s State of the Service Report
and the APS Statistical Bulletin. These reports
are available at apsc.gov.au. From 2010–11
departments and agencies are no longer
required to report on these functions.
The Commonwealth Disability Strategy has
been overtaken by a new National Disability
Strategy which sets out a 10-year national
policy framework for improving life for
Australians with disability, their families and
carers. A high level report to track progress
for people with disability at a national level
will be produced by the Standing Council on
Community, Housing and Disability Services
to the Council of Australian Governments and
will be available at fahcsia.gov.au

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

The Social Inclusion Measurement and
Reporting Strategy agreed by the Government
in December 2009 will also include some
reporting on disability matters in its regular
How Australia is Faring report and, if
appropriate, in strategic change indicators
in agency annual reports. More detail on
social inclusion matters can be found at
socialinclusion.gov.au
For information about some current
Medicare initiatives to support people
with disability, see:
•

Employment of people with disability on
page 140

•

Carers Week on page 116

•

International Day of People with
Disability on page 116

•

Communicating with people with
disability and their carers on page 148

•

Appendix J on page 245.

229

Appendix D: External scrutiny
ANAO Liaison

Report 12, tabled 15 October 2010

The Department of Human Services (DHS)
continues to work closely with the Australian
National Audit Office (ANAO) on developing
and coordinating the contribution of DHS to
the ANAO’s audit activities, and monitors the
implementation of recommendations from
ANAO audit reports.

Home Insulation Program

DHS has a collaborative and productive
relationship with the ANAO and welcomes the
audit and assurance activities undertaken by
the ANAO. As well, the ANAO Better Practice
guides are useful resources for DHS to assist
with improving business practices.
Tabled ANAO audit reports are available on
the ANAO website at anao.gov.au where
full reports are published, including the
recommendations.

ANAO Audits Tabled 2010–11
Report 22, tabled 16 December 2010
Audits of the Financial Statements of
Australian Government Entities for the
Period Ended 30 June 2010
This report complements the interim phase
report (see page 230) and provides a
summary of the final results of the audits
of the financial statements of all Australian
Government entities, including the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the
Australian Government.
There were no significant or moderate audit
issues noted during the 2009–10 audit.

This audit’s objective was to assess
key aspects of the establishment and
administration of the Home Insulation
Program by the Department of Environment,
Water, Heritage and the Arts as well as the
transition of the program to the Department
of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency.
All phases of the program were examined
with particular emphasis for Phase 2 being
given to:
•

program design and implementation

•

registration and training of installers

•

payment of rebates

•

the compliance strategy underpinning
the program.

The audit report, while not making
recommendations, has a chapter about
lessons learned which will be a valuable
guide for designing and implementing future
demand driven projects.

Report 5, tabled 15 September 2010
Practice Incentives Program
This audit’s objective was to assess the
Department of Health and Ageing’s
effectiveness:
•

in undertaking Practice Incentives
Program (PIP) planning, monitoring
and review

•

with Medicare Australia, in ensuring PIP
delivery to general practices and their
medical practitioners.
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In undertaking the audit the ANAO considered
the 12 PIP incentives up to August 2009. The
three most recently introduced incentives at
the time of audit fieldwork, namely, Domestic
Violence, GP Aged Care Access and eHealth
incentives, were examined in greater detail
and formed case studies to support audit
analysis. The ANAO also sought views on
program administration from industry,
including from general practices directly
through an online survey.
The audit scope did not include an
assessment of the standards for general
practice accreditation or the work of the
bodies that undertake the accreditations.
The ANAO’s focus on general practice
accreditation related to the Department of
Health and Ageing’s management of program
entry criteria.
The ANAO made three recommendations and
all were agreed by Medicare Australia.

Report 33, tabled 23 March 2011
The Protection and Security of Electronic
Information Held by Australian
Government Agencies
The objective of the audit was to assess
the effectiveness of Australian Government
agencies’ management and implementation
of measures to protect and secure their
electronic information, in accordance
with Australian Government protective
security requirements.
The ANAO made four recommendations
and all were agreed by Medicare Australia.

Report 54, tabled 23 June 2011
Interim Phase of the Audit of Financial
Statements of Major General Government
Sector Agencies
This report presents the results of the interim
phase of the 2010–11 financial statement
audits of all portfolio agencies and other
major General Government Sector agencies
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

that collectively represent some 95 per cent
of total General Government Sector revenues
and expenses.

Continuing ANAO Audits
As well as the ANAO audits tabled in
2010–11, Medicare Australia contributed to
a number of audits that will continue after
30 June 2011. These are:
•

Administration of Gateway
Review Process

•

Development and Approval of
Grant Guidelines.

Commonwealth
Ombudsman
The Ombudsman did not publish any reports
involving Medicare Australia.
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Appendix E: Freedom of information
The Department of Human Services (DHS)
has a page for the Information Publication
Scheme (IPS) on its website. In 2010–11 it
linked to each portfolio agency—Centrelink,
Medicare Australia, Child Support Agency,
CRS Australia and Australian Hearing.

•

details of appointments of officers of the
agency that are made under Acts (other
than Australian Public Service employees
within the meaning of the Public Service
Act 1999), such as appointment of
statutory office holders

As required under the reforms to the
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) all
portfolio agencies had an IPS plan in place by
1 May 2011. This plan was prepared for the
purposes of Part II and, in particular, section 8
of the FOI Act.

•

the agency’s annual reports

•

details of arrangements for the public
to comment on specific policy proposals
for which the agency is responsible,
including how (and to whom) those
comments may be made

The plan set out the proposed arrangements
as to how and when the portfolio would,
over time, make available operational material
and other optional information in a manner
that is easy to obtain electronically, and,
via phone and mail, for customers without
internet access.

•

information in documents to which the
agency routinely gives access in response
to requests under Part III (access to
documents) of the FOI Act, except
information that is otherwise exempt

•

information that the agency routinely
provides to the Parliament in response to
requests and orders from the Parliament

•

details of an officer (or officers) who
can be contacted about access to the
agency’s information or documents
under the FOI Act.

Most mandatory information that must be
published under section 8 of the FOI Act
was available through various documents
published on each of the different agency
websites. To enable customers to easily find
this information, each agency website listed
all mandatory information requirements
under the IPS logo, with the relevant link
to the current repository of the agency’s
information.
In 2010–11 the information on each
website included:
•

the agency IPS plan

•

details of the structure of the agency’s
organisation

•

details of the agency’s functions,
including its decision-making powers
and other powers affecting the public
(or any particular person or entity, or
class of persons or entities)

Compliance with Section 8
of the FOI Act—1 July 2010
to 30 April 2011
Functions
The broad functions of Medicare Australia are
described in Medicare Australia overview on
page 16. Commonwealth legislation affecting
Medicare Australia is listed at Appendix B
on page 227. An organisational chart which
includes the structure of DHS is on page 8.
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Arrangements for outside
participation

customer records, investigation
documents and appeal documents

Medicare Australia delivered a range of
services on behalf of policy departments.
These departments welcomed suggestions
from the public and encouraged people to
contribute ideas about improvements to their
policies, programs and services. Details of the
public suggestion schemes are available at
humanservices.gov.au

•

tender documents

•

copies of instruments of delegations and
authorisation given to employees

•

papers relating to meetings (agenda,
minutes and reports)

•

statistical reports and analysis
documents and records.

Customers can also provide feedback
to Medicare about its services, including
complaints, suggestions and compliments
in several ways. Details of how to
provide this feedback are available at
humanservices.gov.au

Obtaining access to documents

Categories of documents
Medicare has a wide range of publications
including booklets, posters and fact sheets
containing detailed information about
Medicare’s services. Publications are available
from Medicare offices, by calling Medicare
Australia or at humanservices.gov.au
People can ask about or request documents by
contacting DHS—see contact details below.
The following types of documents are held
by DHS and are available, subject to specific
exemption provisions under the FOI Act:
•

papers and records relating to internal
administration, statistical records as
well as records relating to human and
financial resource management

•

ministerial documents and general
correspondence

•

policy documents, including procedural
instructions, recommendations
and decisions

•

legal documents, including requests for
legal advice, advice given and other
legal matters

•

documents and records relating to
program administration, including
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The FOI Act gives people a legally enforceable
right of access to documents held by
Medicare Australia. Many documents are
available on request, in full or in part. Formal
requests must be in writing.
Medicare Australia Customer Service Officers
at Medicare offices provided customers with
a range of documents that contain their
personal information outside the formal
provisions of the FOI Act. They also assisted
people to make formal FOI requests. Formal
requests for access to documents must be in
writing.
A letter, fax or statement over the counter
at any Medicare office is also acceptable,
as is an email to freedomofinformation@
humanservices.gov.au
Requests for personal information are free.
However, requests for other documents held
may incur processing charges.
Due to the integration of functions across the
portfolio, the contact details listed below may
change. Please visit humanservices.gov.au for
the most up-to-date contact details.
Medicare Australia
Freedom of Information Officer
Medicare
PO Box 1001
Tuggeranong DC ACT 2901
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Phone: (02) 6124 7277
Fax: (02) 6124 6935
Email: freedomofinformation@humanservices.gov.au
Website: humanservices.gov.au
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Appendix F: Commonwealth Fraud Control
Guidelines certification
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Appendix G: Consultancy contracts
Following the announcement of Service
Delivery Reform (SDR), procurement and
contract management teams from Centrelink,
Medicare Australia and the Department of
Human Services (DHS) came together to
ensure the integrated department gets best
value for money and adheres to appropriate
selection processes.

•

Direct Sourcing—refers to a
procurement process in which an
agency invites a potential supplier
or suppliers of its choice to make
submissions. Direct sourcing may
include a competitive process, for
example, obtaining quotes.

•

Panel—an arrangement under
which a number of suppliers, initially
selected through an open tender
process, may each supply goods or
services to an agency as specified
in the panel arrangements. Quotes
are sought from suppliers that have
pre-qualified on the agency panels
to supply to the Government. This
category includes standing offers and
supplier panels where the supply of
goods and services may be provided
for a pre-determined length of time,
usually at a pre-arranged price.

The following legend explains the data
contained in Table 86 on page 236:
(1) Explanation of selection process terms
drawn from the Commonwealth
Procurement Guidelines
(December 2008):
•

•

Open Tender—a procurement
procedure in which a request for
tender is published inviting all
suppliers that satisfy the conditions
for participation to submit tenders.
Open approaches to the market
include requests for tender, requests
for expressions of interest and
requests for inclusion on a multi-use
list, all of which are published on
AusTender.
Select Tender—a procurement
procedure in which the procuring
agency selects which potential
suppliers are invited to submit
tenders. This procurement process
may only be used under certain
defined circumstances.

(2) Justification for decision to use
consultancy:
•

A—skills currently unavailable
within agency

•

B—need for specialised or professional
skills

•

C—need for independent research
or assessment.
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Table 86: Consultancy services to the value of $10 000 or more let during 2010–11

Reference
number

Consultant
name

Description

300000
8680

IBM Australia
Limited

Medicare
Infrastructure
Upgrade
Phase 1

300000
8681

IBM Australia
Limited

Medicare
Infrastructure
Upgrade
Phase 2

C10027

DILMA
Consulting
Pty Ltd

Review –
NBCSR and
PBS work

C10023

Aquitaine
Consulting
Pty Ltd

Undertake
stability and
operational
liability review

300000
6454

Market
Access
Consulting &
Research

300000
6318

S10002
01AC

Selection
process (1)

Justification
(2)

1 599 999.99

Direct
Sourcing

B

1 599 999.99

Direct
Sourcing

B

105 000.00

Select
Tender

B

249 854.00

Direct
Sourcing

C

Service Delivery
Reform report

11 812.50

Direct
Sourcing

B

Bull & Bear
Special
Assignments
Pty Ltd

Consultancy
services for
ICT Business
Section

12 249.99

Open
Tender

B

Deloitte
Touche
Tohmatsu

Review of
Financial Chart
of Accounts

33 000.00

Panel

B

Total

Contract
price ($)

3 611 916.47

Note: The total of contract values does not reflect contract expenditure. See Consultancy services on page 133 for
2010–11 expenditure on all consultancies (including any with a value less than $10 000).
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Appendix H: Ecologically sustainable
development and environmental
performance
Following the announcement of Service
Delivery Reform (SDR), environmental
management teams from Centrelink,
Medicare Australia and the Department of
Human Services (DHS) came together to
ensure the integrated department continued
to carry out its business in environmentally
responsible ways.
Section 516A of the Environment Protection
and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999
(EPBC Act) requires Australian Government
organisations to report annually on their
environmental performance and contribution
to the principles of ecologically sustainable
development (ESD).
All portfolio agencies were committed to:
•

complying with all relevant
environmental legislation and regulations

•

conducting their operations in a manner
that minimises environmental impacts
and prevents pollution

•

setting environmental objectives
and targets to enable continuous
improvement.

How activities accorded
with the Principles of ESD—
Section 516A (6)(a)
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia
continued to conduct its operations in an
environmentally responsible manner. Potential
impacts associated with its operations were
mitigated through efficient use of resources,
effective waste management and pollution
prevention. Medicare Australia continued to
implement its Environmental Management
System that is aligned to the international

standard EMS ISO 14001:2004. Environmental
policies, plans and procedures influenced the
decision-making processes of the agency.

Programs that accorded
with the principles of ESD—
Section 516A(6)(a)
Medicare Australia had procurement
guidelines, motor vehicle policies and
sustainable office practices that accorded
with ESD principles. Details of these policies
and practices are reported under Measures
taken to minimise the effect of activities on
the environment—Section 516(6)(d) on
page 238. Examples of some of the programs
administered by Medicare Australia that were
relevant to and met ESD principles include
the following.

Drought assistance
Australian Government Mobile Offices
travelled to rural areas in New South Wales,
Victoria, South Australia and Queensland as
part of the Australian Government’s drought
assistance package. The offices visited the
worst affected areas to provide a wholeof-government mobile service. Employees
provided Medicare services such as enrolment
and card replacement and assisted with
Family Assistance services.

Natural disaster response
Medicare Australia employees joined
crisis response units to deliver Australian
Government assistance to communities and
individuals adversely affected by natural
disasters. In 2010–11 Medicare Australia
assisted those affected by flooding in
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Queensland, New South Wales, Victoria,
Western Australia and Tasmania, Tropical
Cyclone Yasi in Queensland, and bushfires
in Western Australia. Medicare Australia
also helped the public, providers, hospitals,
pharmacists and community groups to access
its services and related information.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas Scheme
Medicare Australia assisted with delivery of
the Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) Vehicle
Scheme which encouraged the use of
liquefied petroleum gas as a transport fuel.
LPG is the most popular alternative fuel used
in Australia. The lower carbon-to-hydrogen
ratio and higher octane rating of LPG offers
the potential for LPG-fuelled vehicles to
deliver reduced carbon dioxide emissions.

How Medicare Australia’s
Outcomes contributeD
to the principles of ESD—
Section 516A(6)(b)
A key organisational outcome for Medicare
Australia in 2010–11 was improving Australia’s
health through payments and information.
One of Medicare Australia’s priorities
during 2010–11 was to deliver great
service to all Australians and make it easy
for them to conduct business. There is
growing demand from the community for
efficient, fast and convenient service from
government agencies. To meet this need
Medicare Australia encouraged electronic
business through electronic claiming.
A consequence of supporting electronic
claims and online services was a reduction
in paper-based claiming. Medicare Australia’s
clients could choose to access services online
or claim Medicare benefits at medical
practices, reducing or eliminating the need
to travel to Medicare offices.
As part of SDR, a number of Medicare and
Centrelink offices co-located. This initiative
has provided the community with convenient
Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

access to a range of Australian Government
services in one location.

Effect of Medicare
Australia’s activities on
the Environment—Section
516A(6)(c)
Medicare Australia’s daily operations had an
impact on the environment. While carrying
out business, resources such as electricity,
paper and water were consumed and waste
was generated. Medicare Australia was
committed to managing the impacts of its
business activities on the environment and
improving its environmental performance.

Measures taken to
minimise the effect
of activities on the
environment—Section
516(6)(d)
Environmental Management System
The Environmental Management System is a
framework designed to manage the impacts
of Medicare Australia’s business activities on
the environment. The system contributed to
Medicare Australia’s program outcomes and
accords with the principles of ESD.
Implementation of Medicare Australia’s
Environmental Management System generated
significant environmental benefits. It also led to
better resource allocation and cost savings, and
contributed to overall employee satisfaction.

Environmental impact assessments
Medicare Australia conducted assessments
of the potential environmental impacts of
proposed changes to operations such as the
implementation of new programs and the
introduction of new technologies.
The aim of these assessments was to prevent
unintended environmental consequences
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from the introduction of new projects. The
assessment, which considered the potential
environmental impact against government
benchmarks, was taken into account in final
decision making and had the added benefit
of achieving better business and resource
management outcomes

Environmental policies, procedures
and guidelines
Medicare Australia’s policies, procedures and
guidelines informed the public and employees
about the way it managed environmental
performance and ensured the environment
was considered during business planning and
decision-making processes.

Environmental management
objectives and targets 2010–11
Under Medicare Australia’s Environmental
Management System, objectives and
targets were regularly reviewed to respond
to changes in government environmental
policies or changing business parameters.
These targets allowed Medicare Australia
to measure the effectiveness of its
environmental management plans. Table 87
outlines Medicare Australia’s environmental
targets for 2010–11.

Table 87: Medicare Australia environmental targets 2010–11

Measure

Target

Energy
Office—tenant light and power

≤7 500 MJ per person

Office—central services

≤400 MJ per m²

Other buildings

≤130 MJ per m²

Greenhouse
Total greenhouse emissions

≤17 000 CO2-e tonnes

Total greenhouse offsets

≥1 500 CO2-e tonnes

Ethanol blended fuel utilisation
E10 utilisation

≥35%

Paper use
External paper use

<3 000 tonnes

Internal A4 copy paper use

<150 tonnes

Waste
General office landfill waste of total

≤ 6.0%

Percentage of refurbishment waste diverted from landfill

≥ 80.0%
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During 2010–11 the Australian Government
released two new policies to improve
environmental performance in the public
sector. These included the Australian
Government ICT Sustainability Plan
2010–2015 and the Australian Packaging
Covenant—Action Plan July 2010 to
June 2015. DHS will review its operations
and incorporate measures to meet the targets
and policy obligations set out in these plans.

Procurement and the environment
Medicare Australia ensured that
environmental considerations were part of
normal procurement practice, consistent
with traditional factors such as product
safety, price, performance and availability.
Procurement decisions were no longer
confined to considerations of price and
functionality but also included considerations
of environmental performance. Consequently,
environmental performance provisions
were included in procurement tenders and
associated contracts.

Building an environmentally aware
business culture
To raise environmental awareness and
improve environmental performance
Medicare Australia had an education program
across all locations to train employees on
environmental policies and procedures.
Internal environment program
A network of state-based Econet members
had a local or regional role of communicating
and promoting green office awareness
practices and overseeing the implementation
of environmental recommendations within
the business.
The environmental networks were supported
by training and awareness activities, including
Medicare Australia’s National Induction
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Program. All new employees participated in
this training.
External—government sector
Medicare Australia continued its role as
a member of the Government Agencies
Environmental Network. The 30-member
network was established by Centrelink, the
Department of Defence and the Australian
Taxation Office to drive environmental
performance improvements within public
agencies. Its aims are to:
•

share best-practice ideas on
environmental management

•

initiate best-practice activities for public
agencies

•

facilitate uptake of ideas within agencies.

General reporting
for 2010–11
During 2010–11 the corporate functions
of Centrelink, Medicare Australia and DHS
continued to be consolidated. Due to this
consolidation and transition, various elements
of environmental information cannot be
reported at an agency level for 2010–11.

Energy
Overall performance
Due to energy consumption reporting
arrangements, information relating to energy
performance for 2010–11 will not be available
until the end of October 2011. Information
is provided for the previous two years (see
Table 88).
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Table 88: Medicare Australia energy performance data

2008–09

2009–10

change

Total energy consumption—gigajoules

66 724

59 870

–10.3%

Electricity—gigajoules

57 102

52 411

–8.2%

Gas—gigajoules

2 431

2 303

–5.27%

Vehicle fuel—gigajoules

7 191

5 156

–28.3%

Medicare Australia considered that energy
use had the most significant environmental
impact. During 2009–10 Medicare Australia
continued to perform substantially better than
Energy Efficiency in Government Operations
targets set for 2011–12.

meet business needs. During 2010–11
Medicare Australia focused on reducing and
improving fleet vehicle fuel consumption
and encouraging the use of bio-fuels which
reduces greenhouse gas emissions and
photochemical smog.

Energy conservation

Medicare Australia continued to offset
100 per cent of its vehicle fleet emissions
through Greenfleet. The greenhouse gases
generated by the fleet’s operations were
offset by planting native trees.

Since May 2007 Medicare Australia
conducted environmental assessments at
national, capital city and Medicare branch
offices. Audit findings and recommendations
were presented to the site manager for
planning and budget consideration.
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia
undertook a National Australia Built
Environment Rating System (NABERS) selfassessment of its property portfolio. This was
the first Medicare Australia NABERS portfolio
rating and achieved an average of 0.7 stars.
The ratings will provide a benchmark for
measuring future improvements in DHS
energy performance.

Medicare Australia continued to work on
reducing air travel by improving Medicare
Australia’s capacity to conduct business via
video and teleconferencing arrangements.

Paper
All copy paper purchased by Medicare
Australia contained 50 per cent recycled
content. Awareness campaigns encouraging
duplex printing, on screen editing and
electronic filing continued during 2010–11.

Supply
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia continued
to support the growth of the renewable
energy sector by incorporating a component
of green and/or renewable energy in energyrelated procurement arrangements.

Transport
Medicare Australia made changes to
administrative policies associated with motor
vehicles to ensure vehicle numbers nationally
were kept to the minimum necessary to
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Table 89: Medicare Australia materials use

Measure

Metric

2009–10

2010–11

Paper use (internal copy)

tonnes

143

152

Water
Medicare Australia continued to encourage
the conservation of water through employee
education. Additionally, installing water
conservation solutions was included during
accommodation refurbishments.

Waste management
Medicare Australia aimed to reduce the
amount of waste sent to landfill. New
recycling streams were introduced to divert
hazardous waste from landfill. Medicare
Australia sought more information on waste
going to landfill from cleaners and builders
carrying out accommodation refurbishment
and related fit-out activity. Recommendations
from audits and trials were implemented to
increase the percentage of recycling.

Mechanisms for
reviewing and increasing
the effectiveness of
its Environmental
Management Strategies—
Section 516A(6)(e)
During 2010–11 Medicare Australia continued
to implement its Environmental Management
System. Objectives, targets and performance
indicators were determined and reviewed
on a regular basis. The process provided the
opportunity to improve the system and in
turn reduce exposure to risk while improving
overall environmental performance.
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Appendix I: Employee remuneration
overview
Non-Senior Executive
Service remuneration
arrangements

Medicare Australia Collective
Agreement 2008–2011

At 30 June 2011, 5790 non-Senior Executive
Service (SES) employees were covered
by the Medicare Australia Collective
Agreement 2008–2011 and Medicare
Australia (Medical Officers) Collective
Agreement 2008–2011.

Table 90 shows the range of job
classifications, salaries and additional pay
points for employees covered by the Medicare
Australia Collective Agreement 2008–2011.

Table 90: Salary ranges for employees covered by the Medicare Australia Collective
Agreement 2008–20111

Classification

Annual salary range ($)

Additional pay point ($)

Executive Level 2

105 631–121 537

125 611

Executive Level 1

86 851–97 860

–

APS 6

71 491–77 991

81 145

APS 5

64 831–66 657

67 895

APS 4

59 664–61 195

62 863

APS 3

51 882–54 577

–

APS 2

46 816–49 233

–

APS 1

41 645–44 413

–

1
The Medicare Australia Collective Agreement 2008–2011 provides for access to additional pay points for employees
conditional on them meeting prescribed criteria outlined in clauses 7.2, 7.3.1 and 7.6.2.
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Medicare Australia
(Medical Officers)
Collective Agreement
2008–2011
Table 91 shows the range of job
classifications, salaries and additional
pay points for employees covered by the
Medicare Australia (Medical Officers)
Collective Agreement 2008–2011.
Table 91: Salary ranges for employees covered by the Medicare Australia (Medical Officers)
Collective Agreement 2008–2011

Classification

Annual salary range ($)

Restricted salary range
($)

Medical Officer Class 3

132 996–138 980

139 151–144 531

Medical Officer Class 4

144 531–154 014

159 284–160 030

Senior Executive Service remuneration
Table 92: Salary ranges for Senior Executive Service classifications

Classification

Salary range ($)

SES Band 3

230 000–280 000

SES Band 2

180 000–220 000

SES Band 1

140 000–180 000

Performance pay
During 2010–11 one non-SES employee
was covered by an Australian Workplace
Agreement and received performance pay
under this instrument. At 30 June 2011 all
non-SES employees were covered by the
Collective Agreement.
No performance pay or achievement bonuses
were paid to SES employees in 2010–11 in line
with government policy.

Medicare Australia Annual Report 2010 –11

245

Appendix J: Staffing statistics
At 30 June 2011 Medicare Australia had
5833 employees who were employed under
the Public Service Act 1999. The CEO was
employed under a separate Remuneration
Tribunal determination, producing a total
workforce of 5834. This was an increase
of 129 employees or 2.3 per cent since
30 June 2010.

Part-time work participation increased by
49 employees or 0.4 per cent to 23.6 per cent
of the workforce as at 30 June 2011. Women
comprised 79.7 per cent of the workforce.
This was a decrease of 63 employees or
0.7 per cent since 30 June 2010.
The following tables record employees
against the positions they normally occupy,
noting that some may be working temporarily
in other positions. All figures are based on
headcount at 30 June 2011.

Table 93: Employees by classification and location

Classification

ACT

NSW

QLD

SA/NT

TAS

VIC

WA

Total

CEO

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

SES Band 3

2

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

SES Band 2

9

0

0

0

0

0

0

9

SES Band 1

29

1

1

0

0

0

1

32

Executive Level 2

255

15

10

5

2

16

6

309

Executive Level 1

397

32

32

16

17

35

10

539

APS 6

304

33

34

17

5

44

14

451

APS 5

195

159

89

44

25

112

50

674

APS 4

170

94

55

34

18

90

37

498

APS 3

84

846

551

245

174

723

357

2 980

APS 2

25

94

23

17

15

28

29

231

APS 1

0

21

11

10

29

26

11

108

Total

1 471

1 295

806

388

285

1 074

515

5 834
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Table 94: Employees by classification and employment type

Classification

Ongoing

Non-ongoing

Total

CEO

1

0

1

SES Band 3

2

0

2

SES Band 2

9

0

9

SES Band 1

32

0

32

Executive Level 2

301

8

309

Executive Level 1

526

13

539

APS 6

438

13

451

APS 5

655

19

674

APS 4

460

38

498

APS 3

2 930

50

2 980

APS 2

158

73

231

APS 1

71

37

108

Total

5 583

251

5 834

Full-time

Part-time

Total

CEO

1

0

1

SES Band 3

2

0

2

SES Band 2

9

0

9

SES Band 1

32

0

32

Executive Level 2

274

35

309

Executive Level 1

483

56

539

APS 6

391

60

451

APS 5

615

59

674

APS 4

448

50

498

APS 3

1 973

1 007

2 980

APS 2

175

56

231

APS 1

56

52

108

Total

4 459

1 375

5 834

Table 95: Employees by classification and attendance type

Classification
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Table 96: Employees by classification and gender

Classification

Female

Male

Total

CEO

1

0

1

SES Band 3

1

1

2

SES Band 2

6

3

9

SES Band 1

17

15

32

Executive Level 2

127

182

309

Executive Level 1

313

226

539

APS 6

304

147

451

APS 5

548

126

674

APS 4

395

103

498

APS 3

2 679

301

2 980

APS 2

182

49

231

APS 1

75

33

108

Total

4 648

1 186

5 834

Table 97: Employees by classification and diverse backgrounds

Classification

Indigenous

NESB1

Disability

Ongoing

Nonongoing

Ongoing

Nonongoing

Ongoing

Nonongoing

CEO

0

0

0

0

0

0

SES Band 3

0

0

0

0

0

0

SES Band 2

0

0

0

0

0

0

SES Band 1

0

0

0

0

3

0

Executive Level 2

0

0

9

0

75

2

Executive Level 1

3

0

9

0

132

3

APS 6

2

1

5

0

75

1

APS 5

19

0

7

0

101

1

APS 4

7

1

9

1

109

2

APS 3

62

3

59

1

527

11

APS 2

2

1

4

1

36

20

APS 1

3

2

4

2

15

3

Total

98

8

106

5

1 073

43

1

Non-English Speaking Background (NESB)—based on an employee’s ‘First language spoken’ and includes
‘Language other than English’ and ‘English and another Language’.
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Appendix K: Occupational health and safety
Occupational Health and
Safety Act 1991 (the Act)
reporting
Medicare Australia’s health and safety
management arrangements were to:
•

support the achievement of the health
and safety culture and outcomes
expected from the Occupational Health
and Safety Policy

•

enable effective cooperation between
the employer and the employees in
promoting and developing measures to
ensure the employees’ health, safety and
wellbeing at work

•

provide adequate mechanisms for
informing the employees about
the arrangements

•

provide adequate mechanisms for
reviewing the effectiveness of the
arrangements

•

provide adequate mechanisms for
the variation of the arrangements in
consultation with the employees

•

•

provide for a dispute resolution
mechanism to deal with disputes arising
in the course of consultations held under
the Act between the employer and
the employees
establish health and safety committees
and provide for the manner in which
they are to be constituted and
to operate.
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Comcare investigations
and notices
Table 98: Comcare investigations

Investigation

Outcome

Consultation
requirements for
the development
of the 2008–10
health and safety
management
arrangements

The investigator
concluded that
Medicare Australia
had met the
requirements of
the Act.

A complaint by
an employee in
relation to their
rehabilitation
support and
an alleged
contravention
of section 76 of
the Act

The investigator
concluded that
there had not been
a contravention
of the Act and no
recommendations
were made.

No notices were issued under the Act.

Comcare Notifications
Table 99: Incidents notified to Comcare

Type of incident

Number

Serious personal injury

2

Prescribed incapacity (30 or
more working days or shifts)

3

Dangerous occurrence

2

Total

7
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Appendix L: Advertising and market research
Section 311A of the Commonwealth Electoral
Act 1918 requires Australian Government
agencies to report all payments of $11 500
or more made to advertising agencies or to
organisations carrying out market research,
polling, direct mailing or media advertising.
Tables 100 and 101 outline the use of such
agencies by Medicare Australia in 2010–11.

Communication campaigns
Medicare Australia did not undertake any
communication campaigns in 2010–11.

Advertising costs—media advertising
agency
In 2010–11 total Medicare Australia expenditure
through the Australian Government’s master
advertising agency, Adcorp, was
$383 064 compared to $166 472 in 2009–10
(with Adcorp and hma Blaze). This included
expenditure on print, radio, online and social
media advertising in areas such as recruitment,
public notices, tenders and Medicare
Australia services.

Table 100: Costs associated with advertising

Payee

Purpose

2010–11 amount ($)

Telstra

Advertising in the White Pages—includes
advertising and listing of all Medicare offices

355 641

Table 101: Costs associated with market research organisations

Vendor

Description

2010–11 expenditure ($)

Andrews Group

Research into the use of electronic
claiming by specialists

Colmar Brunton

Annual customer satisfaction
research

Hall and Partners/Open
Mind

Market research to develop
communication strategy for the
Small Business Superannuation
Clearing House

20 000

Instinct and Reason

Moving Forum and Bulletin Board
online

61 600

35 000
149 087
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Vendor

Description

Instinct and Reason

Evaluation of the 2009–10
Annual Report

16 500

Market Access
Consulting and
Research

Service Delivery Reform for
audiences portfolio offer

51 022

Orima Research Pty Ltd

Portfolio People Survey

Quantum

Prescriber attitudes to restricted
and authority medicines

55 825

Quantum

Healthcare Identifiers Service—
Communication research

83 352

Tall Poppies

Customer Journeys

41 440

Total
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2010–11 expenditure ($)

244 122

757 948
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Appendix M: Resource statements
Table 102: Resource statements 2010–11

Actual
available
appropriations
for 2010–11
$’000

Payments
made 2010–11
$’000

Balance
remaining
$’000

(a)

(b)

(a)–(b)

Prior year departmental
appropriation

171 514

171 514

–

Departmental appropriation1

655 877

480 851

175 026

S.30 Relevant agency receipts

2 948

2 948

–

S.31 Relevant agency receipts

104 109

104 109

–

934 448

759 422

175 026

Prior year appropriation

42 621

27 157

15 464

Equity injections2

16 287

15 623

664

Total

58 908

42 780

16 128

Total other services

58 908

42 780

16 128

993 356

802 202

191 154

Ordinary annual services
Departmental appropriation

Total
Other services
Administered expenses
Departmental non-operating

Total resourcing and payments

1

Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2010–11, Departmental appropriations reduced (Appropriation Act section 9) and
Comcover receipts (Appropriation Act s12).

2

Appropriation Bill (No.1) 2010–11, Departmental appropriations reduced (Appropriation Act section 9) and
Comcover receipts (Appropriation Act s12).
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Outcome 1—Access to Government health and other payment and information services to the
Australian public and providers through convenient and efficient service delivery.
Table 103: Budgeted expenses and resources for outcomes

Actual
2010–11
$’000
(b)

Variation
$’000
(a)–(b)

463 615

463 615

–

Receipts from independent sources

30 909

30 799

110

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the
budget year

20 038

21 265

(1 227)

514 562

515 679

(1 117)

148 065

148 065

–

3 980

3 961

19

10 917

20 798

(9 881)

162 962

172 824

(9 862)

Budget
2010–11
$’000
(a)
Program 1.1: Delivery of Medical Benefits and Services (D)
Departmental outputs:
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill (No.1)
2010–11)

Total for Program 1.1

Program 1.2: Delivery of Pharmaceutical Benefits and Services (D)
Departmental outputs:
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill (No.1)
2010–11)
Receipts from independent sources
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the budget
year
Total for Program 1.2

Program 1.3: Delivery of Other Benefits and Services (D)
Departmental outputs:
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Budget
2010–11
$’000
(a)

Actual
2010–11
$’000
(b)

Variation
$’000
(a)–(b)

7 452

7 452

–

65 248

62 780

2 468

1 527

6 109

(4 582)

74 227

76 341

(2 114)

619 132

619 132

–

Receipts from independent sources

99 887

97 540

2 347

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the
budget year

32 732

48 172

(15 440)

Total expenses for Outcome 1

751 751

764 844

13 093

D = Departmental

751 751

764 844

13 093

5 184

5 330

(146)

Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill (No.1)
2010–11)
Receipts from independent sources
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the
budget year
Total for Program 1.3
Outcome 1 totals by appropriation type:
Departmental outputs:
Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Bill (No.1)
2010–11)

Average staffing level (number)
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Appendix N: Correction of errors in
2009–10 annual report
PAGE 9
Other sources of funding—words
inadvertently omitted. New text is highlighted
in red.
Funding of $11.7 million was provided
in 2009–10 to administer components of
the Home Insulation Program on behalf of
the Department of the Environment, Water,
Heritage and the Arts and the Department of
Climate Change and Energy Efficiency.

PAGE 12
Table 2—Balanced Scorecard—
Unscheduled absenteeism rate results
incorrectly read as percentages. The %
symbols should be removed as the figures refer
to days. Revised text is highlighted in red.

Unscheduled absenteeism rate

Actual
2007–08

Actual
2008–09

Target
2009–10

Actual
2009–10

13.2 days

13.55 days

13.4 days

14.36 days

PAGE 99
Table 41—Completed audit and review
cases 2009–10—Table 41 should have been
broken down by program/group rather than
client group as the figure of 2365 relates to
Medicare Benefits Schedule which included
the client groups of specialists, general
practitioners and allied health professionals.
In addition, no Private Health Insurance
Rebates (PHIR) audits were completed last
year so the PHIR term should be removed.
A new table appears on the following page.
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Table 41—Completed audit and review cases 2009–10

Program/group

Number

Medicare Benefits Schedule

2 365

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

273

Members of the public

468

Practice Incentives Program payment recipients

414

Other1

74

Total
1

3 594

Other consists of Mental Health Nurse Incentive Program and Aged Care.

PAGE 101

PAGE 107

Table 42—Summary of successful
prosecutions 2009–10—Table 42 should be
removed as the figures in the table relate to
the previous financial year, that is, 2008–09.
Given that the successful prosecutions
for 2009–10 only related to members of the
public (not medical practitioners or pharmacies/
pharmacists) the table was not required.

Privacy performance—privacy complaints
not published. In line with Medicare
Australia’s service charter the data is updated
on Medicare Australia’s website each quarter.
Following is the updated text.

PAGE 101
Revised text for External referrals is
highlighted in red.
External referrals
Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions
In 2009–10 Medicare Australia referred
eight individuals to the Commonwealth
Director of Public Prosecutions for criminal
prosecution. The Commonwealth Director of
Public Prosecutions successfully prosecuted 12
members of the public referred by Medicare
Australia, resulting in total repayment orders
of $61 553.
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(Service charter) Respect my rights
Measure

Performance

Medicare Australia will
respond to all complaints
about the inappropriate use
and disclosure of personal
information and publish results
in the annual report.

During 2009–10, Medicare Australia investigated 117
complaints about the use and disclosure of the personal
information it holds. Six incidents were carried over
from 2008–09. Of the 117 complaints investigated in 2009–10,
45 were found to be not substantiated, 66 were substantiated
and six assessments are currently in progress. No complaints
were lodged with the Office of the Privacy Commissioner.

Privacy complaints
2008–09

2009–10

Not substantiated

61

45

Substantiated

53

66

6

6

120

117

In progress
Total

PAGE 210
Table 59—Ongoing and non-ongoing
staff by classification—distribution of SES
Band 2 across the ongoing and non-ongoing
employment is incorrect. The table incorrectly
reports 0 non-ongoing SES Band 2 staff and
eight ongoing SES Band 2 staff. The table
should report two non-ongoing SES Band 2
staff and six ongoing SES Band 2 staff. A new
table which includes corrections highlighted
in red is on the following page.
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Table 59—Ongoing and non-ongoing staff by classification

Classification

N

O

Total

CEO

0

1

1

SES Band 3

0

2

2

SES Band 2

2

6

8

SES Band 1

0

35

35

EL 2

3

289

292

EL 1

13

462

475

APS 6

10

404

414

APS 5

18

601

619

APS 4

24

428

452

APS 3

71

3 057

3 128

APS 2

61

79

140

APS 1

84

55

139

Total

286

5 419

5 705

O = Ongoing; N = Non-ongoing

PAGE 241
Enquiry telephone lines—the phone
number for the Australian Defence
Force Family Healthcare Program enquiry line
had too many digits. The new entry is below
with correction highlighted in red.
Service

Hours of operation (AEST/
AEDST whichever is applicable
unless otherwise indicated)

Phone number

ADF Family Healthcare Program
(Australian Defence Force Family
Healthcare Program)

Mon–Fri 8:30 am–5:00 pm

1300 301 505
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Appendix O: Compliance index
Table 104: Compliance with the Requirements for annual reports—for departments, executive
agencies and FMA Act bodies

Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Description

Requirement

8(3) & A.4

Letter of transmittal

Mandatory

iii

A.5

Table of contents

Mandatory

v

A.5

Index

Mandatory

274

A.5

Glossary

Mandatory

268

A.5

Contact officer(s)

Mandatory

ii

A.5

Internet home page
address and Internet
address for report

Mandatory

ii

Mandatory

2–5

9

Part of report

Review by Secretary

Page
number(s)
in this
report

9(1)

Review by departmental
secretary

Mandatory

2–5

9(2)

Summary of significant
issues and developments

Suggested

2–5

9(2)

Overview of department’s
performance and financial
results

Suggested

2–5

9(2)

Outlook for following year

Suggested

3

9(3)

Significant issues and
developments—portfolio

Portfolio
agency
departments—
suggested

10

Departmental overview

2–5

Mandatory

16–23

10(1)

Role and functions

Mandatory

16–18

10(1)

Organisational structure

Mandatory

8–12

10(1)

Outcome and program
structure

Mandatory

19

1

The reference is to the location of the item in the requirements—e.g, ‘A.4’ refers to the fourth item in Attachment A.
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Description

Requirement

Page
number(s)
in this
report

10(2)

Where outcome and
program structures differ
from PB Statements/
PAES or other portfolio
statements accompanying
any other additional
appropriation bills (other
portfolio statements),
details of variation and
reasons for change

Mandatory

No change

10(3)

Portfolio structure

Mandatory
for portfolio
departments

11

Part of report

Report on performance

7–12

Mandatory

11(1)

Review of performance
during the year in
relation to programs and
contribution to outcomes

Mandatory

25–117

11(2)

Actual performance in
relation to deliverables
and KPIs set out in
PB Statements/PAES or
other portfolio statements

Mandatory

20–21

11(2)

Where performance targets
differ from the PBS/PAES,
details of both former and
new targets, and reasons
for the change

Mandatory

20–21

11(2)

Narrative discussion and
analysis of performance

Mandatory

25–149

11(2)

Trend information

Mandatory

25–149

11(3)

Performance of purchaser/
provider arrangements

If applicable—
suggested

11(3)

Significant changes
in nature of principal
functions/services

Suggested

155–156,
222–226
25–33
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Description

Requirement

11(3)

Factors, events or trends
influencing departmental
performance

Suggested

25–149

11(3)

Contribution of risk
management in achieving
objectives

Suggested

15,
122–123

11(4)

Social inclusion outcomes

If applicable—
mandatory

110–113

11(5)

Performance against service
charter customer service
standards, complaints
data, and the department’s
response to complaints

If applicable—
mandatory

105–109

11(6)

Discussion and analysis of
the department’s financial
performance

Mandatory

151–218

11(7)

Discussion of any
significant changes from
the prior year or from
budget

Suggested

5, 25–33,
152–156

11(8)

Agency resource statement
and summary resource
tables by outcomes

Mandatory

251–253

11(9)

Developments since the
end of the financial year
that have affected or may
significantly affect the
department’s operations or
financial results in future

If applicable—
mandatory

25–33,
152–156

12

Part of report

Page
number(s)
in this
report

Management accountability
Corporate governance

12(1)

Agency heads are required
to certify that their
agency comply with the
Commonwealth Fraud
Control Guidelines
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Part of report

Description

Requirement

Page
number(s)
in this
report

12(2)

Statement of the main
corporate governance
practices in place

Mandatory

6, 14–16,
22–23

12(3)

Names of the senior
executive and their
responsibilities

Suggested

8–12,
13–14

12(3)

Senior management
committees and their roles

Suggested

15, 22–23

12(3)

Corporate and operational
planning and associated
performance reporting and
review

Suggested

18–21

12(3)

Approach adopted to
identifying areas of
significant financial or
operational risk

Suggested

15, 22,
122–132

12(3)

Policy and practices on
the establishment and
maintenance of appropriate
ethical standards

Suggested

140

12(3)

How nature and amount
of remuneration for SES
officers is determined

Suggested

139, 244

12(4)

Significant developments in
external scrutiny

Mandatory

120–121,
229–230

12(4)

Judicial decisions and
decisions of administrative
tribunals

Mandatory

121, 109,
129

12(4)

Reports by the AuditorGeneral, a Parliamentary
Committee or the
Commonwealth
Ombudsman

Mandatory

229–230

External scrutiny
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Part of report

Description

Requirement

Page
number(s)
in this
report

Management of human resources
12(5)

Assessment of
effectiveness in managing
and developing human
resources to achieve
departmental objectives

Mandatory

31–32,
138–144

12(6)

Workforce planning, staff
turnover and retention

Suggested

31–32,
138–144

12(6)

Impact and features of
enterprise or collective
agreements, individual
flexibility arrangements
(IFAs), determinations,
common law contracts
and AWAs

Suggested

143,
243–244

12(6)

Training and development
undertaken and its impact

Suggested

139, 143

12(6)

Occupational health and
safety performance

Suggested

145–147,
248

12(6)

Productivity gains

Suggested

143

12(7)

Statistics on staffing

Mandatory

245–247

12(8)

Enterprise or collective
agreements, IFAs,
determinations, common
law contracts and AWAs

Mandatory

143,
243–244

12(9) & B

Performance pay

Mandatory

244

12(10)–(11)

Assets
management

Assessment of
effectiveness of assets
management

If applicable—
mandatory

135

12(12)

Purchasing

Assessment of purchasing
against core policies and
principles

Mandatory

133
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Part of report

12(13)–(24) & Consultants
C, D

Description

Requirement

Page
number(s)
in this
report

Summary statement
detailing the number of
new consultancy services
contracts let during the
year; the total actual
expenditure on all new
consultancy contracts let
during the year (inclusive
of GST); the number of
ongoing consultancy
contracts that were active
in the reporting year; the
total actual expenditure
in the reporting year on
the ongoing consultancy
contracts (inclusive of
GST), and a statement
noting that information on
contracts and consultancies
is available through the
AusTender website

Mandatory

133,
235–236

12(25)

Australian
National Audit
Office access
clauses

Absence of provisions in
contracts allowing access
by the Auditor-General

Mandatory

134

12(26)

Exempt
contracts

Contracts exempt from the
AusTender

Mandatory

134

13

Financial
statements

Financial statements

Mandatory

157–218

Mandatory

248

Other mandatory information
14(1) & C

Occupational health and
safety (section 74 of the
Occupational Health and
Safety Act 1991)
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Reference
in Annual
Report
Guidelines1

Part of report

Description

Requirement

14(1) & C

Freedom of Information
for the period 1 July 2010
to 30 April 2011 inclusive
(subsection 8(1) of the
Freedom of Information
Act 1982) as it existed prior
to 1 May 2011)

Mandatory

231–233

14(1) & C

Advertising and Market
Research (section 311A
of the Commonwealth
Electoral Act 1918) and
statement on advertising
campaigns

Mandatory

249–250

14(1) & C

Ecologically sustainable
development and
environmental performance
(section 516A of the
Environment Protection and
Biodiversity Conservation
Act 1999)

Mandatory

237–242

14(2) & D

Grant programs

Mandatory

134

14(3) & D

Disability reporting—
explicit and transparent
reference to agency-level
information available
through other reporting
mechanisms

Mandatory

228

14(4)

Correction of material
errors in previous annual
report

If applicable—
mandatory

254–257

F

List of requirements

Mandatory

258–264
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in this
report
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Chapter 9: Appendices
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References
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Glossary
Administered items

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities that
the government controls, but which an agency
or authority manages on the Commonwealth’s
behalf.

Appropriation

An amount of public moneys parliament
authorises for spending for a particular purpose.

AusTender

The Australian Government’s web-based
procurement system, which provides centralised
access to all publicly available approaches to
market, multi-use lists, annual procurement
plans and reported contracts.

Co-design

Co-design means working with customers,
employees and stakeholders to design, shape
and deliver better services. As well as engaging
with customers, co-design draws on the
knowledge, ideas and insights of stakeholders
and staff from across the Department of Human
Services (DHS) and the community at large.

Collective agreement

A collective agreement relating to employment
conditions made directly between an employer
and a group of employees.

Co-location of services

Co-location of services improves the way
people deal with the Australian Government
by providing convenient, easy-to-access,
coordinated services from a single location.
Customers who visit a co-located office can
choose from a range of Centrelink, Medicare
and Child Support services.

Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines

The Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines
establish the core procurement policy
framework and articulate the government’s
expectations for all FMA Act agencies and
their officials when performing duties related
to procurement.
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Ecologically sustainable development

The National Strategy for Ecologically
Sustainable Development defines ecologically
sustainable development as ‘using, conserving
and enhancing the community’s resources
so that ecological processes, on which life
depends, are maintained, and the total
quality of life, now and in the future, can
be increased’.

Integrated department

On 1 July 2011 Centrelink and Medicare Australia
integrated into the new department. This
integration is part of Service Delivery Reform and
will enable more effective and efficient delivery of
services to Australian people.

Key performance indicators

These are financial and non-financial
measures used to help define and evaluate
an organisation’s success. An indicator is
usually selected on the basis of relevance as a
measure of some aspect of a specific project
or operation.

Non-ongoing employee

A person engaged as an Australian Public
Service (APS) employee under subsection 22(2)
(b) or 22(2)(c) of the Public Service Act 1999.

Ongoing employee

A person engaged as an ongoing APS
employee under subsection 22(2)(a) of the
Public Service Act 1999.

Outcome

An outcome is the intended result,
consequence or impact of government actions
on the Australian community.

Policy departments

Australian Government policy departments are
responsible for developing and implementing
policies and programs for the Australian
community. DHS delivers payments and
services on behalf of a number of Australian
Government policy departments and agencies.
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Portfolio Additional Estimates

Changes in funding requirements that occur
after the presentation of the Budget. These
changes to funding require the consideration
of Additional Estimates by the House of
Representatives and the Senate.

Portfolio Budget Statements

Budget-related paper detailing Budget
initiatives and explanations of appropriations
specified by outcome and program by each
agency within a portfolio.

Programs

Australian Government programs deliver
benefits, services or transfer payments
to individuals, industry/business or the
community as a whole and are the
primary vehicles for government agencies
to achieve the intended results of their
outcome statements.

Service Delivery Reform

Reform to government service delivery
through DHS. Under Service Delivery Reform,
DHS transforms the way it delivers services
to make people’s dealings with government
easier and quicker.

Social inclusion

The Australian Government’s social inclusion
agenda aims to make sure every Australian
has the capability, opportunity and resources
to participate in the economy and play an
active role in their community while taking
responsibility for shaping their own lives.

Wrap-around services

Multiple services provided in the one location
for people with complex needs.
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Shortened forms
ACPA

Australian Community Pharmacy Authority

AHPRA

Australian Health Practitioners Regulation Agency

ANAO

Australian National Audit Office

APRA

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

APS

Australian Public Service

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

CACP

Community Aged Care Package

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

COAG

Council of Australian Governments

CPGs

Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines

CPSU

Community and Public Sector Union

CSC

Customer Service Centre

CSC

Conspicuous Service Cross

CSP

Child Support Program

DCCEE

Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency

DEEWR

Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

DHS

Department of Human Services

DoHA

Department of Health and Ageing

DVA

Department of Veterans’ Affairs

EACH

extended aged care at home

ECLIPSE

Electronic Claim Lodgment and Information Processing Service Environment

EFT

electronic funds transfer

EFTPOS

Electronic Funds Transfer Point of Sale

EL

executive level

EMSN

Extended Medicare Safety Net

EPBC Act

Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999

ESD

ecologically sustainable development

FaHCSIA

Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
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FAO

Family Assistance Office

FMA Act

Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997

FOI

freedom of information

FTB Part A

Family Tax Benefit Part A

GP

general practitioner

GST

goods and services tax

HECS

Higher Education Contribution Scheme

HI

Healthcare Identifiers

Hon.

Honourable

HPI–I

Healthcare Provider Identifier–Individual

HPI–O

Healthcare Provider Identifier–Organisation

HPOS

Health Professional Online Services

HR

human resources

IDC

interdepartmental committee

IHI

Individual Healthcare Identifier

IPS

Information Publication Scheme

ICT

information communication technology

IVR

Interactive Voice Response

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

LCTW

Local Connections to Work

LPG

liquefied petroleum gas

MBS

Medicare Benefits Schedule

MLOs

Medicare Liaison Officers

MP

Member of Parliament

NABERS

National Australia Built Environment Rating System

NAIDOC

National Aboriginal and Islander Day Observance Committee

NBCF

National Breast Cancer Foundation

NESB

non-English speaking background

PBS

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

PCEHR

Personally Controlled Electronic Health Record
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PHIR

Private Health Insurance Rebate

PIP

Practice Incentives Program

the
portfolio

the Human Services Portfolio

PSM

Public Service Medal

PSR

Professional Services Review

RPBS

Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

RRP

Rural Retention Program

RTO

Registered Training Organisation

SDR

Service Delivery Reform

SES

Senior Executive Service

SIPs

Service Incentive Payments

SMTP

Simple Mail Transfer Protocol

TIS

Translating and Interpreting Service

TTY

teletypewriter
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Index

electronic Aged Care Client Record
project 90
Online Claiming Take-up Strategy 90
Aged Care Act 1997 88

A
A New Tax System (Family Assistance) Act
1999 96
A New Tax System (Family Assistance)
(Administration) Act 1999 96
abbreviations 271–3
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Access
and Employment line 112
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
see also Indigenous Australians
cultural awareness training 141
employment by DHS 141–2
Aboriginal Health Service 83

Aged Care Education and Training Incentive
Program 88, 90, 155, 223
Ahead of the Game 113–14
Allied Health Professions Association 100, 102
Ashton, Coen 50, 149
assets management 135
audits
compliance 129
external 120
internal 121–2
AusTender website 133
exempt contracts 134

Aboriginal Medical Services 70

Australasian College of Dermatologists 73

about this report iv

Australia Day Awards 144

ABSTUDY 47

Australia Day Honours 145

access

Australia Post 129

co-location of services 29–30, 149

Australian Bureau of Statistics 97, 114

documents, to 232

Australian Childhood Immunisation Register 7,
16, 42, 48, 223

equity and 110–12
Indigenous Access Strategy 111–12
Indigenous people’s access to PBS 83, 111
medicine delivery during floods 77
one-stop shops 29–30

Australian College of Rural and Remote
Medicine 69
Australian Customs and Border Protection
Service 129

Act of Grace payments 135

Australian Defence Force Family Healthcare
Program 49, 225

Adcorp 249

Australian Diabetes Council 149

administered items 155

Australian Federal Police 122, 125

Administrative Appeals Tribunal 121
Administrative Arrangements Orders 6

Australian General Practice Accreditation
Limited 73

advertising and market research 249–50

Australian General Practice Network 111

costs 249–50
aged care 88–9, 222
Aged Care Education and Training
Incentive Program 88, 90
Community Aged Care Package 88, 89

Australian General Practice Training
program 56
Australian Government
administration reform 113
Disaster Income Recovery Subsidy 124
Disaster Recovery Payment 124
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Fraud Tip-off Line 128

B

Mobile Offices 147

Bali 40

policies to improve environmental
performance 240

Balimed 40

social inclusion agenda 112–13

breast cancer

Blue Interim Medicare cards 38

Solicitor’s Office 125

awareness 36, 52

Australian Health Practitioner Regulation
Agency 92

External Breast Prostheses Reimbursement
Program 52–4

Australian Health Survey 17, 97

Breast Cancer Network Australia 52

Australian Hearing 6, 7

business continuity 123

Australian Hearing Services Act 1991 6, 7

Business Management Committee 23

Australian Information Commissioner Act
2010 121

C

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 114

CA Technologies Brumbies 50

Australian Medical Association 77

Carer Payment 47

Australian National Audit Office 120, 121

Carers Week 116

access clauses 134

Centrelink 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 14, 26, 47, 96, 111

audits 229–30

CEO, executive responsibilities 13, 15, 16

Better Practice guides 229

Community Engagement Officers 113

liaison 229

The Journey 110, 147

Australian Network on Disability 120, 140

Medicare services, availability of 72

Australian Organ Donor Register 7, 17, 36,
50–1, 149, 223

online services 3

Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council 85

purpose 13

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority 88,
96, 156
Australian Public Service
Code of Conduct 140
State of the Service 4, 228

Outcome 1 7
service delivery system 16
Change Management Toolbox 138
Child Care Benefit 48
Child Support Agency 2, 8, 26

Statistical Bulletin 228

Deputy Secretary, executive
responsibilities 14

Values 140

online services 3

Australian Standard Geographical
Classification—Remoteness Area 56, 58, 69
Australian Statistician 97
Australian Taxation Office 71, 114
Avant Insurance Limited 59

Child Support (Assessment) Act 1989 6
Child Support Legislation Amendment
(Reform of the Child Support Scheme—Initial
Measures) Act 2006 6
Child Support Legislation Amendment
(Reform of the Child Support Scheme—New
Formula and Other Measures) Act 2006 6
Child Support Program 6, 13, 111, 128
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Child Support (Registration and Collection)
Act 1988 6

Compliance Officer Development
Program 130

citizenship testing 17, 97

cross-agency compliance operations 129

climate change and environmental programs
92–3

data mining 128

Closing the Gap initiatives 100, 110, 111

fraud tip-off line 128

co-location of services 29–30, 149

Increased Medicare Compliance Audits 128

Comcare 248

index 258–64

Comcover Risk Management Benchmarking
Program 123

information services 127–8

Commissioner’s Directions for Engagement of
People with Disability 141

National Compliance Program 127

Commonwealth Authorities and Companies
Act 1997 7

fraud and 127–30

management 128–30
Professionalism Survey 130
risk analysis 128

Commonwealth Director of Public
Prosecutions 122, 125, 130

Compliance Committee 23

Commonwealth Disability Strategy 228

Connected Authentication project 3, 30

Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918 249

consultancy services 133, 235–6
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The Leafcutter Ant, next to humans, forms the largest and most
complex animal societies on earth. Their bodies are amazingly
powerful and are able to carry pieces of leaf that weigh at least
10 times their own body weight. Just like the Leafcutter Ants,
the Human Services Portfolio is strong, organised and unified,
working together to achieve a common goal.

humanservices.gov.au
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